

SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOLS DISTRICT                                 


SPECIAL MEETING FOR THE ELEMENTARY  


AND SECONDARY DISTRICTS 


WEDNESDAY, JUNE 22, 2022    


OPEN SESSION BEGINS AT 6:30 P.M. 


ZOOM REMOTE BOARD MEETING 


 


COMMUNITY MEMBERS CAN PARTICIPATE REMOTELY VIA ZOOM  


If participating remotely, click on this link to join meeting.  


Meeting Password: SCCS 


 


If a member of the community would like to make public comment on a closed session 


item, please join Zoom. Public comment will begin promptly at 5:30 p.m.   


Click on this link to make public comment on a closed session item. 


POSTED 


DATE: 


TIME: 


LOCATION: 


EMPLOYEE: 


 


AGENDA 


 


Santa Cruz City Schools District Special Meeting June 22, 2022 - Page 1 of 5 


 Item Purpose / Support 


 Agenda (Estimated Time)  


   


1. Convene Closed Session 5:30 p.m.  


1.1. Roll Call  


1.2. 


 


Public Comments prior to Closed Session Members of the public may comment on items that ARE 
listed on the Closed Session Agenda. 


2. Closed Session Items  


2.1. Student Expulsion #07-21-22 Information for possible action. 


2.2. Student Expulsion #08-21-22 Information for possible action.  


2.3. Certificated/Classified/Management Leaves, 
Retirements, Resignations & Appointments 


Information for possible action. 


2.4. Public Employee 
Discipline/Dismissal/Release/Complaint 
(Govt. Code Section 54957) 


Information for possible action. 


3. Convene Open Session 6:30 p.m. 


3.1. Welcome  
 


3.2. Pledge of Allegiance   


3.3. Agenda Changes, Additions or Deletions & 


Announcements 


  
 
  
  


1/383







SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOLS DISTRICT                                 


SPECIAL MEETING FOR THE ELEMENTARY  


AND SECONDARY DISTRICTS 


WEDNESDAY, JUNE 22, 2022    


OPEN SESSION BEGINS AT 6:30 P.M. 


ZOOM REMOTE BOARD MEETING 


 


COMMUNITY MEMBERS CAN PARTICIPATE REMOTELY VIA ZOOM  


If participating remotely, click on this link to join meeting.  


Meeting Password: SCCS 


 


If a member of the community would like to make public comment on a closed session 


item, please join Zoom. Public comment will begin promptly at 5:30 p.m.   


Click on this link to make public comment on a closed session item. 


POSTED 


DATE: 


TIME: 


LOCATION: 


EMPLOYEE: 


 


AGENDA 


 


Santa Cruz City Schools District Special Meeting June 22, 2022 - Page 2 of 5 


 Item Purpose / Support 


4. Public Comments 
For presentations of matters not on the Agenda. 
3 minutes for individuals; 15 minutes per subject. 


Note to Members of the Public:  Thank you for taking 
the time to attend this meeting.  Santa Cruz City School 
Board Members appreciate your presence and your 
comments regarding items not on the agenda are 
valued.  Per Santa Cruz City Schools Board Bylaw 
protocols, Trustees will not comment on Public 
Comments during this time.  


 


5. General Public Business   


5.1. Consent Agenda: General Contracts & 
Agreements 


 


5.1.1. Educational Services  


5.1.1.1. Nonpublic Agency: Balance Santa Cruz 
County 


 


5.1.1.2. Nonpublic Agency: Easter Seals  


5.1.1.3. Nonpublic Agency: ABRITE  


5.1.1.4. Nonpublic Agency: Speechrighter, Inc.  


5.1.1.5. Nonpublic School: BRITE Horizons  


5.1.1.6. Nonpublic School: Chartwell  


5.1.1.7. Out of State Residential Treatment Center: 
Solstice West 


 


5.1.1.8. Agreement for Professional Services: 
Margaret Barker 


 


5.1.1.9. Agreement for Professional Services: Maria 
Ballard 


 


2/383







SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOLS DISTRICT                                 


SPECIAL MEETING FOR THE ELEMENTARY  


AND SECONDARY DISTRICTS 


WEDNESDAY, JUNE 22, 2022    


OPEN SESSION BEGINS AT 6:30 P.M. 


ZOOM REMOTE BOARD MEETING 


 


COMMUNITY MEMBERS CAN PARTICIPATE REMOTELY VIA ZOOM  


If participating remotely, click on this link to join meeting.  


Meeting Password: SCCS 


 


If a member of the community would like to make public comment on a closed session 


item, please join Zoom. Public comment will begin promptly at 5:30 p.m.   


Click on this link to make public comment on a closed session item. 


POSTED 


DATE: 


TIME: 


LOCATION: 


EMPLOYEE: 


 


AGENDA 


 


Santa Cruz City Schools District Special Meeting June 22, 2022 - Page 3 of 5 


 Item Purpose / Support 


5.1.1.10. Contract: Catapult EMS  


5.1.2. Business Services  


8.1.2.1. 
Cooperative Contract: Postage Meter Lease 
Agreement 


 


5.1.3. Human Resources None. 


5.1.4. Governance/Superintendent None. 


5.2. Report of Closed Session Actions  


5.2.1. Report of Actions Taken in Closed Session  


5.2.2. Vote on Student Expulsion #07-21-22  


5.2.3. Vote on Student Expulsion #08-21-22  


5.3. Items to Be Transacted and/or Discussed   


5.3.1. Educational Services None. 
 


5.3.2. Business Services  


5.3.2.1. Staff Report: Facilities Master Plan Update Staff will present an updated Facilities Master Plan. 


5.3.3. Human Resources None. 


5.3.4. Governance/Superintendent    


5.3.4.1. New Business: Resolution 42-21-22: 2022 
Bond Measure Elections for Elementary 
District 


Recommendation: Approve Resolution 42-21-22: 2022 
Bond Measure Elections for Elementary District. 


3/383







SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOLS DISTRICT                                 


SPECIAL MEETING FOR THE ELEMENTARY  


AND SECONDARY DISTRICTS 


WEDNESDAY, JUNE 22, 2022    


OPEN SESSION BEGINS AT 6:30 P.M. 


ZOOM REMOTE BOARD MEETING 


 


COMMUNITY MEMBERS CAN PARTICIPATE REMOTELY VIA ZOOM  


If participating remotely, click on this link to join meeting.  


Meeting Password: SCCS 


 


If a member of the community would like to make public comment on a closed session 


item, please join Zoom. Public comment will begin promptly at 5:30 p.m.   


Click on this link to make public comment on a closed session item. 


POSTED 


DATE: 


TIME: 


LOCATION: 


EMPLOYEE: 


 


AGENDA 


 


Santa Cruz City Schools District Special Meeting June 22, 2022 - Page 4 of 5 


 Item Purpose / Support 


5.3.4.2. New Business: Resolution 43-21-22: 2022 
Bond Measure Elections for Secondary 
District 


Recommendation: Approve Resolution 43-21-22: 2022 
Bond Measure Elections for Secondary District. 


5.3.4.3. New Business: Resolution 44-21-22: AB 361 Take action as appropriate.  


   


9. Adjournment  


   


10. Return to Closed Session (if necessary)  


   


11. Closed Session Action Report (if 
necessary) 


 


   


12. Adjournment  


 
The board book for this meeting, including this agenda and back-up materials, may be viewed or downloaded online: 
http://sccs.net/board_of_education or may be viewed at the District Office, 133 Mission St. Ste. 100, Santa Cruz, CA 
95060.    
 
Public Participation: 
All persons are encouraged to attend and, when appropriate, to participate in meetings of the Santa Cruz City Schools 
Board of Education. If you wish to speak to an item on the agenda, please be present at the beginning of the meeting as 
any item, upon motion, may be moved to the beginning of the agenda.  Consideration of all matters is conducted in open 
session except those relating to litigation, personnel and employee negotiations, which, by law, may be considered in 
closed session. 
 
Translation Requests: 
Spanish language translation is available on an as-needed basis.  Please make advance arrangements with Alyssa 
Martinez by telephone at (831) 429-3410 extension 48220. 
 
Las Solicitudes de Traducción: 


4/383







SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOLS DISTRICT                                 


SPECIAL MEETING FOR THE ELEMENTARY  


AND SECONDARY DISTRICTS 


WEDNESDAY, JUNE 22, 2022    


OPEN SESSION BEGINS AT 6:30 P.M. 


ZOOM REMOTE BOARD MEETING 


 


COMMUNITY MEMBERS CAN PARTICIPATE REMOTELY VIA ZOOM  


If participating remotely, click on this link to join meeting.  


Meeting Password: SCCS 


 


If a member of the community would like to make public comment on a closed session 


item, please join Zoom. Public comment will begin promptly at 5:30 p.m.   


Click on this link to make public comment on a closed session item. 


POSTED 


DATE: 


TIME: 


LOCATION: 


EMPLOYEE: 


 


AGENDA 


 


Santa Cruz City Schools District Special Meeting June 22, 2022 - Page 5 of 5 


Traducciones del inglés al español y del español al inglés están disponibles en las sesiones de la mesa directiva.  Por 
favor haga arreglos por anticipado con Alyssa Martinez por teléfono al numero (831) 429-3410 x48220. 
 
Board Meeting Information 


1. The Special Board Meeting on June 22, 2022, 6:30 p.m., at the Santa Cruz County Office of Education, and will be 


broadcast to the public remotely via Zoom. 


5/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 5.1.1.1. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Nonpublic Agency: Balance Santa Cruz County 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Nonpublic Agency contract for new and continuing services through the 
2022-2023 regular school year. Due to the confidentiality regulations that protect the identity of 
students with disabilities, the student names have been omitted. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract renewal for Balance Santa Cruz County, formerly known as BALANCE4KIDS, will 
continue to provide one-on-one Aides for 33 students in Special Education. These services 
include one-on-one sessions with Special Circumstance Instructional Aides, Behavior 
Intervention Aides, Behavior Inclusion - Development, and Health Care Aides. These services 
are mandated by each of the student’s Individual Education Plan. Service Period: July 1, 2022, 
through June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $1,170,744.67 - Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


6/383







NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN


SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES


MASTER CONTRACT


2022-2023


7/383







MASTER CONTRACT
GENERAL AGREEMENT FOR NONSECTARIAN,
NONPUBLIC SCHOOL AND AGENCY SERVICES


LEA NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Contract Year 2022-2023


Nonpublic School
X Nonpublic Agency


Type of Contract:


X Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the
term of this contract.


Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA)
into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.


Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates.  The sole purpose
of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole
discretion of the LEA.  Expiration Date:___________


When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above
shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.


8/383







TABLE OF CONTENTS


I. GENERAL PROVISIONS Page


1. MASTER CONTRACT 1
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES 1
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS 2
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT 2
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT


FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION 3
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 3
7. DEFINITIONS 4


II. ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES 5
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS 5
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 6
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 6
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW 6
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO


CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES 6
14. TERMINATION 6
15. INSURANCE 6
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 9
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 9
18. SUBCONTRACTING 9
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 10
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION 10


III. EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION 11
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION 11
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES 12
24. CLASS SIZE 12
25. CALENDARS 13
26. DATA REPORTING 13
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT 14
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING 14
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS 14
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS 15
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE 16
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS 16
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH 17
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS 17
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 17
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS 18
37. TRANSCRIPTS 18
38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE 19


9/383







39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM 19
40. PARENT ACCESS 19
41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS


AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS 19
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE 20
43. MONITORING 20


IV. PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS 21
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS 21
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 22
47. STAFF ABSENCE 23
48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR 23


V. HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY 23
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS 24
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION 24
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING 24
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING 24
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT 25
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN 25


VI. FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,
ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES 25


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT 26
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES 27
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES 27
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY 28
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT 28
62. RATE SCHEDULE 29
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION 29


EXHIBIT A: RATES 32
EXHIBIT B:  INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 34


10/383







2022-2023                                                      CONTRACT NUMBER:


LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:  NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA    


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:  BALANCE SCC    


NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES
MASTER CONTRACT


AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS


1. MASTER CONTRACT


This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2022, between NORTH SANTA CRUZ
COUNTY SELPA, hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), and BALANCE SCC
(nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency), hereinafter referred to as NPS/A or “CONTRACTOR” for the
purpose of providing special education and/or related services to students with exceptional needs under
the authorization of California Education Code sections 56157, 56361 and 56365 et seq. and Title 5 of the
California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003) and AB
1858 (Chapter 914, Statutes of 2004). It is understood that this agreement does not commit the LEA to
pay for special education and/or related services provided to any student, or CONTRACTOR to provide
such special education and/or related services, unless and until an authorized LEA representative
approves the provision of special education and/or related services by CONTRACTOR.


Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Services Agreement
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”). Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”). The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by
CONTRACTOR. As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic
IEP system and/or electronic database for ISA developing including invoicing.


Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is
not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an
IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP
is signed by the student’s parent.


2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES


CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et
seq and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification and/or credential.
A current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification issued by the
CDE pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the date this
Agreement is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such
certification or waiver is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of


1
11/383







this Master Contract. Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification
and in Section 24 of the Master Contract.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related
services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to,
individuals with exceptional needs. The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to
the protection of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so
placed. If the CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all
required licenses from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI
is located.


With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency;
(4) major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result
in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master
Contract by the LEA.


3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS


During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).


CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a).


4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT


The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 (Title 5 California Code of
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated. Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is
required to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years. The parties acknowledge that any
subsequent Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2023. In the event the contract
negotiations are not agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in
effect for 90 days. (Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be
offered unless and until all of the contracting requirements have been satisfied. The offer of a Master
Contract to a CONTRACTOR is at the sole discretion of the LEA.


The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent
contractors. Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be


2
12/383







provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of
authorized representative.


5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR
TERMINATION


This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference. This Master
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement. This
Master Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.


CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master
Contract or a renewal.


At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance,
insurance documentation and CDE certification. The LEA may require additional information as
applicable. If the application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be
issued. If CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized
representative within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take
effect until the newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first
day of the new Master Contract’s effective date. If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master
Contract within such ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master
Contract for the current school year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California
Education Code section 56366(c)(1) and (2)). In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates,
CONTRACTOR shall continue to be bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed
Master Contract between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing
authorized students at the discretion of the LEA.


6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“ISA”)


This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide
special education and/or related services. An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A). An ISA may be effective for
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect. In the event that
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.


Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement
between the parent and LEA. At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent,
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards
required by law.


Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services
specified in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA. (California
Education Code sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)). In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to
provide a specific service at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA
in writing within five (5) business days of the last date a service was provided. CONTRACTOR shall
provide any and all subsequent compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of
provision of services while student was served by the NPS/A.


If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the
OAH, CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the


3
13/383







parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate
by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.
CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.


Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is
located, or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California
Education Code section 56366(c) (2).


7. DEFINITIONS


The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract:


a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the
California Department of Education and its officers, agents and employees.


b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be
responsible for NPS/A. It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan
Area (SELPA) of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in
collaboration with the LEA. The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless
otherwise specified in this Contract.


c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special
education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g).


d. The term “qualified” means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent
to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and
designated instruction and services and has met federal and state certification, licensing,
registration, or other comparable requirements which apply to the area in which he or she is
providing special education or related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34
of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth
in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the
standards of professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the
standards contained in the California Business and Professions  Code.


Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or
regulations.  (Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)).


e The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the
Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and
authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and
board and care services at a residential placement. If a license is not available through an
appropriate state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional
organization at the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that
are equivalent to a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations section 3001(l).


f. “Parent” means:
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have


legal authority to make educational decisions for the child,
4


14/383







ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make
educational decisions for the child,


iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a
grandparent, stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who
is legally responsible for the child’s welfare,


iv. a surrogate parent,
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational


decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).


Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and
services for a child. (California Education Code section 56028).


g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified.


h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed
those in comparable LEA programs.


i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education
Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA.


j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such
in this document.


ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES


All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing. Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.


All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page
of this Master Contract. Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of
this Master Contract.


9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS


All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5)
years after the termination of this Master Contract. For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b)
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily
service logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including
supervision; daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through
additional instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency
reports (BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however,
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying
credentials held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of
hire, and dates of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid
staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars;
bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A
certifications by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and


5
15/383







expenses; general journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting
documents; documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence
of electronic payments; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records. CONTRACTOR shall maintain
an access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for
each individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the
record(s) provided. Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent;
(b) an individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of
LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information
from the record. CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting
access to student records. For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do
not include subcontractors. CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the
student’s parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in
requesting or receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of
student records, as required by state and federal laws and regulations. CONTRACTOR agrees, in the
event of school or agency closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.
These shall include, but not limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification
of injuries and all other relevant reports. LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of
any and all records upon request within five (5) business days.


10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE


If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the
remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect.


11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST


This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees. CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of
any change of ownership or corporate control.


12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW


The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the
County where the LEA is located.


13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES


This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency. The party seeking such modification
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or
modifications made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or
regulation upon which the modification or changes are based.


14. TERMINATION


This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause. The cause shall not be the availability of a
public class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the
student to the public school program at an IEP team meeting. To terminate the contract either party shall
give no less than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)).
At the time of termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents


6
16/383







CONTRACTOR is required to maintain under this Master Contract. ISAs are void upon termination of
this Master Contract, as provided in Section 5 or 6. CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for
cause.  To terminate the ISA, either party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.


15.      INSURANCE 


CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect,
during the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or
admitted insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any
claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection
with CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of
the work or any component or part thereof:


PART I -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES


A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property
damage, with limits as follows:


                       
$2,000,000 per occurrence
$   500,000 fire damage
$       5,000 medical expenses
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury
$3,000,000 general aggregate
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate


The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for
sexual molestation or abuse. In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an
exclusion for sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to
procure a supplemental policy providing such coverage.


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations
pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with
limits of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with
a $1 million combined single limit. 


If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.


If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or
to/from students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA,
CONTRACTOR must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements.


D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage,
including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits:


                                    $1,000,000 per occurrence
                                    $2,000,000 general aggregate


E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request,
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. The certificate


7
17/383







of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision. The Commercial
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by
CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this
contract at no additional charge.


F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved
by the LEA. At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s
sole cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such
deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or
(b) procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation.


G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the
LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained
by the LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's
insurance and shall not contribute with it.


H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the
certificate on the certificate.


PART II -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED WITH
A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”)


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the
following insurance policies are required:


A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with
limits as follows:


$3,000,000 per occurrence
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.


The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named
additional insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which
may be applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance
primary despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy. Coverage shall be maintained
with no Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the
LEA.


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’ Compensation
Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service. If the RTC provides student
bus services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence.


D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured
retention.


8
18/383







E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations.


16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS


To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss,
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or
omission of CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or
anyone employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and
obligation to defend shall arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR.
The LEA and the Member District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its
choice to provide the defense at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier.


To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that
such loss, expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful
act or omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone
employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR
Indemnities).


LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the
self-insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and
that its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract.


17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR


Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent
relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any
commitment on behalf of the other. Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.


If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principle, employer or co-employer of
CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs,
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.


18. SUBCONTRACTING


CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract. In the event LEA determines that it can provide
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s). If LEA elects to


9
19/383







provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s).


CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the
fullest extent reasonably possible. Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the
term of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.
Each subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance
effecting coverage required by Section 15. The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by
that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.
All endorsements are to be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work
commences. The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the
LEA/SELPA and the LEA Board of Education as additional insured.


As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of
all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master
Contract. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency
submitting the certificate. In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in
Section 45 Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.


19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST


CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its
Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated. CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a
conflict of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section
1090 including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or
reports, and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate. Pursuant to California
Education code section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional
needs shall not recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is
employed or contracted by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or
otherwise has a conflict of interest.


The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student
when a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on
assessment(s) or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization
by LEA. This paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or
a report is prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or
whether an assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the
services provided to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure
the appropriateness of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its
recommendations, the LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is
sought to provide service(s) to the student for whom the IEE is requested. Likewise, the LEA may not
fund services through the evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund. When no other appropriate
assessor is available, LEA may request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide
an IEE.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to
executing this contract. This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up
to ten months of the school year by LEA.


10
20/383







CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings.


20. NON-DISCRIMINATION


CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation,
religion, age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity
or expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by
federal or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or
group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.


EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE)


The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS,
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services
outlined in the student’s IEP. If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.


Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments,
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this
Master Contract). LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence
disabilities when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the
SELPA/LEA and shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no
longer needed or when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
facilities are adequate to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and
safety regulations. CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not
necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the
student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the
LEA of the written notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA
requirements concerning parent acknowledgment of financial responsibility.


Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in
writing.


22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION


All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE
Certification and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize
evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study


11
21/383







and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational,
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the
particular course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. Students shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted Common Core State
Standards (“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to
8, inclusive; and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to
12, inclusive, used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c)
extracurricular activities, such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and
vocational training, consistent with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental
assistance, including individual academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college
counseling.


When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements. CONTRACTOR shall not award a
high school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation
requirements.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. The NPA providing
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.
School-based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or
provided at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team. Except for services provided by a
CONTRACTOR that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school
setting require the presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services,
provided such guardian or caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to
authorize emergency services as requested. LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and
qualified residential or clinical staff is present during the provision of services under this Master Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is
present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA a written description of the services and location provided
prior to the effective date of this Master Contract. CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention
services must have a trained behaviorist or trained equivalent on staff. It is understood that Behavior
Intervention services are limited per CDE Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing.


23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day
provided to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA
developed in accordance with the student’s IEP.


For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA.


The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise
specified in the student’s IEP.


12
22/383







When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the
student’s IEP.


24. CLASS SIZE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of
one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing. Upon
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a
ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to
provide services to students with disabilities.


In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students,
and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff. The NPS and the LEA
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher. Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by
both parties.  This provision does not apply to a NPA.


CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to
child ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq.


25. CALENDARS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar
with the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days
equivalent to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar. Billable days
shall include only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or
required by the IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to
change its school calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of
the LEA. Nothing in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests
for calendar changes.


Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site. A
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA. Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20)
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA. Any days of
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior
to the start of the extended school year.


Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended
school year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be
eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing,
in advance of the delivery of any NPS service. Any instructional days provided without this written
agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.


CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA. Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day,
Memorial Day and Independence Day. With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved
calendar prior to the initiation of services. CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar. CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the


13
23/383







LEA-developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA. Unless otherwise
specified in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on
only those days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends
school. CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated
on the LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing. Student must have
actually been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for
CONTRACTOR to be eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be
provided on weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the
LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR. Any
instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of
the CONTRACTOR.


26. DATA REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing
information with LEA. CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract,
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA. It is
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development,
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.
Additional progress reporting may be required by the LEA. The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR
with appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access.


Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA,
CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a
statutory offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of
suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections
48900 and 48915. CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral
restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900
and 48915.


The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including,
but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports. The LEA may approve use of
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion.


27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive
Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum
extent appropriate.


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. This shall include IEP team
consideration of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the
LRE and necessary to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings.


When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting,
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support
the transition.


28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall
administer all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and
Progress (“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative
Assessment (“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the


14
24/383







Fitness Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative
English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to
the student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.


CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools. Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability
program. LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as
required by LEA.


29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS


CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of: curriculum, high school graduation,
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with
disabilities, dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and
standardized testing and IEPs. LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated
meetings.  Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s).


30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1
and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of
others must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in
accordance with the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a
student’s behavior impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations. This could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan
(“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through
the development of behavioral goals and behavioral interventions to support those goals.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil
population. The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any
contact or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or
interaction with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in
accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written
records of the training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency.


CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined
as a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.
It requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a
physical intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious
property damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used. Emergencies


15
25/383







require a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four
(24) hours for administrative action. CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours
via telephone. If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review
the behavior emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment,
and to determine an interim plan. If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify
the BIP if a new serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to
be ineffective. CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or
pay for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following:
(1) any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to,
electric-shock; (2) an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant
sprays, mists, or substances in proximity to the face of the individual; (3) an intervention that denies
adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or access to bathroom facilities; (4) an
intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to verbal abuse,
ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma; (5) restrictive
interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize all four
extremities, including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone containment or
similar techniques may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency intervention; (6) locked
seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a locked room; (7) an
intervention that precludes adequate supervision of the individual; (8) an intervention that deprives the
individual of one or more of his or her senses.


In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations.


All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are
used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or
multiple uses by the same individual. CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when
any type of physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used. Upon the use of any type of
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER
per the reporting and notification requirements listed above.


31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with
state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA,
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all
statutory offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include
incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a
violation of Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915.


When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to: the student’s name; the time, date, and
description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for
such disciplinary action. A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written
discipline report. CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.


32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS


16
26/383







An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each
student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements
of Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at
the NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may
be transitioned to a public school setting. (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and
(ii)) and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)


If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for
any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document, if appropriate, a description of activities
provided to integrate the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity
as well as the time spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to
support the transition of the student from the special education program into the regular education
program. Each student shall be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her
IEP team. Except as otherwise provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall
participate in all IEP team meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. At
any time during the term of this Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request
a review of the student’s IEP, subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable
notice given to, and participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting. Every effort shall be made to
schedule IEP team meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR
and LEA. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service
providers upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures. It is understood that attendance at
an IEP meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under
this Master Contract.


It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for
all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion. The LEA or SELPA may provide training
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the
system. When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of
the approved system for that student.


Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP. In
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change
in the student’s placement. Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented
placement unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful
and appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States
Code.


33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH


CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as
the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR
300.1-300.756. A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section
42238.01(b). The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the
educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any
time after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule
the pupil in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless
provided notice otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1.


34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS


17
27/383







CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations
and hearings, as requested by LEA. Participation further includes the willingness to make
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or
any other state and/or federal governmental body or agency. Full participation shall include, but in no
way be limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any
investigator and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family
Service Plan (“IFSP”).


35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent
complaints. These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following: (1) Uniform Complaint
Procedures pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2)
Nondiscrimination policy pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3)
Sexual Harassment Policy, California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance
Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) (d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). CONTRACTOR shall include
verification of these procedures to the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any
complaints filed against it related to LEA students and provide LEA with all documentation related to the
complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, including any and all reports generated as a result of an
investigation.


36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS


Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards. At a minimum, progress
reports shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives. A copy of the progress
reports/report cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted
to the LEA and LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly.


The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used
to determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes,
data sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of
progress on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans. The LEA may
request such data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service. The CONTRACTOR shall
provide this data supporting progress within five (5) business days of request. Additional time may be
granted as needed by the LEA.


CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and
pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices. CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies
of its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business
days prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test
protocols and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of
request.


The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and
objectives, progress reporting and development of present levels of performance. All assessments
resulting from an assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a
request that CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment. Any assessment and/or evaluation
costs may be added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion.


18
28/383







It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA. For
NPA services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection
3065, shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA. Supervision means the direct
observation of services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional
standards for each professional’s license, certification, or credential.


CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports,
report cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or
meetings. It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with
the IEP. It is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of
the pupil’s record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request.


37. TRANSCRIPTS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester,
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures. CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names
of students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the
LEA.


38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE


Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of
residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence as specified
in LEA Procedures. Upon enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation
to notify CONTRACTOR of the student’s change of residence. CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and
provide upon request by LEA, documentation of such notice to parents.


If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of
residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.


39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM


CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5)
business days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services,
including student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and student’s
discharge against professional advice from a NPS/RTC.


40. PARENT ACCESS


CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but
not limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living
quarters. CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental visits and access
to LEA students.


CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s
reasonable request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC. CONTRACTOR
shall require that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR
and the LEA at least thirty (30) days in advance. CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all parent travel and
accommodations and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate. Payment by LEA for
approved travel-related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent with LEA
Procedures.


19
29/383







CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an
emergency, is present. The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the
LEA prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in
emergency situations. The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written
authorization for emergency situation. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer
associated with the NPS/NPA service provider.


All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in
writing, to the LEA.


41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS


If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational
placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and
Safety Code section 1501.1(b), AB 1858 (2004), AB490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003), AB 1261
(2005), AB 1166 Chapter 171 (2015), AB 167 Chapter 224 (2010), AB 216 Chapter 324 (2013), AB 379
Chapter 772 (2015), AB 1012 Chapter 703 (2015), and the procedures set forth in the LEA Procedures.
An LCI shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its residential
facility.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1412(a)(1)(A) and Education Code
section 56000, et seq.; amended and reorganized by the Individuals with Disabilities Education
Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA), 20 U.S.C. section 1401(29); Education Code section 56031; Cal.
Code Regs., Title 5, section 3001 et seq., regarding the provision of counseling services, including
residential care for students to receive a FAPE as set forth in the LEA student’s IEPs. CONTRACTOR
shall meet all monitoring requirements as noted in Section 43 below.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall
provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special
education. For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education
eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA.


Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed
agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational
decision-making rights.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively,
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


42. STATE MEAL MANDATE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under
California Education Code sections 49530, 49530.5 and 49550.


43. MONITORING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a


20
30/383







master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is
making toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation
of the pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA (or SELPA) shall report the
findings resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar
days of the onsite visit.


The LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement.


CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring
of each student’s instructional program. LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.
Such access shall include unannounced monitoring visits. When making site visits, LEA shall initially
report to CONTRACTOR's site administrative office. CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in
the review of each student’s progress.


If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code
section 1501.1(b).


The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S
facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching
staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three.


CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted
as aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education
Code section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with
relevant state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct
any follow-up or corrective action procedures related to review findings.


CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without
cause. The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health
and safety; curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California
Education Code Section 33126.


PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237,
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI
clearance are ascertained. CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees,
and volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with
students, or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or


21
31/383







serious felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite
the employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j). Contractor shall certify to
LEA that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest notification service
for all employees who may come into contact with students.


Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information,
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for
each owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A. CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence
on-site, as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.
Background clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal
Code section 11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.


45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license,
certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant
to Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065. Such qualified staff may only provide related
services within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set
by each profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or
special education teacher’s scope of practice.


CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and
services to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation
provided to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)).
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and
instructional leader, and be able to provide leadership, oversight and professional development. The
administrator of the NPS holds or is in the process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An
administrative credential granted by an accredited postsecondary educational institution and two years of
experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school
counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree issued
by an accredited postsecondary institution in education, special education, psychology, counseling,
behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special
education instruction and at least two years of experience teaching in special education before becoming
an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (H) A license as an educational psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A
license as a professional clinical counselor issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California
Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5))
CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides
and teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code
sections 45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq. Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to,
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted
by CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall
possess a high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following
qualifications: (a) completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b)
obtained an associate’s (or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate,
through a formal state or local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing,
reading, writing, and mathematics; or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading
readiness, writing readiness, and mathematics readiness, as appropriate. CONTRACTOR shall comply


22
32/383







with all laws and regulations governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the
provisions with respect to supervision.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials,
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools. CONTRACTOR shall provide the
LEA with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis
Test clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals
starting to work with any student.


CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel
changes occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA
students. CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications
or waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal
complaint or lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA
shall not be obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or
waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such
person is providing services under this Master Contract. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any
changes in credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or
suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


47. STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s
service providers. It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified
substitute for their student. LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA
representative.


48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME


It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services. All practices shall only be
within the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each
profession as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations
when made available to the CONTRACTOR.


For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus


23
33/383







consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is
responsible for the instructional program.


CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure
that at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make
decisions in an emergency is present during provision of services. The names of any adult caregiver other
than the parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including
written and signed authorization in emergency situations. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee
or volunteer associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by
CONTRACTOR to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA.


HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations,
ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety. CONTRACTOR
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406,
regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis.
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed,
contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in
contact with a student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code.


50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that
comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not
limited to: disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning
systems; zoning permits; and occupancy capacity. When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR
shall conduct fire drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to
CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws,
regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or
relocation of facilities may result in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49423 when
CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter medication
during the school day. CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by
which such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered. Such
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.


24
34/383







CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for ensuring appropriate staff training in the administration
of such medication consistent with physician’s written orders. Any change in medication type,
administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized by both a licensed physician and parent.


52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures
specified in LEA Procedures.


53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING


CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and
procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will
remain confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates. A written statement
acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such
reporting shall be submitted to the LEA.


54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT


CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the
kinds of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy,
as well as federal and state law. The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.


55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN


CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to
adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section
49370. A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA. The written statement shall be
submitted as specified by the LEA.


FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND
BILLING PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial
resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance
reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same. CONTRACTOR
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA. All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service,
and services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides. Original
attendance forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes


25
35/383







for instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be
available for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a
period of five (5) years thereafter. CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported
attendance that is the basis of services being billed for payment.


CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar
month when education or related services were provided. Invoices and related documents shall be
properly submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner
prescribed by LEA. At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of
service; specific days and times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise
specified in the IEP or agreed to by the LEA; name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of
each invoice; total for each service and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature
of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE
certificates and staff notification; verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication
of any made-up session consistent with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided
consistent with the ISA (monthly or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials
of each student for when the service was provided.


In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be
included.


Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract. At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training.


Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period
in which the services were rendered. LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45)
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.
LEA shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a
completely corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA.


In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June)
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year. In no case shall any rebilling for the
Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal
year unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a
delay in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher
qualification, but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year. If the billing or
re-billing error is the responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and
CONTRACTOR have communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the
close of the fiscal year.  LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee.


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT


LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when: (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in
whole or in part, under the terms of this contract; (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on
days other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not
receive services; (c) CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or
audit of its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting
documentation with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e) education and/or related services are
provided to students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified;
(f) LEA has not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning one
or more students enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm


26
36/383







a student’s change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district,
but fails to notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation; or (h) CONTRACTOR receives
payment from Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It
is understood that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months
following the close of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.


Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a
Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for
regular ongoing operations. In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a
review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA. Such review or audit will be completed within ninety
(90) days. The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR
determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected.


The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding
paragraph are as follows: (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount
of overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided
by CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e) the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service
provided to the student.


If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10)
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding
payment. Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is
unfounded. Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment
will be denied.


If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment
should not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it
believes payment should not be withheld. LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty
(30) business days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the
reason LEA believes payment should not be made. If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business
days or a dispute regarding the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to
CONTRACTOR’s notice, CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.


After forty-five (45) business days: The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s
Representative of the dispute in writing. The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the
CONTRACTOR in writing within fifteen (15) business days.


After sixty (60) business days:  The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and
expenses arising out of such mediation.  Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any
mediation process agreed to by the parties.


58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES


CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated
with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR


27
37/383







shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal
or any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services
to students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA
students’ public benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided
before seeking payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually.


59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE


Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an
appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with
California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of
substitute coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned
class during all instructional time. LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction
or service is provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher.


Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in
Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute. LEA will not pay for services unless a
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP.


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE


If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s
unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.


Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307. LEA shall not pay for services provided on days
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under
state law. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor
shall student be eligible for make-up services.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service
providers. LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA. In the event services
were not provided, reasons for why the services were not provided shall be included.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE


28
38/383







If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence. LEA shall not be responsible for the payment
of services when a student is absent.


60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY


The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent
with guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392:


a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately
as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending
LEA is open or closed.  


b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education
Code section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student,
CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to
CONTRACTOR’S school closure. If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement,
CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the
student were continuing his/her regular attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and
implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to
emergency conditions.


c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative
placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.


When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost
instructional minutes.  CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as
appropriate.


61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT


The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the
books, records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs
claimed to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement.


CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to: student records
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily
service logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily
service logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior
intervention aides, bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business
licenses held, documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff
time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service
subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation
insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if
incorporated; other documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports
Form 941/DE3DP; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof. Such access shall
include unannounced inspections by LEA. CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary
information including operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract
period being audited.


29
39/383







CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge. All records shall be provided to LEA
within five (5) working days of a written request from LEA. CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA,
provide assistance for such examination or audit. LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access
to CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees. If any document
or evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the
LEA agrees to the use of the electronic format.


CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.


If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA
shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and
specifying the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in
writing, CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing and/or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as
determined by an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an
independent agency/firm. CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of
receipt of LEA’s written notice demanding payment.


62. RATE SCHEDULE


The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum
dollar amount of the contract. It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided
specific services. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may
be adjusted proportionally. In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as noted in California Education Code Section
46200-46208.


Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified
personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A.


63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION


By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that:


(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by
any Federal agency, and


(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil
judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection
with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract
or subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers;
or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records,
making false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted
for, or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of
these offenses.


30
40/383







41/383







EXHIBIT A:   2022-2023 RATES


4.1 RATE SCHEDULE FOR CONTRACT YEAR


The CONTRACTOR:  BALANCE SCC    
The CONTRACTOR CDS NUMBER:      


PER ED CODE 56366 – TEACHER-TO-PUPIL RATIO:     


Maximum Contract Amount:      


Education service(s) offered by the CONTRACTOR and the charges for such service(s) during the term of this contract shall be as follows:


1) Daily Basic Education Rate:      


2) Inclusive Education Program


(Includes Educational Counseling (not ed related mental health) services, Speech & Language services, Behavior Intervention


Planning, and Occupational Therapy as specified on the student’s IEP.) DAILY RATE:      


3) Related Services


SERVICE RATE PERIOD


Intensive Individual Services (340)            


SCIA      $32.00      Hour


SCIA Behavior Intervention BII Level 1      $30.00      Hour


BII Multiple Students      $30.50      Hour


BII Level 2      $32.00      Hour


BII Level 2 Multiple Students      $32.50      Hour


Language and Speech (415)            


Adapted Physical Education (425)            


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical Health Care (435)            


Health and Nursing: Other Services (436)            


Health and Nursing: Other Services (436)            


Health Care Aide 1      $30.00      Hour


Health Care Aide 2      $34.00      Hour


Occupational Therapy (450)            


Physical Therapy (460)            


Individual Counseling (510)            


Counseling and Guidance (515)            


Parent Counseling (520)            


32
42/383







Social Work Services (525)            


Psychological Services (530)            


Behavior Intervention Services (535)            


ABA      $42.00      Hour


BID      $150.00      Hour


Specialized Services for Low Incidence Disabilities (610)            


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing (710)            


Interpreter Services (715)            


Audiological Services (720)            


Specialized Vision Services (725)            


Orientation and Mobility (730)            


Specialized Orthopedic Services (740)            


Reader Services (745)            


Transcription Services (755)            


Recreation Services, Including Therapeutic (760)            


College Awareness (820)            


Work Experience Education (850)            


Job Coaching (855)            


Mentoring (860)            


Travel Training (870)            


Other Transition Services (890)            


Other (900)            


Other (900)            


33
43/383







EXHIBIT B:   2022-2023 ISA


INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (ISA) FOR NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL SERVICES


(Education Code Sections 56365 et seq.)


This agreement is effective on July 1, 2022 or the date student begins attending a nonpublic school or receiving services from a nonpublic agency,


if after the date identified, and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided in the Master Contract and by applicable law.


Local Education Agency       Nonpublic School      


LEA Case Manager:  Name       Phone Number      


Pupil Name                   Sex: ☐  M ☐  F Grade:      
(Last)                                                       (First) (M.I.)


Address       City       State/Zip      


DOB       Residential Setting:   ☐ Home ☐ Foster ☐ LCI  #       ☐ OTHER      


Parent/Guardian       Phone (      )       (       )      
(Residence) (Business)


Address       City       State/Zip      
(If different from student)


AGREEMENT TERMS:


1. Nonpublic School: The average number of minutes in the instructional day will be:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


2. Nonpublic School: The number of school days in the calendar of the school year are:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


3. Educational services as specified in the IEP shall be provided by the CONTRACTOR and paid at the rates specified below.


A. INCLUSIVE AND/OR BASIC EDUCATION PROGRAM RATE: (Applies to nonpublic schools only): Daily Rate:      


Estimated Number of Days       x Daily Rate       = PROJECTED BASIC EDUCATION  COSTS      


B.  RELATED SERVICES:


Provider


SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER


Specify


# of Times per


wk/mo/yr., Duration;


or per IEP;


or as needed


Cost per


session


Maximum


Number of


Sessions


Estimated Maximum


Total Cost for


Contracted Period


Intensive Individual Services (340)      
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


Language/Speech Therapy (415)


a.  Individual


b.  Group


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


34
44/383







Provider


SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER


Specify


# of Times per


wk/mo/yr., Duration;


or per IEP;


or as needed


Cost per


session


Maximum


Number of


Sessions


Estimated Maximum


Total Cost for


Contracted Period


Adapted Physical Ed. (425)


                                         


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical


Health Care (435)


                                         


Health and Nursing Services: Other (436)
                                         


Assistive Technology Services (445)
                                         


Occupational Therapy (450)
                                         


Physical Therapy (460)
                                         


Individual Counseling (510)
                                         


Counseling and guidance (515).
                                         


Parent Counseling (520)
                                         


Social Work Services (525)


                                         


Psychological Services (530)
                                         


Behavior Intervention Services (535)
                                         


Specialized Services for Low Incidence


Disabilities (610)


                                         


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing


Services (710)


                                         


Interpreter Services (715)


                                         


Audiological Services (720)
                                         


Specialized Vision Services (725)
                                         


Orientation and Mobility (730)


                                         


Braille Transcription (735)
                                         


Specialized Orthopedic Service (740)
                                         


Reader Services (745)
                                         


Note Taking Services (750)
                                         


Transcription Services (755)
                                         


Recreation Services (760)
                                         


College Awareness Preparation (820)
                                         


Vocational Assessment, Counseling,


Guidance and Career Assessment (830)


                                         


Career Awareness (840)
                                         


Work Experience Education (850)
                                         


Mentoring (860)
                                         


35
45/383







Provider


SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER


Specify


# of Times per


wk/mo/yr., Duration;


or per IEP;


or as needed


Cost per


session


Maximum


Number of


Sessions


Estimated Maximum


Total Cost for


Contracted Period


Agency Linkages (865)
                                         


Travel Training (870)
                                         


Other Transition Services (890)
                                         


Other (900)J


                                         


Other (900)
                                         


Transportation-Emergency


b. Transportation-Parent


                                         


Bus Passes


                                         


Other


                                         


ESTIMATED MAXIMUM RELATED SERVICES COST$      


TOTAL ESTIMATED MAXIMUM BASIC EDUCATION AND RELATED SERVICES COSTS $      


4. Other Provisions/Attachments:


     


5. MASTER CONTRACT APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD ON      


6.Progress Reporting
Requirements:


Quarterl
y


Monthl
y


Other
(Specify)


The parties hereto have executed this Individual Services Agreement by and through their duly authorized agents or representatives as set forth
below.


-CONTRACTOR- -LEA/SELPA-


(Name of Nonpublic School/Agency)
(Name of LEA/SELPA)


(Signature) (Date) (Signature)                                                                                (Date)


(Name and Title) (Name of Superintendent or Authorized Designee)


36
46/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 5.1.1.2. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Nonpublic Agency: Easter Seals 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Nonpublic Agency contract for new and continuing services through the 
2022-2023 regular school year. Due to the confidentiality regulations that protect the identity of 
students with disabilities, the student names have been omitted. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract renewal for Easter Seals will provide required services for three students in 
Special Education. These services will provide one-on-one sessions with Special Circumstance 
Instructional Aides, Behavior Intervention Aides, Behavior Therapeutic Specialists, Health Aides, 
and Nursing Support Services. These services are mandated by each of the student’s Individual 
Education Plan. Service Period: July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $79,535.58 -  Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


47/383







NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN
SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES


MASTER CONTRACT


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df48/383







NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Contract Year 2022-2023


Nonpublic School
X Nonpublic Agency


Type of Contract:


X Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the
term of this contract.


Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA)
into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.


Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates.  The sole purpose
of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole
discretion of the LEA.  Expiration Date:___________


When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above
shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df49/383







TABLE OF CONTENTS


I. GENERAL PROVISIONS Page


1. MASTER CONTRACT 1
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES 1
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS 2
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT 2
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT


FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION 3
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 3
7. DEFINITIONS 4


II. ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES 5
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS 5
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 6
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 6
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW 6
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO


CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES 6
14. TERMINATION 6
15. INSURANCE 6
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 9
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 9
18. SUBCONTRACTING 9
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 10
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION 10


III. EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION 11
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION 11
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES 12
24. CLASS SIZE 12
25. CALENDARS 13
26. DATA REPORTING 13
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT 14
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING 14
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS 14
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS 15
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE 16
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS 16
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH 17
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS 17
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 17
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS 18


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df50/383







37. TRANSCRIPTS 18
38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE 19
39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM 19
40. PARENT ACCESS 19
41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS


AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS 19
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE 20
43. MONITORING 20


IV. PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS 21
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS 21
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 22
47. STAFF ABSENCE 23
48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR 23


V. HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY 23
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS 24
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION 24
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING 24
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING 24
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT 25
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN 25


VI. FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,
ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES 25


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT 26
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES 27
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES 27
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY 28
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT 28
62. RATE SCHEDULE 29
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION 29


EXHIBIT A: RATES 32
EXHIBIT B:  INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 34


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df51/383







2022-2023                                                      CONTRACT NUMBER:


LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:  NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA    


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:  EASTER SEALS    


NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES
MASTER CONTRACT


AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS


1. MASTER CONTRACT


This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2022, between NORTH SANTA CRUZ
COUNTY SELPA, hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), and EASTER SEALS
(nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency), hereinafter referred to as NPS/A or “CONTRACTOR” for the
purpose of providing special education and/or related services to students with exceptional needs under
the authorization of California Education Code sections 56157, 56361 and 56365 et seq. and Title 5 of the
California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003) and AB
1858 (Chapter 914, Statutes of 2004). It is understood that this agreement does not commit the LEA to
pay for special education and/or related services provided to any student, or CONTRACTOR to provide
such special education and/or related services, unless and until an authorized LEA representative
approves the provision of special education and/or related services by CONTRACTOR.


Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Services Agreement
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”). Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”). The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by
CONTRACTOR. As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic
IEP system and/or electronic database for ISA developing including invoicing.


Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is
not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an
IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP
is signed by the student’s parent.


2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES


CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et
seq and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification and/or credential.
A current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification issued by the
CDE pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the date this
Agreement is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such


1


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df52/383







certification or waiver is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of
this Master Contract. Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification
and in Section 24 of the Master Contract.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related
services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to,
individuals with exceptional needs. The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to
the protection of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so
placed. If the CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all
required licenses from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI
is located.


With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency;
(4) major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result
in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master
Contract by the LEA.


3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS


During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).


CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a).


4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT


The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 (Title 5 California Code of
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated. Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is
required to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years. The parties acknowledge that any
subsequent Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2023. In the event the contract
negotiations are not agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in
effect for 90 days. (Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be
offered unless and until all of the contracting requirements have been satisfied. The offer of a Master
Contract to a CONTRACTOR is at the sole discretion of the LEA.


2


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df53/383







The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent
contractors. Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be
provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of
authorized representative.


5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR
TERMINATION


This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference. This Master
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement. This
Master Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.


CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master
Contract or a renewal.


At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance,
insurance documentation and CDE certification. The LEA may require additional information as
applicable. If the application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be
issued. If CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized
representative within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take
effect until the newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first
day of the new Master Contract’s effective date. If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master
Contract within such ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master
Contract for the current school year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California
Education Code section 56366(c)(1) and (2)). In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates,
CONTRACTOR shall continue to be bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed
Master Contract between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing
authorized students at the discretion of the LEA.


6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“ISA”)


This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide
special education and/or related services. An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A). An ISA may be effective for
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect. In the event that
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.


Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement
between the parent and LEA. At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent,
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards
required by law.


Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services
specified in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA. (California
Education Code sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)). In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to


3


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df54/383







provide a specific service at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA
in writing within five (5) business days of the last date a service was provided. CONTRACTOR shall
provide any and all subsequent compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of
provision of services while student was served by the NPS/A.


If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the
OAH, CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the
parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate
by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.
CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.


Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is
located, or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California
Education Code section 56366(c) (2).


7. DEFINITIONS


The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract:


a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the
California Department of Education and its officers, agents and employees.


b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be
responsible for NPS/A. It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan
Area (SELPA) of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in
collaboration with the LEA. The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless
otherwise specified in this Contract.


c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special
education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g).


d. The term “qualified” means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent
to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and
designated instruction and services and has met federal and state certification, licensing,
registration, or other comparable requirements which apply to the area in which he or she is
providing special education or related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34
of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth
in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the
standards of professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the
standards contained in the California Business and Professions  Code.


Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or
regulations.  (Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)).


e The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the
Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and


4


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df55/383







authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and
board and care services at a residential placement. If a license is not available through an
appropriate state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional
organization at the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that
are equivalent to a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations section 3001(l).


f. “Parent” means:
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have


legal authority to make educational decisions for the child,
ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make


educational decisions for the child,
iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a


grandparent, stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who
is legally responsible for the child’s welfare,


iv. a surrogate parent,
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational


decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).


Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and
services for a child. (California Education Code section 56028).


g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified.


h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed
those in comparable LEA programs.


i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education
Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA.


j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such
in this document.


ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES


All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing. Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.


All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page
of this Master Contract. Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of
this Master Contract.


9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS


All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5)


5


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df56/383







years after the termination of this Master Contract. For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b)
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily
service logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including
supervision; daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through
additional instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency
reports (BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however,
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying
credentials held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of
hire, and dates of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid
staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars;
bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A
certifications by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and
expenses; general journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting
documents; documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence
of electronic payments; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records. CONTRACTOR shall maintain
an access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for
each individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the
record(s) provided. Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent;
(b) an individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of
LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information
from the record. CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting
access to student records. For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do
not include subcontractors. CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the
student’s parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in
requesting or receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of
student records, as required by state and federal laws and regulations. CONTRACTOR agrees, in the
event of school or agency closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.
These shall include, but not limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification
of injuries and all other relevant reports. LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of
any and all records upon request within five (5) business days.


10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE


If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the
remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect.


11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST


This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees. CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of
any change of ownership or corporate control.


12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW


6


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df57/383







The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the
County where the LEA is located.


13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES


This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency. The party seeking such modification
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or
modifications made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or
regulation upon which the modification or changes are based.


14. TERMINATION


This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause. The cause shall not be the availability of a
public class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the
student to the public school program at an IEP team meeting. To terminate the contract either party shall
give no less than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)).
At the time of termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents
CONTRACTOR is required to maintain under this Master Contract. ISAs are void upon termination of
this Master Contract, as provided in Section 5 or 6. CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for
cause.  To terminate the ISA, either party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.


15.      INSURANCE 


CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect,
during the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or
admitted insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any
claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection
with CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of
the work or any component or part thereof:


PART I -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES


A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property
damage, with limits as follows:


                       
$2,000,000 per occurrence
$   500,000 fire damage
$       5,000 medical expenses
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury
$3,000,000 general aggregate
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate


The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for
sexual molestation or abuse. In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an
exclusion for sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to
procure a supplemental policy providing such coverage.


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations


7


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df58/383







pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with
limits of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with
a $1 million combined single limit. 


If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.


If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or
to/from students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA,
CONTRACTOR must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements.


D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage,
including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits:


                                    $1,000,000 per occurrence
                                    $2,000,000 general aggregate


E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request,
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. The certificate
of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision. The Commercial
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by
CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this
contract at no additional charge.


F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved
by the LEA. At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s
sole cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such
deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or
(b) procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation.


G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the
LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained
by the LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's
insurance and shall not contribute with it.


H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the
certificate on the certificate.


PART II -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED WITH
A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”)


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the
following insurance policies are required:


A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with
limits as follows:


8


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df59/383







$3,000,000 per occurrence
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.


The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named
additional insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which
may be applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance
primary despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy. Coverage shall be maintained
with no Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the
LEA.


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’ Compensation
Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service. If the RTC provides student
bus services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence.


D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured
retention.


E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations.


16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS


To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss,
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or
omission of CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or
anyone employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and
obligation to defend shall arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR.
The LEA and the Member District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its
choice to provide the defense at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier.


To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’


9


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df60/383







fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that
such loss, expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful
act or omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone
employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR
Indemnities).


LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the
self-insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and
that its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract.


17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR


Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent
relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any
commitment on behalf of the other. Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.


If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principle, employer or co-employer of
CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs,
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.


18. SUBCONTRACTING


CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract. In the event LEA determines that it can provide
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s). If LEA elects to
provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s).


CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the
fullest extent reasonably possible. Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the
term of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.
Each subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance
effecting coverage required by Section 15. The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by
that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.
All endorsements are to be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work
commences. The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the
LEA/SELPA and the LEA Board of Education as additional insured.


As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of
all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master
Contract. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency
submitting the certificate. In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in
Section 45 Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.


10


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df61/383







19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST


CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its
Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated. CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a
conflict of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section
1090 including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or
reports, and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate. Pursuant to California
Education code section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional
needs shall not recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is
employed or contracted by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or
otherwise has a conflict of interest.


The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student
when a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on
assessment(s) or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization
by LEA. This paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or
a report is prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or
whether an assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the
services provided to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure
the appropriateness of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its
recommendations, the LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is
sought to provide service(s) to the student for whom the IEE is requested. Likewise, the LEA may not
fund services through the evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund. When no other appropriate
assessor is available, LEA may request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide
an IEE.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to
executing this contract. This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up
to ten months of the school year by LEA.


CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings.


20. NON-DISCRIMINATION


CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation,
religion, age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity
or expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by
federal or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or
group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.


EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE)


11


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df62/383







The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS,
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services
outlined in the student’s IEP. If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.


Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments,
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this
Master Contract). LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence
disabilities when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the
SELPA/LEA and shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no
longer needed or when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
facilities are adequate to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and
safety regulations. CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not
necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the
student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the
LEA of the written notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA
requirements concerning parent acknowledgment of financial responsibility.


Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in
writing.


22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION


All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE
Certification and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize
evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study
and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational,
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the
particular course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. Students shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted Common Core State
Standards (“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to
8, inclusive; and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to
12, inclusive, used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c)
extracurricular activities, such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and
vocational training, consistent with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental
assistance, including individual academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college
counseling.


When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements. CONTRACTOR shall not award a


12


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df63/383







high school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation
requirements.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. The NPA providing
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.
School-based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or
provided at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team. Except for services provided by a
CONTRACTOR that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school
setting require the presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services,
provided such guardian or caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to
authorize emergency services as requested. LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and
qualified residential or clinical staff is present during the provision of services under this Master Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is
present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA a written description of the services and location provided
prior to the effective date of this Master Contract. CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention
services must have a trained behaviorist or trained equivalent on staff. It is understood that Behavior
Intervention services are limited per CDE Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing.


23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day
provided to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA
developed in accordance with the student’s IEP.


For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA.


The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise
specified in the student’s IEP.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the
student’s IEP.


24. CLASS SIZE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of
one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing. Upon
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a
ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to
provide services to students with disabilities.


13


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df64/383







In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students,
and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff. The NPS and the LEA
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher. Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by
both parties.  This provision does not apply to a NPA.


CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to
child ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq.


25. CALENDARS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar
with the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days
equivalent to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar. Billable days
shall include only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or
required by the IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to
change its school calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of
the LEA. Nothing in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests
for calendar changes.


Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site. A
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA. Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20)
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA. Any days of
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior
to the start of the extended school year.


Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended
school year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be
eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing,
in advance of the delivery of any NPS service. Any instructional days provided without this written
agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.


CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA. Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day,
Memorial Day and Independence Day. With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved
calendar prior to the initiation of services. CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar. CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the
LEA-developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA. Unless otherwise
specified in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on
only those days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends
school. CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated
on the LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing. Student must have
actually been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for
CONTRACTOR to be eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be
provided on weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the


14


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df65/383







LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR. Any
instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of
the CONTRACTOR.


26. DATA REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing
information with LEA. CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract,
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA. It is
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development,
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.
Additional progress reporting may be required by the LEA. The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR
with appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access.


Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA,
CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a
statutory offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of
suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections
48900 and 48915. CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral
restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900
and 48915.


The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including,
but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports. The LEA may approve use of
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion.


27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive
Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum
extent appropriate.


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. This shall include IEP team
consideration of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the
LRE and necessary to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings.


When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting,
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support
the transition.


28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall
administer all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and
Progress (“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative
Assessment (“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the
Fitness Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative
English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to
the student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.


15


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df66/383







CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools. Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability
program. LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as
required by LEA.


29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS


CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of: curriculum, high school graduation,
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with
disabilities, dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and
standardized testing and IEPs. LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated
meetings.  Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s).


30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1
and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of
others must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in
accordance with the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a
student’s behavior impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations. This could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan
(“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through
the development of behavioral goals and behavioral interventions to support those goals.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil
population. The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any
contact or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or
interaction with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in
accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written
records of the training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency.


CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined
as a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.
It requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a
physical intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious
property damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used. Emergencies


16


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df67/383







require a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four
(24) hours for administrative action. CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours
via telephone. If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review
the behavior emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment,
and to determine an interim plan. If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify
the BIP if a new serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to
be ineffective. CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or
pay for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following:
(1) any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to,
electric-shock; (2) an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant
sprays, mists, or substances in proximity to the face of the individual; (3) an intervention that denies
adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or access to bathroom facilities; (4) an
intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to verbal abuse,
ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma; (5) restrictive
interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize all four
extremities, including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone containment or
similar techniques may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency intervention; (6) locked
seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a locked room; (7) an
intervention that precludes adequate supervision of the individual; (8) an intervention that deprives the
individual of one or more of his or her senses.


In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations.


All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are
used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or
multiple uses by the same individual. CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when
any type of physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used. Upon the use of any type of
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER
per the reporting and notification requirements listed above.


31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with
state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA,
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all
statutory offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include
incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a
violation of Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915.


When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to: the student’s name; the time, date, and
description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for
such disciplinary action. A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written


17


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df68/383







discipline report. CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.


32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS


An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each
student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements
of Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at
the NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may
be transitioned to a public school setting. (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and
(ii)) and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)


If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for
any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document, if appropriate, a description of activities
provided to integrate the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity
as well as the time spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to
support the transition of the student from the special education program into the regular education
program. Each student shall be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her
IEP team. Except as otherwise provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall
participate in all IEP team meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. At
any time during the term of this Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request
a review of the student’s IEP, subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable
notice given to, and participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting. Every effort shall be made to
schedule IEP team meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR
and LEA. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service
providers upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures. It is understood that attendance at
an IEP meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under
this Master Contract.


It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for
all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion. The LEA or SELPA may provide training
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the
system. When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of
the approved system for that student.


Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP. In
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change
in the student’s placement. Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented
placement unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful
and appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States
Code.


33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH


CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as
the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR
300.1-300.756. A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section
42238.01(b). The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the


18


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df69/383







educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any
time after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule
the pupil in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless
provided notice otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1.


34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS


CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations
and hearings, as requested by LEA. Participation further includes the willingness to make
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or
any other state and/or federal governmental body or agency. Full participation shall include, but in no
way be limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any
investigator and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family
Service Plan (“IFSP”).


35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent
complaints. These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following: (1) Uniform Complaint
Procedures pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2)
Nondiscrimination policy pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3)
Sexual Harassment Policy, California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance
Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) (d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). CONTRACTOR shall include
verification of these procedures to the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any
complaints filed against it related to LEA students and provide LEA with all documentation related to the
complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, including any and all reports generated as a result of an
investigation.


36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS


Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards. At a minimum, progress
reports shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives. A copy of the progress
reports/report cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted
to the LEA and LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly.


The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used
to determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes,
data sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of
progress on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans. The LEA may
request such data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service. The CONTRACTOR shall
provide this data supporting progress within five (5) business days of request. Additional time may be
granted as needed by the LEA.


CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and


19


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df70/383







pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices. CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies
of its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business
days prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test
protocols and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of
request.


The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and
objectives, progress reporting and development of present levels of performance. All assessments
resulting from an assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a
request that CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment. Any assessment and/or evaluation
costs may be added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion.


It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA. For
NPA services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection
3065, shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA. Supervision means the direct
observation of services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional
standards for each professional’s license, certification, or credential.


CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports,
report cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or
meetings. It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with
the IEP. It is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of
the pupil’s record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request.


37. TRANSCRIPTS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester,
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures. CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names
of students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the
LEA.


38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE


Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of
residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence as specified
in LEA Procedures. Upon enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation
to notify CONTRACTOR of the student’s change of residence. CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and
provide upon request by LEA, documentation of such notice to parents.


If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of
residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.


39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM


CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5)
business days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services,
including student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and student’s
discharge against professional advice from a NPS/RTC.


20


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df71/383







40. PARENT ACCESS


CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but
not limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living
quarters. CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental visits and access
to LEA students.


CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s
reasonable request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC. CONTRACTOR
shall require that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR
and the LEA at least thirty (30) days in advance. CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all parent travel and
accommodations and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate. Payment by LEA for
approved travel-related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent with LEA
Procedures.


CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an
emergency, is present. The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the
LEA prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in
emergency situations. The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written
authorization for emergency situation. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer
associated with the NPS/NPA service provider.


All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in
writing, to the LEA.


41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS


If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational
placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and
Safety Code section 1501.1(b), AB 1858 (2004), AB490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003), AB 1261
(2005), AB 1166 Chapter 171 (2015), AB 167 Chapter 224 (2010), AB 216 Chapter 324 (2013), AB 379
Chapter 772 (2015), AB 1012 Chapter 703 (2015), and the procedures set forth in the LEA Procedures.
An LCI shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its residential
facility.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1412(a)(1)(A) and Education Code
section 56000, et seq.; amended and reorganized by the Individuals with Disabilities Education
Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA), 20 U.S.C. section 1401(29); Education Code section 56031; Cal.
Code Regs., Title 5, section 3001 et seq., regarding the provision of counseling services, including
residential care for students to receive a FAPE as set forth in the LEA student’s IEPs. CONTRACTOR
shall meet all monitoring requirements as noted in Section 43 below.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall
provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special
education. For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education
eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA.


21


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df72/383







Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed
agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational
decision-making rights.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively,
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


42. STATE MEAL MANDATE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under
California Education Code sections 49530, 49530.5 and 49550.


43. MONITORING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a
master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is
making toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation
of the pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA (or SELPA) shall report the
findings resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar
days of the onsite visit.


The LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement.


CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring
of each student’s instructional program. LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.
Such access shall include unannounced monitoring visits. When making site visits, LEA shall initially
report to CONTRACTOR's site administrative office. CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in
the review of each student’s progress.


If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code
section 1501.1(b).


The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S
facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching
staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three.


CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted
as aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education
Code section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with


22


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df73/383







relevant state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct
any follow-up or corrective action procedures related to review findings.


CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without
cause. The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health
and safety; curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California
Education Code Section 33126.


PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237,
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI
clearance are ascertained. CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees,
and volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with
students, or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or
serious felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite
the employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j). Contractor shall certify to
LEA that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest notification service
for all employees who may come into contact with students.


Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information,
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for
each owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A. CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence
on-site, as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.
Background clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal
Code section 11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.


45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license,
certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant
to Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065. Such qualified staff may only provide related
services within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set
by each profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or
special education teacher’s scope of practice.


23


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df74/383







CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and
services to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation
provided to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)).
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and
instructional leader, and be able to provide leadership, oversight and professional development. The
administrator of the NPS holds or is in the process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An
administrative credential granted by an accredited postsecondary educational institution and two years of
experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school
counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree issued
by an accredited postsecondary institution in education, special education, psychology, counseling,
behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special
education instruction and at least two years of experience teaching in special education before becoming
an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (H) A license as an educational psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A
license as a professional clinical counselor issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California
Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5))
CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides
and teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code
sections 45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq. Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to,
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted
by CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall
possess a high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following
qualifications: (a) completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b)
obtained an associate’s (or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate,
through a formal state or local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing,
reading, writing, and mathematics; or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading
readiness, writing readiness, and mathematics readiness, as appropriate. CONTRACTOR shall comply
with all laws and regulations governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the
provisions with respect to supervision.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials,
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools. CONTRACTOR shall provide the
LEA with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis
Test clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals
starting to work with any student.


CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel
changes occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA
students. CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications


24


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df75/383







or waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal
complaint or lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA
shall not be obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or
waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such
person is providing services under this Master Contract. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any
changes in credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or
suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


47. STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s
service providers. It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified
substitute for their student. LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA
representative.


48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME


It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services. All practices shall only be
within the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each
profession as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations
when made available to the CONTRACTOR.


For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus
consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is
responsible for the instructional program.


CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure
that at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make
decisions in an emergency is present during provision of services. The names of any adult caregiver other
than the parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including
written and signed authorization in emergency situations. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee
or volunteer associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by
CONTRACTOR to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA.


HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations,
ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety. CONTRACTOR
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406,
regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis.


25


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df76/383







CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed,
contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in
contact with a student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code.


50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that
comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not
limited to: disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning
systems; zoning permits; and occupancy capacity. When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR
shall conduct fire drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to
CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws,
regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or
relocation of facilities may result in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49423 when
CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter medication
during the school day. CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by
which such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered. Such
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.
CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for ensuring appropriate staff training in the administration
of such medication consistent with physician’s written orders. Any change in medication type,
administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized by both a licensed physician and parent.


52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures
specified in LEA Procedures.


53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING


CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and
procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will
remain confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates. A written statement


26


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df77/383







acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such
reporting shall be submitted to the LEA.


54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT


CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the
kinds of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy,
as well as federal and state law. The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.


55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN


CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to
adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section
49370. A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA. The written statement shall be
submitted as specified by the LEA.


FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND
BILLING PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial
resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance
reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same. CONTRACTOR
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA. All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service,
and services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides. Original
attendance forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes
for instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be
available for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a
period of five (5) years thereafter. CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported
attendance that is the basis of services being billed for payment.


CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar
month when education or related services were provided. Invoices and related documents shall be
properly submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner
prescribed by LEA. At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of
service; specific days and times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise
specified in the IEP or agreed to by the LEA; name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of
each invoice; total for each service and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature


27


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df78/383







of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE
certificates and staff notification; verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication
of any made-up session consistent with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided
consistent with the ISA (monthly or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials
of each student for when the service was provided.


In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be
included.


Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract. At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training.


Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period
in which the services were rendered. LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45)
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.
LEA shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a
completely corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA.


In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June)
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year. In no case shall any rebilling for the
Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal
year unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a
delay in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher
qualification, but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year. If the billing or
re-billing error is the responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and
CONTRACTOR have communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the
close of the fiscal year.  LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee.


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT


LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when: (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in
whole or in part, under the terms of this contract; (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on
days other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not
receive services; (c) CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or
audit of its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting
documentation with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e) education and/or related services are
provided to students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified;
(f) LEA has not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning one
or more students enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm
a student’s change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district,
but fails to notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation; or (h) CONTRACTOR receives
payment from Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It
is understood that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months
following the close of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.


Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a
Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for
regular ongoing operations. In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a


28


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df79/383







review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA. Such review or audit will be completed within ninety
(90) days. The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR
determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected.


The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding
paragraph are as follows: (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount
of overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided
by CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e) the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service
provided to the student.


If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10)
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding
payment. Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is
unfounded. Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment
will be denied.


If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment
should not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it
believes payment should not be withheld. LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty
(30) business days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the
reason LEA believes payment should not be made. If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business
days or a dispute regarding the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to
CONTRACTOR’s notice, CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.


After forty-five (45) business days: The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s
Representative of the dispute in writing. The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the
CONTRACTOR in writing within fifteen (15) business days.


After sixty (60) business days:  The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and
expenses arising out of such mediation.  Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any
mediation process agreed to by the parties.


58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES


CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated
with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal
or any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services
to students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA
students’ public benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided
before seeking payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually.


29


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df80/383







59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE


Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an
appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with
California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of
substitute coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned
class during all instructional time. LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction
or service is provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher.


Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in
Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute. LEA will not pay for services unless a
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP.


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE


If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s
unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.


Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307. LEA shall not pay for services provided on days
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under
state law. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor
shall student be eligible for make-up services.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service
providers. LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA. In the event services
were not provided, reasons for why the services were not provided shall be included.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE


If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence. LEA shall not be responsible for the payment
of services when a student is absent.


30


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df81/383







60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY


The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent
with guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392:


a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately
as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending
LEA is open or closed.  


b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education
Code section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student,
CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to
CONTRACTOR’S school closure. If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement,
CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the
student were continuing his/her regular attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and
implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to
emergency conditions.


c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative
placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.


When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost
instructional minutes.  CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as
appropriate.


61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT


The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the
books, records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs
claimed to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement.


CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to: student records
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily
service logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily
service logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior
intervention aides, bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business
licenses held, documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff
time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service
subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation
insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if
incorporated; other documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports
Form 941/DE3DP; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof. Such access shall
include unannounced inspections by LEA. CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary
information including operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract
period being audited.


CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge. All records shall be provided to LEA


31


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df82/383







within five (5) working days of a written request from LEA. CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA,
provide assistance for such examination or audit. LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access
to CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees. If any document
or evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the
LEA agrees to the use of the electronic format.


CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.


If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA
shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and
specifying the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in
writing, CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing and/or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as
determined by an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an
independent agency/firm. CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of
receipt of LEA’s written notice demanding payment.


62. RATE SCHEDULE


The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum
dollar amount of the contract. It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided
specific services. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may
be adjusted proportionally. In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as noted in California Education Code Section
46200-46208.


Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified
personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A.


63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION


By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that:


(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by
any Federal agency, and


(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil
judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection
with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract
or subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers;
or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records,
making false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted
for, or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of
these offenses.


32


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df83/383







The parties hereto have executed this Contract by and through their duly authorized agents or
representatives. This contract is effective on the 1st day of July, 2022 and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on
June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided herein.


CONTRACTOR LEA


___________________________________ __NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA___
Nonpublic School/Agency LEA Name


By: ________________________________ By:  __________________________________
Signature                              Date Signature                                   Date


________________________________ _JESSICA LITTLE, SR. SELPA DIRECTOR_
Name and Title of Authorized Name and Title of Authorized
Representative Representative


Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed to: Notices to LEA shall be addressed to:


JESSICA LITTLE, SR. SELPA DIRECTOR
Name and Title Name and Title


NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Nonpublic School/Agency/Related Service Provider LEA


400 ENCINAL STREET


Address Address
SANTA CRUZ               CA                 95060


City State Zip City State Zip
831-466-5700                 831-466-5964


Phone                                   Fax Phone                                   Fax
jlittle@santacruzcoe.org


Email Email


Additional LEA Notification
(Required if completed)


Name and Title


Address


City State Zip


Phone                                   Fax


Email


33


03 / 09 / 2022


Easterseals Central California


03 / 09 / 2022


Larry Doan, Director of Educational Services


Larry Doan, Director of Educational Services


Easterseals Central California


9010 Soquel Dr., Suite 1


Aptos CA 95003


831.566.2866 831.684.1018


ldoan@es-cc.org


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df84/383







EXHIBIT A:   2022-2023 RATES


4.1 RATE SCHEDULE FOR CONTRACT YEAR


The CONTRACTOR:   EASTER SEALS   
The CONTRACTOR CDS NUMBER:      


PER ED CODE 56366 – TEACHER-TO-PUPIL RATIO:     


Maximum Contract Amount:      


Education service(s) offered by the CONTRACTOR and the charges for such service(s) during the term of this contract shall be as follows:


1) Daily Basic Education Rate:      


2) Inclusive Education Program
(Includes Educational Counseling (not ed related mental health) services, Speech & Language services, Behavior Intervention
Planning, and Occupational Therapy as specified on the student’s IEP.) DAILY RATE:      


3) Related Services


SERVICE RATE PERIOD


Intensive Individual Services (340)           


SCIA Individual (must be authorized on IEP)     $23.25      HOUR


Language and Speech (415)            


Adapted Physical Education (425)            


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical Health Care (435)            


Health and Nursing: Other Services (436)            


Health Care Aide I     $36.50      HOUR 


Health Care Aide II     $38.00      HOUR 


LVN     $51.00      HOUR 


RN     $63.00      HOUR 


Assistive Technology Services (445)            


Occupational Therapy (450)            


Physical Therapy (460)            


Individual Counseling (510)            


Counseling and Guidance (515)            


34


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df85/383







Parent Counseling (520)            


Social Work Services (525)            


Psychological Services (530)            


Behavior Intervention Services (535)            


Behavior Intervention Level I     $30.00       HOUR


Behavior Intervention Level II     $31.50       HOUR


BCBA Classroom     $105.00       HOUR


BCBA Individual     $95.00       HOUR


BCBA or Master in Behavioral Science Individual/Classroom     $75.00       HOUR


Specialized Services for Low Incidence Disabilities (610)            


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing (710)            


Interpreter Services (715)       $66.00      HOUR 


Audiological Services (720)            


Specialized Vision Services (725)            


Orientation and Mobility (730)            


Specialized Orthopedic Services (740)            


Reader Services (745)            


Transcription Services (755)            


Recreation Services, Including Therapeutic (760)            


College Awareness (820)            


Work Experience Education (850)            


Job Coaching (855)            


Mentoring (860)            


Travel Training (870)            


Other Transition Services (890)            


Other (900)            


Other (900)            


35


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df86/383







EXHIBIT B:   2022-2023 ISA


INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (ISA) FOR NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL SERVICES
(Education Code Sections 56365 et seq.)


This agreement is effective on July 1, 2022 or the date student begins attending a nonpublic school or receiving services from a nonpublic agency,
if after the date identified, and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided in the Master Contract and by applicable law.


Local Education Agency       Nonpublic School      


LEA Case Manager:  Name       Phone Number      


Pupil Name                 Sex: ☐  M ☐  F Grade:      
(Last)                                                       (First) (M.I.)


Address       City       State/Zip      


DOB       Residential Setting:   ☐ Home ☐ Foster ☐ LCI  #       ☐ OTHER      


Parent/Guardian       Phone (      )       (       )      
(Residence) (Business)


Address       City       State/Zip      
(If different from student)


AGREEMENT TERMS:


1. Nonpublic School: The average number of minutes in the instructional day will be:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


2. Nonpublic School: The number of school days in the calendar of the school year are:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


3. Educational services as specified in the IEP shall be provided by the CONTRACTOR and paid at the rates specified below.


A. INCLUSIVE AND/OR BASIC EDUCATION PROGRAM RATE: (Applies to nonpublic schools only): Daily Rate:      


36


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df87/383







Estimated Number of Days       x Daily Rate       = PROJECTED BASIC EDUCATION  COSTS      


B.  RELATED SERVICES:
Provider


SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER
Specify


# of Times per
wk/mo/yr., Duration;


or per IEP;
or as needed


Cost per
session


Maximum
Number of
Sessions


Estimated Maximum
Total Cost for


Contracted Period


Intensive Individual Services (340)


Language/Speech Therapy (415)
a.  Individual
b.  Group


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


Adapted Physical Ed. (425)
                                         


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical
Health Care (435)


                                         


Health and Nursing Services: Other (436)
                                         


Assistive Technology Services (445)
                                         


Occupational Therapy (450)
                                         


Physical Therapy (460)
                                         


Individual Counseling (510)
                                         


Counseling and guidance (515).
                                         


Parent Counseling (520)
                                         


Social Work Services (525)
                                         


Psychological Services (530)
                                         


Behavior Intervention Services (535)
                                         


Specialized Services for Low Incidence
Disabilities (610)


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing
Services (710)


                                         


Interpreter Services (715)
                                         


Audiological Services (720)
                                         


Specialized Vision Services (725)
                                         


Orientation and Mobility (730)
                                         


Braille Transcription (735)
                                         


Specialized Orthopedic Service (740)
                                         


Reader Services (745)


Note Taking Services (750)
                                         


Transcription Services (755)
                                         


Recreation Services (760)
                                         


College Awareness Preparation (820)


37


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df88/383







Provider


Vocational Assessment, Counseling,
Guidance and Career Assessment (830)


                                         


Career Awareness (840)
                                         


Work Experience Education (850)
                                         


Mentoring (860)
                                         


Agency Linkages (865)
                                         


Travel Training (870)
                                         


Other Transition Services (890)
                                         


Other (900)J
                                         


Other (900)
                                         


Transportation-Emergency
b. Transportation-Parent


                                         


Bus Passes
                                         


Other
                                         


ESTIMATED MAXIMUM RELATED SERVICES COST$      


TOTAL ESTIMATED MAXIMUM BASIC EDUCATION AND RELATED SERVICES COSTS $      


4. Other Provisions/Attachments:


     


5. MASTER CONTRACT APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD ON      


6.Progress Reporting
Requirements:


Quarterl
y


Monthl
y


Other
(Specify)


The parties hereto have executed this Individual Services Agreement by and through their duly authorized agents or representatives as set forth
below.


-CONTRACTOR- -LEA/SELPA-


(Name of Nonpublic School/Agency)


(Name of LEA/SELPA)


(Signature) (Date) (Signature)                                                                                (Date)


(Name and Title) (Name of Superintendent or Authorized Designee)


38


Doc ID: e8ec51e3bd586fa01beaa2969db6767fc0bb09df89/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 5.1.1.3. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Nonpublic Agency: ABRITE 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Nonpublic Agency contract for new and continuing services through the 
2022-2023 regular school year. Due to the confidentiality regulations that protect the identity of 
students with disabilities, the student names have been omitted. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract renewal for ABRITE will provide one-on-one Aide, Behavior 
Intervention/Supervision, Consultation, Training and Assessment services for 30 students in 
Special Education. These services are mandated by each of the student’s Individual Education 
Plan. Service Period: July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $1,674,473.53 - Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


90/383







NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN
SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES


MASTER CONTRACT


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada091/383







NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Contract Year 2022-2023


Nonpublic School
X Nonpublic Agency


Type of Contract:


X Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the
term of this contract.


Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA)
into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.


Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates.  The sole purpose
of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole
discretion of the LEA.  Expiration Date:___________


When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above
shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada092/383







TABLE OF CONTENTS


I. GENERAL PROVISIONS Page


1. MASTER CONTRACT 1
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES 1
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS 2
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT 2
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT


FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION 3
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 3
7. DEFINITIONS 4


II. ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES 5
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS 5
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 6
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 6
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW 6
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO


CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES 6
14. TERMINATION 6
15. INSURANCE 6
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 9
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 9
18. SUBCONTRACTING 9
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 10
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION 10


III. EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION 11
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION 11
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES 12
24. CLASS SIZE 12
25. CALENDARS 13
26. DATA REPORTING 13
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT 14
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING 14
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS 14
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS 15
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE 16
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS 16
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH 17
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS 17
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 17
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS 18
37. TRANSCRIPTS 18


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada093/383







38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE 19
39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM 19
40. PARENT ACCESS 19
41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS


AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS 19
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE 20
43. MONITORING 20


IV. PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS 21
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS 21
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 22
47. STAFF ABSENCE 23
48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR 23


V. HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY 23
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS 24
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION 24
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING 24
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING 24
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT 25
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN 25


VI. FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,
ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES 25


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT 26
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES 27
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES 27
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY 28
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT 28
62. RATE SCHEDULE 29
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION 29


EXHIBIT A: RATES 32
EXHIBIT B:  INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 34


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada094/383







2022-2023                                                      CONTRACT NUMBER:


LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:  NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA    


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:  ABRITE    


NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES
MASTER CONTRACT


AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS


1. MASTER CONTRACT


This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2022, between NORTH SANTA CRUZ
COUNTY SELPA, hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), and ABRITE
(nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency), hereinafter referred to as NPS/A or “CONTRACTOR” for the
purpose of providing special education and/or related services to students with exceptional needs under
the authorization of California Education Code sections 56157, 56361 and 56365 et seq. and Title 5 of the
California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003) and AB
1858 (Chapter 914, Statutes of 2004). It is understood that this agreement does not commit the LEA to
pay for special education and/or related services provided to any student, or CONTRACTOR to provide
such special education and/or related services, unless and until an authorized LEA representative
approves the provision of special education and/or related services by CONTRACTOR.


Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Services Agreement
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”). Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”). The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by
CONTRACTOR. As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic
IEP system and/or electronic database for ISA developing including invoicing.


Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is
not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an
IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP
is signed by the student’s parent.


2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES


CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et
seq and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification and/or credential.
A current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification issued by the
CDE pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the date this
Agreement is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such


1


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada095/383







certification or waiver is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of
this Master Contract. Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification
and in Section 24 of the Master Contract.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related
services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to,
individuals with exceptional needs. The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to
the protection of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so
placed. If the CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all
required licenses from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI
is located.


With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency;
(4) major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result
in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master
Contract by the LEA.


3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS


During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).


CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a).


4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT


The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 (Title 5 California Code of
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated. Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is
required to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years. The parties acknowledge that any
subsequent Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2023. In the event the contract
negotiations are not agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in
effect for 90 days. (Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be
offered unless and until all of the contracting requirements have been satisfied. The offer of a Master
Contract to a CONTRACTOR is at the sole discretion of the LEA.


2


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada096/383







The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent
contractors. Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be
provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of
authorized representative.


5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR
TERMINATION


This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference. This Master
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement. This
Master Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.


CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master
Contract or a renewal.


At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance,
insurance documentation and CDE certification. The LEA may require additional information as
applicable. If the application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be
issued. If CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized
representative within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take
effect until the newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first
day of the new Master Contract’s effective date. If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master
Contract within such ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master
Contract for the current school year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California
Education Code section 56366(c)(1) and (2)). In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates,
CONTRACTOR shall continue to be bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed
Master Contract between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing
authorized students at the discretion of the LEA.


6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“ISA”)


This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide
special education and/or related services. An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A). An ISA may be effective for
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect. In the event that
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.


Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement
between the parent and LEA. At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent,
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards
required by law.


Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services
specified in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA. (California
Education Code sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)). In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to


3


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada097/383







provide a specific service at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA
in writing within five (5) business days of the last date a service was provided. CONTRACTOR shall
provide any and all subsequent compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of
provision of services while student was served by the NPS/A.


If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the
OAH, CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the
parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate
by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.
CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.


Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is
located, or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California
Education Code section 56366(c) (2).


7. DEFINITIONS


The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract:


a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the
California Department of Education and its officers, agents and employees.


b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be
responsible for NPS/A. It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan
Area (SELPA) of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in
collaboration with the LEA. The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless
otherwise specified in this Contract.


c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special
education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g).


d. The term “qualified” means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent
to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and
designated instruction and services and has met federal and state certification, licensing,
registration, or other comparable requirements which apply to the area in which he or she is
providing special education or related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34
of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth
in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the
standards of professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the
standards contained in the California Business and Professions  Code.


Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or
regulations.  (Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)).


e The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the
Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and


4


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada098/383







authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and
board and care services at a residential placement. If a license is not available through an
appropriate state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional
organization at the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that
are equivalent to a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations section 3001(l).


f. “Parent” means:
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have


legal authority to make educational decisions for the child,
ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make


educational decisions for the child,
iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a


grandparent, stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who
is legally responsible for the child’s welfare,


iv. a surrogate parent,
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational


decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).


Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and
services for a child. (California Education Code section 56028).


g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified.


h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed
those in comparable LEA programs.


i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education
Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA.


j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such
in this document.


ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES


All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing. Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.


All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page
of this Master Contract. Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of
this Master Contract.


9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS


All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5)


5


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada099/383







years after the termination of this Master Contract. For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b)
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily
service logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including
supervision; daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through
additional instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency
reports (BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however,
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying
credentials held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of
hire, and dates of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid
staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars;
bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A
certifications by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and
expenses; general journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting
documents; documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence
of electronic payments; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records. CONTRACTOR shall maintain
an access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for
each individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the
record(s) provided. Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent;
(b) an individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of
LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information
from the record. CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting
access to student records. For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do
not include subcontractors. CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the
student’s parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in
requesting or receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of
student records, as required by state and federal laws and regulations. CONTRACTOR agrees, in the
event of school or agency closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.
These shall include, but not limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification
of injuries and all other relevant reports. LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of
any and all records upon request within five (5) business days.


10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE


If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the
remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect.


11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST


This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees. CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of
any change of ownership or corporate control.


12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW


6


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0100/383







The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the
County where the LEA is located.


13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES


This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency. The party seeking such modification
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or
modifications made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or
regulation upon which the modification or changes are based.


14. TERMINATION


This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause. The cause shall not be the availability of a
public class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the
student to the public school program at an IEP team meeting. To terminate the contract either party shall
give no less than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)).
At the time of termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents
CONTRACTOR is required to maintain under this Master Contract. ISAs are void upon termination of
this Master Contract, as provided in Section 5 or 6. CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for
cause.  To terminate the ISA, either party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.


15.      INSURANCE 


CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect,
during the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or
admitted insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any
claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection
with CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of
the work or any component or part thereof:


PART I -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES


A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property
damage, with limits as follows:


                       
$2,000,000 per occurrence
$   500,000 fire damage
$       5,000 medical expenses
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury
$3,000,000 general aggregate
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate


The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for
sexual molestation or abuse. In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an
exclusion for sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to
procure a supplemental policy providing such coverage.


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations


7


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0101/383







pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with
limits of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with
a $1 million combined single limit. 


If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.


If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or
to/from students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA,
CONTRACTOR must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements.


D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage,
including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits:


                                    $1,000,000 per occurrence
                                    $2,000,000 general aggregate


E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request,
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. The certificate
of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision. The Commercial
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by
CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this
contract at no additional charge.


F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved
by the LEA. At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s
sole cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such
deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or
(b) procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation.


G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the
LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained
by the LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's
insurance and shall not contribute with it.


H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the
certificate on the certificate.


PART II -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED WITH
A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”)


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the
following insurance policies are required:


A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with
limits as follows:


8


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0102/383







$3,000,000 per occurrence
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.


The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named
additional insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which
may be applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance
primary despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy. Coverage shall be maintained
with no Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the
LEA.


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’ Compensation
Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service. If the RTC provides student
bus services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence.


D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured
retention.


E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations.


16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS


To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss,
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or
omission of CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or
anyone employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and
obligation to defend shall arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR.
The LEA and the Member District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its
choice to provide the defense at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier.


To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’


9


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0103/383







fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that
such loss, expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful
act or omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone
employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR
Indemnities).


LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the
self-insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and
that its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract.


17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR


Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent
relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any
commitment on behalf of the other. Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.


If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principle, employer or co-employer of
CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs,
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.


18. SUBCONTRACTING


CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract. In the event LEA determines that it can provide
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s). If LEA elects to
provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s).


CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the
fullest extent reasonably possible. Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the
term of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.
Each subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance
effecting coverage required by Section 15. The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by
that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.
All endorsements are to be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work
commences. The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the
LEA/SELPA and the LEA Board of Education as additional insured.


As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of
all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master
Contract. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency
submitting the certificate. In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in
Section 45 Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.


10


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0104/383







19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST


CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its
Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated. CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a
conflict of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section
1090 including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or
reports, and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate. Pursuant to California
Education code section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional
needs shall not recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is
employed or contracted by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or
otherwise has a conflict of interest.


The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student
when a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on
assessment(s) or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization
by LEA. This paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or
a report is prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or
whether an assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the
services provided to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure
the appropriateness of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its
recommendations, the LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is
sought to provide service(s) to the student for whom the IEE is requested. Likewise, the LEA may not
fund services through the evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund. When no other appropriate
assessor is available, LEA may request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide
an IEE.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to
executing this contract. This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up
to ten months of the school year by LEA.


CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings.


20. NON-DISCRIMINATION


CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation,
religion, age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity
or expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by
federal or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or
group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.


EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE)


11


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0105/383







The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS,
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services
outlined in the student’s IEP. If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.


Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments,
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this
Master Contract). LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence
disabilities when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the
SELPA/LEA and shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no
longer needed or when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
facilities are adequate to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and
safety regulations. CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not
necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the
student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the
LEA of the written notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA
requirements concerning parent acknowledgment of financial responsibility.


Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in
writing.


22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION


All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE
Certification and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize
evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study
and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational,
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the
particular course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. Students shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted Common Core State
Standards (“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to
8, inclusive; and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to
12, inclusive, used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c)
extracurricular activities, such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and
vocational training, consistent with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental
assistance, including individual academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college
counseling.


When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements. CONTRACTOR shall not award a


12


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0106/383







high school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation
requirements.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. The NPA providing
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.
School-based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or
provided at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team. Except for services provided by a
CONTRACTOR that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school
setting require the presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services,
provided such guardian or caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to
authorize emergency services as requested. LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and
qualified residential or clinical staff is present during the provision of services under this Master Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is
present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA a written description of the services and location provided
prior to the effective date of this Master Contract. CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention
services must have a trained behaviorist or trained equivalent on staff. It is understood that Behavior
Intervention services are limited per CDE Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing.


23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day
provided to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA
developed in accordance with the student’s IEP.


For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA.


The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise
specified in the student’s IEP.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the
student’s IEP.


24. CLASS SIZE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of
one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing. Upon
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a
ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to
provide services to students with disabilities.


13


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0107/383







In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students,
and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff. The NPS and the LEA
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher. Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by
both parties.  This provision does not apply to a NPA.


CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to
child ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq.


25. CALENDARS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar
with the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days
equivalent to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar. Billable days
shall include only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or
required by the IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to
change its school calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of
the LEA. Nothing in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests
for calendar changes.


Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site. A
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA. Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20)
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA. Any days of
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior
to the start of the extended school year.


Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended
school year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be
eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing,
in advance of the delivery of any NPS service. Any instructional days provided without this written
agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.


CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA. Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day,
Memorial Day and Independence Day. With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved
calendar prior to the initiation of services. CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar. CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the
LEA-developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA. Unless otherwise
specified in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on
only those days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends
school. CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated
on the LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing. Student must have
actually been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for
CONTRACTOR to be eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be
provided on weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the


14


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0108/383







LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR. Any
instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of
the CONTRACTOR.


26. DATA REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing
information with LEA. CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract,
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA. It is
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development,
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.
Additional progress reporting may be required by the LEA. The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR
with appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access.


Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA,
CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a
statutory offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of
suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections
48900 and 48915. CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral
restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900
and 48915.


The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including,
but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports. The LEA may approve use of
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion.


27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive
Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum
extent appropriate.


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. This shall include IEP team
consideration of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the
LRE and necessary to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings.


When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting,
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support
the transition.


28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall
administer all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and
Progress (“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative
Assessment (“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the
Fitness Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative
English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to
the student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.


15


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0109/383







CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools. Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability
program. LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as
required by LEA.


29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS


CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of: curriculum, high school graduation,
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with
disabilities, dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and
standardized testing and IEPs. LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated
meetings.  Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s).


30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1
and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of
others must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in
accordance with the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a
student’s behavior impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations. This could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan
(“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through
the development of behavioral goals and behavioral interventions to support those goals.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil
population. The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any
contact or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or
interaction with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in
accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written
records of the training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency.


CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined
as a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.
It requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a
physical intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious
property damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used. Emergencies


16


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0110/383







require a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four
(24) hours for administrative action. CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours
via telephone. If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review
the behavior emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment,
and to determine an interim plan. If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify
the BIP if a new serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to
be ineffective. CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or
pay for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following:
(1) any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to,
electric-shock; (2) an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant
sprays, mists, or substances in proximity to the face of the individual; (3) an intervention that denies
adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or access to bathroom facilities; (4) an
intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to verbal abuse,
ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma; (5) restrictive
interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize all four
extremities, including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone containment or
similar techniques may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency intervention; (6) locked
seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a locked room; (7) an
intervention that precludes adequate supervision of the individual; (8) an intervention that deprives the
individual of one or more of his or her senses.


In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations.


All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are
used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or
multiple uses by the same individual. CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when
any type of physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used. Upon the use of any type of
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER
per the reporting and notification requirements listed above.


31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with
state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA,
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all
statutory offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include
incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a
violation of Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915.


When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to: the student’s name; the time, date, and
description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for
such disciplinary action. A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written


17


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0111/383







discipline report. CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.


32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS


An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each
student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements
of Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at
the NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may
be transitioned to a public school setting. (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and
(ii)) and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)


If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for
any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document, if appropriate, a description of activities
provided to integrate the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity
as well as the time spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to
support the transition of the student from the special education program into the regular education
program. Each student shall be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her
IEP team. Except as otherwise provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall
participate in all IEP team meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. At
any time during the term of this Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request
a review of the student’s IEP, subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable
notice given to, and participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting. Every effort shall be made to
schedule IEP team meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR
and LEA. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service
providers upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures. It is understood that attendance at
an IEP meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under
this Master Contract.


It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for
all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion. The LEA or SELPA may provide training
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the
system. When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of
the approved system for that student.


Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP. In
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change
in the student’s placement. Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented
placement unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful
and appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States
Code.


33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH


CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as
the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR
300.1-300.756. A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section
42238.01(b). The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the


18


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0112/383







educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any
time after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule
the pupil in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless
provided notice otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1.


34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS


CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations
and hearings, as requested by LEA. Participation further includes the willingness to make
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or
any other state and/or federal governmental body or agency. Full participation shall include, but in no
way be limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any
investigator and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family
Service Plan (“IFSP”).


35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent
complaints. These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following: (1) Uniform Complaint
Procedures pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2)
Nondiscrimination policy pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3)
Sexual Harassment Policy, California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance
Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) (d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). CONTRACTOR shall include
verification of these procedures to the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any
complaints filed against it related to LEA students and provide LEA with all documentation related to the
complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, including any and all reports generated as a result of an
investigation.


36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS


Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards. At a minimum, progress
reports shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives. A copy of the progress
reports/report cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted
to the LEA and LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly.


The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used
to determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes,
data sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of
progress on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans. The LEA may
request such data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service. The CONTRACTOR shall
provide this data supporting progress within five (5) business days of request. Additional time may be
granted as needed by the LEA.


CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and


19


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0113/383







pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices. CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies
of its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business
days prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test
protocols and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of
request.


The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and
objectives, progress reporting and development of present levels of performance. All assessments
resulting from an assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a
request that CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment. Any assessment and/or evaluation
costs may be added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion.


It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA. For
NPA services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection
3065, shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA. Supervision means the direct
observation of services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional
standards for each professional’s license, certification, or credential.


CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports,
report cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or
meetings. It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with
the IEP. It is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of
the pupil’s record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request.


37. TRANSCRIPTS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester,
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures. CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names
of students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the
LEA.


38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE


Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of
residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence as specified
in LEA Procedures. Upon enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation
to notify CONTRACTOR of the student’s change of residence. CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and
provide upon request by LEA, documentation of such notice to parents.


If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of
residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.


39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM


CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5)
business days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services,
including student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and student’s
discharge against professional advice from a NPS/RTC.


20


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0114/383







40. PARENT ACCESS


CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but
not limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living
quarters. CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental visits and access
to LEA students.


CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s
reasonable request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC. CONTRACTOR
shall require that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR
and the LEA at least thirty (30) days in advance. CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all parent travel and
accommodations and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate. Payment by LEA for
approved travel-related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent with LEA
Procedures.


CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an
emergency, is present. The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the
LEA prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in
emergency situations. The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written
authorization for emergency situation. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer
associated with the NPS/NPA service provider.


All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in
writing, to the LEA.


41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS


If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational
placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and
Safety Code section 1501.1(b), AB 1858 (2004), AB490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003), AB 1261
(2005), AB 1166 Chapter 171 (2015), AB 167 Chapter 224 (2010), AB 216 Chapter 324 (2013), AB 379
Chapter 772 (2015), AB 1012 Chapter 703 (2015), and the procedures set forth in the LEA Procedures.
An LCI shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its residential
facility.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1412(a)(1)(A) and Education Code
section 56000, et seq.; amended and reorganized by the Individuals with Disabilities Education
Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA), 20 U.S.C. section 1401(29); Education Code section 56031; Cal.
Code Regs., Title 5, section 3001 et seq., regarding the provision of counseling services, including
residential care for students to receive a FAPE as set forth in the LEA student’s IEPs. CONTRACTOR
shall meet all monitoring requirements as noted in Section 43 below.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall
provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special
education. For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education
eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA.


21


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0115/383







Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed
agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational
decision-making rights.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively,
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


42. STATE MEAL MANDATE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under
California Education Code sections 49530, 49530.5 and 49550.


43. MONITORING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a
master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is
making toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation
of the pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA (or SELPA) shall report the
findings resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar
days of the onsite visit.


The LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement.


CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring
of each student’s instructional program. LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.
Such access shall include unannounced monitoring visits. When making site visits, LEA shall initially
report to CONTRACTOR's site administrative office. CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in
the review of each student’s progress.


If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code
section 1501.1(b).


The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S
facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching
staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three.


CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted
as aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education
Code section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with


22


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0116/383







relevant state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct
any follow-up or corrective action procedures related to review findings.


CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without
cause. The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health
and safety; curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California
Education Code Section 33126.


PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237,
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI
clearance are ascertained. CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees,
and volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with
students, or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or
serious felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite
the employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j). Contractor shall certify to
LEA that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest notification service
for all employees who may come into contact with students.


Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information,
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for
each owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A. CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence
on-site, as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.
Background clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal
Code section 11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.


45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license,
certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant
to Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065. Such qualified staff may only provide related
services within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set
by each profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or
special education teacher’s scope of practice.


23


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0117/383







CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and
services to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation
provided to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)).
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and
instructional leader, and be able to provide leadership, oversight and professional development. The
administrator of the NPS holds or is in the process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An
administrative credential granted by an accredited postsecondary educational institution and two years of
experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school
counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree issued
by an accredited postsecondary institution in education, special education, psychology, counseling,
behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special
education instruction and at least two years of experience teaching in special education before becoming
an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (H) A license as an educational psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A
license as a professional clinical counselor issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California
Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5))
CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides
and teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code
sections 45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq. Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to,
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted
by CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall
possess a high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following
qualifications: (a) completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b)
obtained an associate’s (or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate,
through a formal state or local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing,
reading, writing, and mathematics; or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading
readiness, writing readiness, and mathematics readiness, as appropriate. CONTRACTOR shall comply
with all laws and regulations governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the
provisions with respect to supervision.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials,
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools. CONTRACTOR shall provide the
LEA with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis
Test clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals
starting to work with any student.


CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel
changes occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA
students. CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications


24


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0118/383







or waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal
complaint or lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA
shall not be obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or
waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such
person is providing services under this Master Contract. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any
changes in credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or
suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


47. STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s
service providers. It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified
substitute for their student. LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA
representative.


48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME


It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services. All practices shall only be
within the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each
profession as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations
when made available to the CONTRACTOR.


For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus
consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is
responsible for the instructional program.


CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure
that at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make
decisions in an emergency is present during provision of services. The names of any adult caregiver other
than the parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including
written and signed authorization in emergency situations. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee
or volunteer associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by
CONTRACTOR to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA.


HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations,
ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety. CONTRACTOR
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406,
regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis.


25


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0119/383







CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed,
contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in
contact with a student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code.


50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that
comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not
limited to: disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning
systems; zoning permits; and occupancy capacity. When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR
shall conduct fire drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to
CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws,
regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or
relocation of facilities may result in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49423 when
CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter medication
during the school day. CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by
which such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered. Such
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.
CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for ensuring appropriate staff training in the administration
of such medication consistent with physician’s written orders. Any change in medication type,
administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized by both a licensed physician and parent.


52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures
specified in LEA Procedures.


53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING


CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and
procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will
remain confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates. A written statement


26


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0120/383







acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such
reporting shall be submitted to the LEA.


54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT


CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the
kinds of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy,
as well as federal and state law. The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.


55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN


CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to
adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section
49370. A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA. The written statement shall be
submitted as specified by the LEA.


FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND
BILLING PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial
resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance
reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same. CONTRACTOR
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA. All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service,
and services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides. Original
attendance forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes
for instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be
available for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a
period of five (5) years thereafter. CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported
attendance that is the basis of services being billed for payment.


CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar
month when education or related services were provided. Invoices and related documents shall be
properly submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner
prescribed by LEA. At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of
service; specific days and times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise
specified in the IEP or agreed to by the LEA; name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of
each invoice; total for each service and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature


27


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0121/383







of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE
certificates and staff notification; verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication
of any made-up session consistent with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided
consistent with the ISA (monthly or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials
of each student for when the service was provided.


In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be
included.


Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract. At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training.


Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period
in which the services were rendered. LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45)
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.
LEA shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a
completely corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA.


In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June)
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year. In no case shall any rebilling for the
Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal
year unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a
delay in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher
qualification, but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year. If the billing or
re-billing error is the responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and
CONTRACTOR have communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the
close of the fiscal year.  LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee.


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT


LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when: (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in
whole or in part, under the terms of this contract; (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on
days other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not
receive services; (c) CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or
audit of its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting
documentation with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e) education and/or related services are
provided to students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified;
(f) LEA has not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning one
or more students enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm
a student’s change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district,
but fails to notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation; or (h) CONTRACTOR receives
payment from Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It
is understood that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months
following the close of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.


Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a
Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for
regular ongoing operations. In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a


28


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0122/383







review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA. Such review or audit will be completed within ninety
(90) days. The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR
determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected.


The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding
paragraph are as follows: (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount
of overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided
by CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e) the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service
provided to the student.


If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10)
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding
payment. Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is
unfounded. Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment
will be denied.


If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment
should not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it
believes payment should not be withheld. LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty
(30) business days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the
reason LEA believes payment should not be made. If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business
days or a dispute regarding the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to
CONTRACTOR’s notice, CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.


After forty-five (45) business days: The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s
Representative of the dispute in writing. The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the
CONTRACTOR in writing within fifteen (15) business days.


After sixty (60) business days:  The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and
expenses arising out of such mediation.  Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any
mediation process agreed to by the parties.


58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES


CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated
with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal
or any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services
to students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA
students’public benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided
before seeking payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually.


29


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0123/383







59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE


Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an
appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with
California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of
substitute coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned
class during all instructional time. LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction
or service is provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher.


Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in
Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute. LEA will not pay for services unless a
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP.


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE


If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s
unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.


Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307. LEA shall not pay for services provided on days
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under
state law. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor
shall student be eligible for make-up services.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service
providers. LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA. In the event services
were not provided, reasons for why the services were not provided shall be included.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE


If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence. LEA shall not be responsible for the payment
of services when a student is absent.


30


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0124/383







60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY


The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent
with guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392:


a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately
as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending
LEA is open or closed.  


b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education
Code section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student,
CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to
CONTRACTOR’S school closure. If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement,
CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the
student were continuing his/her regular attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and
implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to
emergency conditions.


c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative
placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.


When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost
instructional minutes.  CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as
appropriate.


61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT


The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the
books, records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs
claimed to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement.


CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to: student records
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily
service logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily
service logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior
intervention aides, bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business
licenses held, documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff
time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service
subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation
insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if
incorporated; other documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports
Form 941/DE3DP; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof. Such access shall
include unannounced inspections by LEA. CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary
information including operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract
period being audited.


CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge. All records shall be provided to LEA


31


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0125/383







within five (5) working days of a written request from LEA. CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA,
provide assistance for such examination or audit. LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access
to CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees. If any document
or evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the
LEA agrees to the use of the electronic format.


CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.


If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA
shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and
specifying the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in
writing, CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing and/or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as
determined by an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an
independent agency/firm. CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of
receipt of LEA’s written notice demanding payment.


62. RATE SCHEDULE


The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum
dollar amount of the contract. It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided
specific services. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may
be adjusted proportionally. In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as noted in California Education Code Section
46200-46208.


Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified
personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A.


63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION


By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that:


(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by
any Federal agency, and


(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil
judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection
with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract
or subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers;
or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records,
making false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted
for, or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of
these offenses.


32


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0126/383







The parties hereto have executed this Contract by and through their duly authorized agents or
representatives. This contract is effective on the 1st day of July, 2022 and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on
June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided herein.


CONTRACTOR LEA


___________________________________ __NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA___
Nonpublic School/Agency LEA Name


By: ________________________________ By:  __________________________________
Signature                              Date Signature                                   Date


________________________________ _JESSICA LITTLE, SR. SELPA DIRECTOR_
Name and Title of Authorized Name and Title of Authorized
Representative Representative


Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed to: Notices to LEA shall be addressed to:


JESSICA LITTLE, SR. SELPA DIRECTOR
Name and Title Name and Title


NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Nonpublic School/Agency/Related Service Provider LEA


400 ENCINAL STREET


Address Address
SANTA CRUZ               CA                 95060


City State Zip City State Zip
831-466-5700                 831-466-5964


Phone                                   Fax Phone                                   Fax
jlittle@santacruzcoe.org


Email Email


Additional LEA Notification
(Required if completed)


Name and Title


Address


City State Zip


Phone                                   Fax


Email


33


05 / 04 / 2022


ABRITE LLC


05 / 03 / 2022


Ginger Raabe Vice President


Ginger Raabe Vice President


ABRITE LLC


Brite Horizons


749 37th Ave. CA 95062


Santa Cruz CA


ginger.raabe@abrite.org


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0127/383







EXHIBIT A:   2022-2023 RATES


4.1 RATE SCHEDULE FOR CONTRACT YEAR


The CONTRACTOR:      
The CONTRACTOR CDS NUMBER:      


PER ED CODE 56366 – TEACHER-TO-PUPIL RATIO:     


Maximum Contract Amount:      


Education service(s) offered by the CONTRACTOR and the charges for such service(s) during the term of this contract shall be as follows:


1) Daily Basic Education Rate:      


2) Inclusive Education Program
(Includes Educational Counseling (not ed related mental health) services, Speech & Language services, Behavior Intervention
Planning, and Occupational Therapy as specified on the student’s IEP.) DAILY RATE:      


3) Related Services


SERVICE RATE PERIOD


Intensive Individual Services (340)            


SCIA - Individual      $35.00      Hour


Language and Speech (415)            


Adapted Physical Education (425)            


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical Health Care (435)            


Health and Nursing: Other Services (436)            


Assistive Technology Services (445)            


Occupational Therapy (450)            


Physical Therapy (460)            


Individual Counseling (510)            


Counseling and Guidance (515)            


Parent Counseling (520)            


Social Work Services (525)            


Psychological Services (530)            


Behavior Intervention Services (535)            


34


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0128/383







Behavior Intervention - BII - Level I     $55.00      Hour


BCBA Assistant - Behavior Intervention Program Coach     $65.00       Hour


Junior BCBA     $65.00       Hour


Behavior Intervention Development - BID     $128.75       Hour


Behavior Intervention Development - BID Level II     $150.00       Hour


Specialized Services for Low Incidence Disabilities (610)            


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing (710)            


Interpreter Services (715)            


Audiological Services (720)            


Specialized Vision Services (725)            


Orientation and Mobility (730)            


Specialized Orthopedic Services (740)            


Reader Services (745)            


Transcription Services (755)            


Recreation Services, Including Therapeutic (760)            


College Awareness (820)            


Work Experience Education (850)            


Job Coaching (855)            


Mentoring (860)            


Travel Training (870)            


Other Transition Services (890)            


Other (900)            


Other (900)            


35


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0129/383







EXHIBIT B:   2022-2023 ISA


INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (ISA) FOR NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL SERVICES
(Education Code Sections 56365 et seq.)


This agreement is effective on July 1, 2022 or the date student begins attending a nonpublic school or receiving services from a nonpublic agency,
if after the date identified, and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided in the Master Contract and by applicable law.


Local Education Agency       Nonpublic School      


LEA Case Manager:  Name       Phone Number      


Pupil Name                 Sex: ☐  M ☐  F Grade:      
(Last)                                                       (First) (M.I.)


Address       City       State/Zip      


DOB       Residential Setting:   ☐ Home ☐ Foster ☐ LCI  #       ☐ OTHER      


Parent/Guardian       Phone (      )       (       )      
(Residence) (Business)


Address       City       State/Zip      
(If different from student)


AGREEMENT TERMS:


1. Nonpublic School: The average number of minutes in the instructional day will be:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


2. Nonpublic School: The number of school days in the calendar of the school year are:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


3. Educational services as specified in the IEP shall be provided by the CONTRACTOR and paid at the rates specified below.


A. INCLUSIVE AND/OR BASIC EDUCATION PROGRAM RATE: (Applies to nonpublic schools only): Daily Rate:      


Estimated Number of Days       x Daily Rate       = PROJECTED BASIC EDUCATION  COSTS      


B.  RELATED SERVICES:
Provider


SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER
Specify


# of Times per
wk/mo/yr., Duration;


or per IEP;
or as needed


Cost per
session


Maximum
Number of
Sessions


Estimated Maximum
Total Cost for


Contracted Period


Intensive Individual Services (340)


36


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0130/383







Provider


Language/Speech Therapy (415)
a.  Individual
b.  Group


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


Adapted Physical Ed. (425)
                                         


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical
Health Care (435)


                                         


Health and Nursing Services: Other (436)
                                         


Assistive Technology Services (445)
                                         


Occupational Therapy (450)
                                         


Physical Therapy (460)
                                         


Individual Counseling (510)
                                         


Counseling and guidance (515).
                                         


Parent Counseling (520)
                                         


Social Work Services (525)
                                         


Psychological Services (530)
                                         


Behavior Intervention Services (535)
                                         


Specialized Services for Low Incidence
Disabilities (610)


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing
Services (710)


                                         


Interpreter Services (715)
                                         


Audiological Services (720)
                                         


Specialized Vision Services (725)
                                         


Orientation and Mobility (730)
                                         


Braille Transcription (735)
                                         


Specialized Orthopedic Service (740)
                                         


Reader Services (745)


Note Taking Services (750)
                                         


Transcription Services (755)
                                         


Recreation Services (760)
                                         


College Awareness Preparation (820)


Vocational Assessment, Counseling,
Guidance and Career Assessment (830)


                                         


Career Awareness (840)
                                         


Work Experience Education (850)
                                         


Mentoring (860)


37


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0131/383







Provider


Agency Linkages (865)
                                         


Travel Training (870)
                                         


Other Transition Services (890)
                                         


Other (900)J
                                         


Other (900)
                                         


Transportation-Emergency
b. Transportation-Parent


                                         


Bus Passes
                                         


Other
                                         


ESTIMATED MAXIMUM RELATED SERVICES COST$      


TOTAL ESTIMATED MAXIMUM BASIC EDUCATION AND RELATED SERVICES COSTS $      


4. Other Provisions/Attachments:


     


5. MASTER CONTRACT APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD ON      


6.Progress Reporting
Requirements:


Quarterl
y


Monthl
y


Other
(Specify)


The parties hereto have executed this Individual Services Agreement by and through their duly authorized agents or representatives as set forth
below.


-CONTRACTOR- -LEA/SELPA-


(Name of Nonpublic School/Agency)


(Name of LEA/SELPA)


(Signature) (Date) (Signature)                                                                                (Date)


(Name and Title) (Name of Superintendent or Authorized Designee)


38


Doc ID: 10b94af9b1313c57a707d51b4bfb7df72979ada0132/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Nonpublic Agency: SPEECHRIGHTER 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Nonpublic Agency Master Contract for new and continuing services 
through the 2022-2023 school year. Due to the confidentiality regulations that protect the 
identity of students with disabilities, the student names have been omitted.  
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract with Speechrighter will provide required services for sixty-four students in Special 
Education during the regular school year and Extended School Year (ESY) time period. These 
services will provide Speech and Language Therapy and Occupational Therapy. These services 
are mandated by each of the students’ Individualized Education Plan and/or Individual Service 
Plan (ISP). Service period: July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $37,963.66 - Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


133/383







NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN
SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES


MASTER CONTRACT


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793134/383







NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Contract Year 2022-2023


Nonpublic School
X Nonpublic Agency


Type of Contract:


X Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the
term of this contract.


Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA)
into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.


Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates.  The sole purpose
of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole
discretion of the LEA.  Expiration Date:___________


When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above
shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793135/383







TABLE OF CONTENTS


I. GENERAL PROVISIONS Page


1. MASTER CONTRACT 1
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES 1
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS 2
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT 2
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT


FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION 3
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 3
7. DEFINITIONS 4


II. ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES 5
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS 5
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 6
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 6
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW 6
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO


CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES 6
14. TERMINATION 6
15. INSURANCE 6
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 9
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 9
18. SUBCONTRACTING 9
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 10
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION 10


III. EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION 11
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION 11
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES 12
24. CLASS SIZE 12
25. CALENDARS 13
26. DATA REPORTING 13
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT 14
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING 14
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS 14
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS 15
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE 16
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS 16
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH 17
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS 17
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 17
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS 18


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793136/383







37. TRANSCRIPTS 18
38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE 19
39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM 19
40. PARENT ACCESS 19
41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS


AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS 19
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE 20
43. MONITORING 20


IV. PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS 21
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS 21
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 22
47. STAFF ABSENCE 23
48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR 23


V. HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY 23
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS 24
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION 24
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING 24
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING 24
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT 25
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN 25


VI. FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,
ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES 25


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT 26
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES 27
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES 27
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY 28
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT 28
62. RATE SCHEDULE 29
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION 29


EXHIBIT A: RATES 32
EXHIBIT B:  INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 34


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793137/383







2022-2023                                                      CONTRACT NUMBER:


LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:  NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA    


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:  SPEECHRIGHTER    


NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES
MASTER CONTRACT


AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS


1. MASTER CONTRACT


This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2022, between NORTH SANTA CRUZ
COUNTY SELPA, hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), and
SPEECHRIGHTER (nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency), hereinafter referred to as NPS/A or
“CONTRACTOR” for the purpose of providing special education and/or related services to students with
exceptional needs under the authorization of California Education Code sections 56157, 56361 and 56365
et seq. and Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 (Chapter 862,
Statutes of 2003) and AB 1858 (Chapter 914, Statutes of 2004). It is understood that this agreement does
not commit the LEA to pay for special education and/or related services provided to any student, or
CONTRACTOR to provide such special education and/or related services, unless and until an authorized
LEA representative approves the provision of special education and/or related services by
CONTRACTOR.


Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Services Agreement
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”). Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”). The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by
CONTRACTOR. As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic
IEP system and/or electronic database for ISA developing including invoicing.


Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is
not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an
IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP
is signed by the student’s parent.


2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES


CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et
seq and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification and/or credential.
A current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification issued by the
CDE pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the date this


1


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793138/383







Agreement is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such
certification or waiver is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of
this Master Contract. Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification
and in Section 24 of the Master Contract.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related
services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to,
individuals with exceptional needs. The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to
the protection of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so
placed. If the CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all
required licenses from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI
is located.


With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency;
(4) major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result
in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master
Contract by the LEA.


3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS


During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).


CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a).


4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT


The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 (Title 5 California Code of
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated. Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is
required to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years. The parties acknowledge that any
subsequent Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2023. In the event the contract
negotiations are not agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in
effect for 90 days. (Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be


2


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793139/383







offered unless and until all of the contracting requirements have been satisfied. The offer of a Master
Contract to a CONTRACTOR is at the sole discretion of the LEA.


The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent
contractors. Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be
provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of
authorized representative.


5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR
TERMINATION


This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference. This Master
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement. This
Master Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.


CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master
Contract or a renewal.


At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance,
insurance documentation and CDE certification. The LEA may require additional information as
applicable. If the application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be
issued. If CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized
representative within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take
effect until the newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first
day of the new Master Contract’s effective date. If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master
Contract within such ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master
Contract for the current school year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California
Education Code section 56366(c)(1) and (2)). In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates,
CONTRACTOR shall continue to be bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed
Master Contract between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing
authorized students at the discretion of the LEA.


6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“ISA”)


This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide
special education and/or related services. An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A). An ISA may be effective for
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect. In the event that
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.


Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement
between the parent and LEA. At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent,
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards
required by law.


3


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793140/383







Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services
specified in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA. (California
Education Code sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)). In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to
provide a specific service at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA
in writing within five (5) business days of the last date a service was provided. CONTRACTOR shall
provide any and all subsequent compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of
provision of services while student was served by the NPS/A.


If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the
OAH, CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the
parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate
by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.
CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.


Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is
located, or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California
Education Code section 56366(c) (2).


7. DEFINITIONS


The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract:


a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the
California Department of Education and its officers, agents and employees.


b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be
responsible for NPS/A. It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan
Area (SELPA) of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in
collaboration with the LEA. The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless
otherwise specified in this Contract.


c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special
education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g).


d. The term “qualified” means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent
to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and
designated instruction and services and has met federal and state certification, licensing,
registration, or other comparable requirements which apply to the area in which he or she is
providing special education or related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34
of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth
in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the
standards of professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the
standards contained in the California Business and Professions  Code.


Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or
regulations.  (Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)).


4


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793141/383







e The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the
Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and
authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and
board and care services at a residential placement. If a license is not available through an
appropriate state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional
organization at the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that
are equivalent to a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations section 3001(l).


f. “Parent” means:
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have


legal authority to make educational decisions for the child,
ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make


educational decisions for the child,
iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a


grandparent, stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who
is legally responsible for the child’s welfare,


iv. a surrogate parent,
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational


decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).


Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and
services for a child. (California Education Code section 56028).


g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified.


h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed
those in comparable LEA programs.


i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education
Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA.


j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such
in this document.


ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES


All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing. Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.


All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page
of this Master Contract. Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of
this Master Contract.


9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS


5


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793142/383







All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5)
years after the termination of this Master Contract. For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b)
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily
service logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including
supervision; daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through
additional instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency
reports (BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however,
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying
credentials held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of
hire, and dates of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid
staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars;
bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A
certifications by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and
expenses; general journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting
documents; documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence
of electronic payments; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records. CONTRACTOR shall maintain
an access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for
each individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the
record(s) provided. Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent;
(b) an individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of
LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information
from the record. CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting
access to student records. For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do
not include subcontractors. CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the
student’s parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in
requesting or receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of
student records, as required by state and federal laws and regulations. CONTRACTOR agrees, in the
event of school or agency closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.
These shall include, but not limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification
of injuries and all other relevant reports. LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of
any and all records upon request within five (5) business days.


10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE


If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the
remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect.


11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST


This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees. CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of
any change of ownership or corporate control.


6


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793143/383







12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW


The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the
County where the LEA is located.


13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES


This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency. The party seeking such modification
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or
modifications made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or
regulation upon which the modification or changes are based.


14. TERMINATION


This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause. The cause shall not be the availability of a
public class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the
student to the public school program at an IEP team meeting. To terminate the contract either party shall
give no less than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)).
At the time of termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents
CONTRACTOR is required to maintain under this Master Contract. ISAs are void upon termination of
this Master Contract, as provided in Section 5 or 6. CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for
cause.  To terminate the ISA, either party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.


15.      INSURANCE 


CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect,
during the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or
admitted insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any
claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection
with CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of
the work or any component or part thereof:


PART I -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES


A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property
damage, with limits as follows:


                       
$2,000,000 per occurrence
$   500,000 fire damage
$       5,000 medical expenses
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury
$3,000,000 general aggregate
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate


The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for
sexual molestation or abuse. In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an
exclusion for sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to
procure a supplemental policy providing such coverage.


7


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793144/383







B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations
pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with
limits of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with
a $1 million combined single limit. 


If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.


If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or
to/from students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA,
CONTRACTOR must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements.


D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage,
including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits:


                                    $1,000,000 per occurrence
                                    $2,000,000 general aggregate


E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request,
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. The certificate
of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision. The Commercial
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by
CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this
contract at no additional charge.


F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved
by the LEA. At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s
sole cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such
deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or
(b) procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation.


G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the
LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained
by the LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's
insurance and shall not contribute with it.


H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the
certificate on the certificate.


PART II -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED WITH
A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”)


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the
following insurance policies are required:


8


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793145/383







A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with
limits as follows:


$3,000,000 per occurrence
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.


The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named
additional insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which
may be applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance
primary despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy. Coverage shall be maintained
with no Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the
LEA.


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’ Compensation
Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service. If the RTC provides student
bus services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence.


D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured
retention.


E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations.


16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS


To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss,
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or
omission of CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or
anyone employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and
obligation to defend shall arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR.
The LEA and the Member District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its
choice to provide the defense at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier.


9


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793146/383







To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that
such loss, expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful
act or omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone
employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR
Indemnities).


LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the
self-insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and
that its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract.


17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR


Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent
relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any
commitment on behalf of the other. Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.


If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principle, employer or co-employer of
CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs,
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.


18. SUBCONTRACTING


CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract. In the event LEA determines that it can provide
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s). If LEA elects to
provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s).


CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the
fullest extent reasonably possible. Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the
term of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.
Each subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance
effecting coverage required by Section 15. The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by
that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.
All endorsements are to be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work
commences. The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the
LEA/SELPA and the LEA Board of Education as additional insured.


As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of
all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master
Contract. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency


10


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793147/383







submitting the certificate. In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in
Section 45 Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.


19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST


CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its
Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated. CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a
conflict of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section
1090 including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or
reports, and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate. Pursuant to California
Education code section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional
needs shall not recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is
employed or contracted by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or
otherwise has a conflict of interest.


The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student
when a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on
assessment(s) or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization
by LEA. This paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or
a report is prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or
whether an assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the
services provided to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure
the appropriateness of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its
recommendations, the LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is
sought to provide service(s) to the student for whom the IEE is requested. Likewise, the LEA may not
fund services through the evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund. When no other appropriate
assessor is available, LEA may request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide
an IEE.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to
executing this contract. This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up
to ten months of the school year by LEA.


CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings.


20. NON-DISCRIMINATION


CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation,
religion, age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity
or expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by
federal or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or
group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.


EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


11


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793148/383







21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE)


The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS,
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services
outlined in the student’s IEP. If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.


Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments,
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this
Master Contract). LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence
disabilities when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the
SELPA/LEA and shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no
longer needed or when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
facilities are adequate to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and
safety regulations. CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not
necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the
student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the
LEA of the written notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA
requirements concerning parent acknowledgment of financial responsibility.


Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in
writing.


22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION


All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE
Certification and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize
evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study
and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational,
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the
particular course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. Students shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted Common Core State
Standards (“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to
8, inclusive; and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to
12, inclusive, used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c)
extracurricular activities, such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and
vocational training, consistent with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental
assistance, including individual academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college
counseling.


12


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793149/383







When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements. CONTRACTOR shall not award a
high school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation
requirements.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. The NPA providing
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.
School-based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or
provided at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team. Except for services provided by a
CONTRACTOR that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school
setting require the presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services,
provided such guardian or caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to
authorize emergency services as requested. LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and
qualified residential or clinical staff is present during the provision of services under this Master Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is
present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA a written description of the services and location provided
prior to the effective date of this Master Contract. CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention
services must have a trained behaviorist or trained equivalent on staff. It is understood that Behavior
Intervention services are limited per CDE Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing.


23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day
provided to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA
developed in accordance with the student’s IEP.


For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA.


The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise
specified in the student’s IEP.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the
student’s IEP.


24. CLASS SIZE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of
one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing. Upon
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a


13


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793150/383







ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to
provide services to students with disabilities.


In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students,
and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff. The NPS and the LEA
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher. Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by
both parties.  This provision does not apply to a NPA.


CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to
child ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq.


25. CALENDARS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar
with the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days
equivalent to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar. Billable days
shall include only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or
required by the IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to
change its school calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of
the LEA. Nothing in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests
for calendar changes.


Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site. A
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA. Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20)
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA. Any days of
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior
to the start of the extended school year.


Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended
school year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be
eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing,
in advance of the delivery of any NPS service. Any instructional days provided without this written
agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.


CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA. Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day,
Memorial Day and Independence Day. With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved
calendar prior to the initiation of services. CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar. CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the
LEA-developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA. Unless otherwise
specified in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on
only those days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends
school. CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated
on the LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing. Student must have


14


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793151/383







actually been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for
CONTRACTOR to be eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be
provided on weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the
LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR. Any
instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of
the CONTRACTOR.


26. DATA REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing
information with LEA. CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract,
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA. It is
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development,
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.
Additional progress reporting may be required by the LEA. The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR
with appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access.


Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA,
CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a
statutory offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of
suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections
48900 and 48915. CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral
restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900
and 48915.


The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including,
but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports. The LEA may approve use of
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion.


27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive
Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum
extent appropriate.


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. This shall include IEP team
consideration of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the
LRE and necessary to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings.


When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting,
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support
the transition.


28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall
administer all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and
Progress (“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative
Assessment (“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the
Fitness Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative


15


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793152/383







English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to
the student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.


CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools. Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability
program. LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as
required by LEA.


29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS


CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of: curriculum, high school graduation,
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with
disabilities, dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and
standardized testing and IEPs. LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated
meetings.  Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s).


30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1
and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of
others must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in
accordance with the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a
student’s behavior impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations. This could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan
(“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through
the development of behavioral goals and behavioral interventions to support those goals.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil
population. The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any
contact or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or
interaction with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in
accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written
records of the training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency.


CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined
as a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.


16


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793153/383







It requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a
physical intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious
property damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used. Emergencies
require a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four
(24) hours for administrative action. CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours
via telephone. If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review
the behavior emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment,
and to determine an interim plan. If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify
the BIP if a new serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to
be ineffective. CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or
pay for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following:
(1) any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to,
electric-shock; (2) an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant
sprays, mists, or substances in proximity to the face of the individual; (3) an intervention that denies
adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or access to bathroom facilities; (4) an
intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to verbal abuse,
ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma; (5) restrictive
interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize all four
extremities, including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone containment or
similar techniques may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency intervention; (6) locked
seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a locked room; (7) an
intervention that precludes adequate supervision of the individual; (8) an intervention that deprives the
individual of one or more of his or her senses.


In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations.


All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are
used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or
multiple uses by the same individual. CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when
any type of physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used. Upon the use of any type of
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER
per the reporting and notification requirements listed above.


31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with
state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA,
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all
statutory offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include
incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a
violation of Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915.


When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to: the student’s name; the time, date, and


17


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793154/383







description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for
such disciplinary action. A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written
discipline report. CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.


32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS


An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each
student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements
of Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at
the NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may
be transitioned to a public school setting. (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and
(ii)) and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)


If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for
any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document, if appropriate, a description of activities
provided to integrate the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity
as well as the time spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to
support the transition of the student from the special education program into the regular education
program. Each student shall be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her
IEP team. Except as otherwise provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall
participate in all IEP team meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. At
any time during the term of this Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request
a review of the student’s IEP, subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable
notice given to, and participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting. Every effort shall be made to
schedule IEP team meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR
and LEA. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service
providers upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures. It is understood that attendance at
an IEP meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under
this Master Contract.


It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for
all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion. The LEA or SELPA may provide training
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the
system. When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of
the approved system for that student.


Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP. In
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change
in the student’s placement. Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented
placement unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful
and appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States
Code.


33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH


CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as
the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR


18


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793155/383







300.1-300.756. A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section
42238.01(b). The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the
educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any
time after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule
the pupil in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless
provided notice otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1.


34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS


CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations
and hearings, as requested by LEA. Participation further includes the willingness to make
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or
any other state and/or federal governmental body or agency. Full participation shall include, but in no
way be limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any
investigator and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family
Service Plan (“IFSP”).


35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent
complaints. These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following: (1) Uniform Complaint
Procedures pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2)
Nondiscrimination policy pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3)
Sexual Harassment Policy, California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance
Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) (d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). CONTRACTOR shall include
verification of these procedures to the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any
complaints filed against it related to LEA students and provide LEA with all documentation related to the
complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, including any and all reports generated as a result of an
investigation.


36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS


Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards. At a minimum, progress
reports shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives. A copy of the progress
reports/report cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted
to the LEA and LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly.


The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used
to determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes,
data sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of
progress on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans. The LEA may
request such data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service. The CONTRACTOR shall
provide this data supporting progress within five (5) business days of request. Additional time may be
granted as needed by the LEA.


19


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793156/383







CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and
pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices. CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies
of its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business
days prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test
protocols and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of
request.


The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and
objectives, progress reporting and development of present levels of performance. All assessments
resulting from an assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a
request that CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment. Any assessment and/or evaluation
costs may be added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion.


It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA. For
NPA services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection
3065, shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA. Supervision means the direct
observation of services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional
standards for each professional’s license, certification, or credential.


CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports,
report cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or
meetings. It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with
the IEP. It is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of
the pupil’s record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request.


37. TRANSCRIPTS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester,
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures. CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names
of students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the
LEA.


38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE


Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of
residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence as specified
in LEA Procedures. Upon enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation
to notify CONTRACTOR of the student’s change of residence. CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and
provide upon request by LEA, documentation of such notice to parents.


If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of
residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.


39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM


CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5)
business days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services,


20


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793157/383







including student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and student’s
discharge against professional advice from a NPS/RTC.


40. PARENT ACCESS


CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but
not limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living
quarters. CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental visits and access
to LEA students.


CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s
reasonable request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC. CONTRACTOR
shall require that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR
and the LEA at least thirty (30) days in advance. CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all parent travel and
accommodations and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate. Payment by LEA for
approved travel-related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent with LEA
Procedures.


CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an
emergency, is present. The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the
LEA prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in
emergency situations. The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written
authorization for emergency situation. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer
associated with the NPS/NPA service provider.


All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in
writing, to the LEA.


41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS


If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational
placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and
Safety Code section 1501.1(b), AB 1858 (2004), AB490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003), AB 1261
(2005), AB 1166 Chapter 171 (2015), AB 167 Chapter 224 (2010), AB 216 Chapter 324 (2013), AB 379
Chapter 772 (2015), AB 1012 Chapter 703 (2015), and the procedures set forth in the LEA Procedures.
An LCI shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its residential
facility.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1412(a)(1)(A) and Education Code
section 56000, et seq.; amended and reorganized by the Individuals with Disabilities Education
Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA), 20 U.S.C. section 1401(29); Education Code section 56031; Cal.
Code Regs., Title 5, section 3001 et seq., regarding the provision of counseling services, including
residential care for students to receive a FAPE as set forth in the LEA student’s IEPs. CONTRACTOR
shall meet all monitoring requirements as noted in Section 43 below.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall
provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special
education. For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education


21


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793158/383







eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA.


Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed
agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational
decision-making rights.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively,
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


42. STATE MEAL MANDATE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under
California Education Code sections 49530, 49530.5 and 49550.


43. MONITORING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a
master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is
making toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation
of the pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA (or SELPA) shall report the
findings resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar
days of the onsite visit.


The LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement.


CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring
of each student’s instructional program. LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.
Such access shall include unannounced monitoring visits. When making site visits, LEA shall initially
report to CONTRACTOR's site administrative office. CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in
the review of each student’s progress.


If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code
section 1501.1(b).


The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S
facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching
staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three.


22


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793159/383







CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted
as aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education
Code section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with
relevant state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct
any follow-up or corrective action procedures related to review findings.


CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without
cause. The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health
and safety; curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California
Education Code Section 33126.


PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237,
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI
clearance are ascertained. CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees,
and volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with
students, or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or
serious felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite
the employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j). Contractor shall certify to
LEA that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest notification service
for all employees who may come into contact with students.


Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information,
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for
each owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A. CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence
on-site, as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.
Background clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal
Code section 11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.


45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license,
certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant
to Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065. Such qualified staff may only provide related
services within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set
by each profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or
special education teacher’s scope of practice.


23


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793160/383







CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and
services to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation
provided to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)).
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and
instructional leader, and be able to provide leadership, oversight and professional development. The
administrator of the NPS holds or is in the process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An
administrative credential granted by an accredited postsecondary educational institution and two years of
experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school
counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree issued
by an accredited postsecondary institution in education, special education, psychology, counseling,
behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special
education instruction and at least two years of experience teaching in special education before becoming
an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (H) A license as an educational psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A
license as a professional clinical counselor issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California
Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5))
CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides
and teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code
sections 45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq. Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to,
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted
by CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall
possess a high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following
qualifications: (a) completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b)
obtained an associate’s (or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate,
through a formal state or local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing,
reading, writing, and mathematics; or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading
readiness, writing readiness, and mathematics readiness, as appropriate. CONTRACTOR shall comply
with all laws and regulations governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the
provisions with respect to supervision.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials,
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools. CONTRACTOR shall provide the
LEA with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis
Test clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals
starting to work with any student.


CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel
changes occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA


24


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793161/383







students. CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications
or waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal
complaint or lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA
shall not be obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or
waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such
person is providing services under this Master Contract. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any
changes in credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or
suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


47. STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s
service providers. It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified
substitute for their student. LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA
representative.


48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME


It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services. All practices shall only be
within the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each
profession as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations
when made available to the CONTRACTOR.


For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus
consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is
responsible for the instructional program.


CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure
that at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make
decisions in an emergency is present during provision of services. The names of any adult caregiver other
than the parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including
written and signed authorization in emergency situations. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee
or volunteer associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by
CONTRACTOR to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA.


HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations,
ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety. CONTRACTOR
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406,


25


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793162/383







regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis.
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed,
contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in
contact with a student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code.


50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that
comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not
limited to: disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning
systems; zoning permits; and occupancy capacity. When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR
shall conduct fire drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to
CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws,
regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or
relocation of facilities may result in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49423 when
CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter medication
during the school day. CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by
which such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered. Such
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.
CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for ensuring appropriate staff training in the administration
of such medication consistent with physician’s written orders. Any change in medication type,
administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized by both a licensed physician and parent.


52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures
specified in LEA Procedures.


53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING


CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and
procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will


26


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793163/383







remain confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates. A written statement
acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such
reporting shall be submitted to the LEA.


54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT


CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the
kinds of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy,
as well as federal and state law. The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.


55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN


CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to
adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section
49370. A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA. The written statement shall be
submitted as specified by the LEA.


FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND
BILLING PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial
resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance
reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same. CONTRACTOR
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA. All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service,
and services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides. Original
attendance forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes
for instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be
available for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a
period of five (5) years thereafter. CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported
attendance that is the basis of services being billed for payment.


CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar
month when education or related services were provided. Invoices and related documents shall be
properly submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner
prescribed by LEA. At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of
service; specific days and times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise
specified in the IEP or agreed to by the LEA; name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of


27


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793164/383







each invoice; total for each service and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature
of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE
certificates and staff notification; verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication
of any made-up session consistent with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided
consistent with the ISA (monthly or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials
of each student for when the service was provided.


In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be
included.


Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract. At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training.


Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period
in which the services were rendered. LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45)
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.
LEA shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a
completely corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA.


In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June)
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year. In no case shall any rebilling for the
Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal
year unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a
delay in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher
qualification, but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year. If the billing or
re-billing error is the responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and
CONTRACTOR have communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the
close of the fiscal year.  LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee.


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT


LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when: (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in
whole or in part, under the terms of this contract; (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on
days other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not
receive services; (c) CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or
audit of its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting
documentation with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e) education and/or related services are
provided to students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified;
(f) LEA has not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning one
or more students enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm
a student’s change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district,
but fails to notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation; or (h) CONTRACTOR receives
payment from Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It
is understood that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months
following the close of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.


Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a
Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for


28


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793165/383







regular ongoing operations. In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a
review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA. Such review or audit will be completed within ninety
(90) days. The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR
determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected.


The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding
paragraph are as follows: (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount
of overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided
by CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e) the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service
provided to the student.


If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10)
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding
payment. Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is
unfounded. Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment
will be denied.


If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment
should not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it
believes payment should not be withheld. LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty
(30) business days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the
reason LEA believes payment should not be made. If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business
days or a dispute regarding the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to
CONTRACTOR’s notice, CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.


After forty-five (45) business days: The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s
Representative of the dispute in writing. The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the
CONTRACTOR in writing within fifteen (15) business days.


After sixty (60) business days:  The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and
expenses arising out of such mediation.  Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any
mediation process agreed to by the parties.


58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES


CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated
with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal
or any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services
to students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA


29


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793166/383







students’ public benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided
before seeking payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually.


59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE


Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an
appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with
California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of
substitute coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned
class during all instructional time. LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction
or service is provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher.


Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in
Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute. LEA will not pay for services unless a
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP.


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE


If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s
unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.


Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307. LEA shall not pay for services provided on days
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under
state law. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor
shall student be eligible for make-up services.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service
providers. LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA. In the event services
were not provided, reasons for why the services were not provided shall be included.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE


30


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793167/383







If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence. LEA shall not be responsible for the payment
of services when a student is absent.


60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY


The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent
with guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392:


a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately
as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending
LEA is open or closed.  


b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education
Code section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student,
CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to
CONTRACTOR’S school closure. If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement,
CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the
student were continuing his/her regular attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and
implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to
emergency conditions.


c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative
placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.


When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost
instructional minutes.  CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as
appropriate.


61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT


The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the
books, records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs
claimed to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement.


CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to: student records
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily
service logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily
service logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior
intervention aides, bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business
licenses held, documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff
time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service
subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation
insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if
incorporated; other documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports
Form 941/DE3DP; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof. Such access shall
include unannounced inspections by LEA. CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary


31


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793168/383







information including operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract
period being audited.


CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge. All records shall be provided to LEA
within five (5) working days of a written request from LEA. CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA,
provide assistance for such examination or audit. LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access
to CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees. If any document
or evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the
LEA agrees to the use of the electronic format.


CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.


If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA
shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and
specifying the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in
writing, CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing and/or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as
determined by an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an
independent agency/firm. CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of
receipt of LEA’s written notice demanding payment.


62. RATE SCHEDULE


The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum
dollar amount of the contract. It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided
specific services. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may
be adjusted proportionally. In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as noted in California Education Code Section
46200-46208.


Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified
personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A.


63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION


By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that:


(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by
any Federal agency, and


(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil
judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection
with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract
or subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers;
or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records,
making false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted
for, or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of


32


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793169/383







these offenses.


33


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793170/383







The parties hereto have executed this Contract by and through their duly authorized agents or
representatives. This contract is effective on the 1st day of July, 2022 and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on
June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided herein.


CONTRACTOR LEA


___SPEECHRIGHTER_______________ __NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA___
Nonpublic School/Agency LEA Name


By: ________________________________ By:  __________________________________
Signature                              Date Signature                                   Date


_Cristienne Colip Clinical Director___ _JESSICA LITTLE, SR. SELPA DIRECTOR_
Name and Title of Authorized Name and Title of Authorized
Representative Representative


Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed to: Notices to LEA shall be addressed to:


JESSICA LITTLE, SR. SELPA DIRECTOR
Name and Title Name and Title


NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Nonpublic School/Agency/Related Service Provider LEA


400 ENCINAL STREET


Address Address
SANTA CRUZ               CA                 95060


City State Zip City State Zip
831-466-5700                 831-466-5964


Phone                                   Fax Phone                                   Fax
jlittle@santacruzcoe.org


Email Email


Additional LEA Notification
(Required if completed)


Name and Title


Address


City State Zip


Phone                                   Fax


Email


34


02 / 22 / 202202 / 16 / 2022


Cris Colip


Cris Colip, Clinical ir


SpeechRighter, Inc.


820 Bay Avenue Ste. 212


Capitola CA


831-854-2060


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793171/383







EXHIBIT A:   2022-2023 RATES


4.1 RATE SCHEDULE FOR CONTRACT YEAR


The CONTRACTOR:   SPEECHRIGHTER   
The CONTRACTOR CDS NUMBER:      


PER ED CODE 56366 – TEACHER-TO-PUPIL RATIO:     


Maximum Contract Amount:      


Education service(s) offered by the CONTRACTOR and the charges for such service(s) during the term of this contract shall be as follows:


1) Daily Basic Education Rate:      


2) Inclusive Education Program
(Includes Educational Counseling (not ed related mental health) services, Speech & Language services, Behavior Intervention
Planning, and Occupational Therapy as specified on the student’s IEP.) DAILY RATE:      


3) Related Services


SERVICE RATE PERIOD


Intensive Individual Services (340)            


Language and Speech (415)      $125      Hourly


Adapted Physical Education (425)            


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical Health Care (435)            


Health and Nursing: Other Services (436)            


Assistive Technology Services (445)            


Occupational Therapy (450)      $125      Hourly


Physical Therapy (460)            


Individual Counseling (510)            


Counseling and Guidance (515)            


Parent Counseling (520)            


Social Work Services (525)            


Psychological Services (530)            


Behavior Intervention Services (535)            


Specialized Services for Low Incidence Disabilities (610)            


35


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793172/383







Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing (710)            


Interpreter Services (715)            


Audiological Services (720)            


Specialized Vision Services (725)            


Orientation and Mobility (730)            


Specialized Orthopedic Services (740)            


Reader Services (745)            


Transcription Services (755)            


Recreation Services, Including Therapeutic (760)            


College Awareness (820)            


Work Experience Education (850)            


Job Coaching (855)            


Mentoring (860)            


Travel Training (870)            


Other Transition Services (890)            


Other (900)            


Other (900)            


36


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793173/383







EXHIBIT B:   2022-2023 ISA


INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (ISA) FOR NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL SERVICES
(Education Code Sections 56365 et seq.)


This agreement is effective on July 1, 2022 or the date student begins attending a nonpublic school or receiving services from a nonpublic agency,
if after the date identified, and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided in the Master Contract and by applicable law.


Local Education Agency       Nonpublic School      


LEA Case Manager:  Name       Phone Number      


Pupil Name                 Sex: ☐  M ☐  F Grade:      
(Last)                                                       (First) (M.I.)


Address       City       State/Zip      


DOB       Residential Setting:   ☐ Home ☐ Foster ☐ LCI  #       ☐ OTHER      


Parent/Guardian       Phone (      )       (       )      
(Residence) (Business)


Address       City       State/Zip      
(If different from student)


AGREEMENT TERMS:


1. Nonpublic School: The average number of minutes in the instructional day will be:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


2. Nonpublic School: The number of school days in the calendar of the school year are:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


3. Educational services as specified in the IEP shall be provided by the CONTRACTOR and paid at the rates specified below.


A. INCLUSIVE AND/OR BASIC EDUCATION PROGRAM RATE: (Applies to nonpublic schools only): Daily Rate:      


Estimated Number of Days       x Daily Rate       = PROJECTED BASIC EDUCATION  COSTS      


B.  RELATED SERVICES:
Provider


SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER
Specify


# of Times per
wk/mo/yr., Duration;


or per IEP;
or as needed


Cost per
session


Maximum
Number of
Sessions


Estimated Maximum
Total Cost for


Contracted Period


Intensive Individual Services (340)      
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


Language/Speech Therapy (415)
a.  Individual
b.  Group


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


Adapted Physical Ed. (425)


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical
Health Care (435)


                                         


Health and Nursing Services: Other (436)
                                         


Assistive Technology Services (445)
                                         


37


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793174/383







Provider


Occupational Therapy (450)
                                         


Physical Therapy (460)
                                         


Individual Counseling (510)
                                         


Counseling and guidance (515).
                                         


Parent Counseling (520)
                                         


Social Work Services (525)
                                         


Psychological Services (530)
                                         


Behavior Intervention Services (535)
                                         


Specialized Services for Low Incidence
Disabilities (610)


                                         


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing
Services (710)


                                         


Interpreter Services (715)
                                         


Audiological Services (720)
                                         


Specialized Vision Services (725)
                                         


Orientation and Mobility (730)
                                         


Braille Transcription (735)
                                         


Specialized Orthopedic Service (740)
                                         


Reader Services (745)
                                         


Note Taking Services (750)
                                         


Transcription Services (755)
                                         


Recreation Services (760)
                                         


College Awareness Preparation (820)
                                         


Vocational Assessment, Counseling,
Guidance and Career Assessment (830)


                                         


Career Awareness (840)
                                         


Work Experience Education (850)
                                         


Mentoring (860)
                                         


Agency Linkages (865)
                                         


Travel Training (870)
                                         


Other Transition Services (890)
                                         


Other (900)J
                                         


Other (900)
                                         


Transportation-Emergency
b. Transportation-Parent


                                         


38


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793175/383







Provider


Bus Passes
                                         


Other
                                         


ESTIMATED MAXIMUM RELATED SERVICES COST$      


TOTAL ESTIMATED MAXIMUM BASIC EDUCATION AND RELATED SERVICES COSTS $      


4. Other Provisions/Attachments:


     


5. MASTER CONTRACT APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD ON      


6.Progress Reporting
Requirements:


Quarterl
y


Monthl
y


Other
(Specify)


The parties hereto have executed this Individual Services Agreement by and through their duly authorized agents or representatives as set forth
below.


-CONTRACTOR- -LEA/SELPA-


(Name of Nonpublic School/Agency)


(Name of LEA/SELPA)


(Signature) (Date) (Signature)                                                                                (Date)


(Name and Title) (Name of Superintendent or Authorized Designee)


39


Doc ID: d3e8f55046fdea3937fe4bf307b54040a9109793176/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 5.1.1.5. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Nonpublic School: Brite Horizons 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Nonpublic Agency contract for new and continuing services through the 
2022-2023 regular school year. Due to the confidentiality regulations that protect the identity of 
students with disabilities, the student names have been omitted. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract renewal for Brite Horizons will provide Basic Education, Intensive Individual 
Services, Speech and Language, Individual Counseling and Occupational Therapy for five 
students in Special Education as per their Individual Education Plan (IEP). Service Period: July 1, 
2022 through June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $630,431.25 Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


177/383







NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN
SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES


MASTER CONTRACT


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b178/383







NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Contract Year 2022-2023


X
Nonpublic School


Nonpublic Agency


Type of Contract:


X Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the
term of this contract.


Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA)
into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.


Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates.  The sole purpose
of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole
discretion of the LEA.  Expiration Date:___________


When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above
shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b179/383







TABLE OF CONTENTS


I. GENERAL PROVISIONS Page


1. MASTER CONTRACT 1
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES 1
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS 2
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT 2
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT


FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION 3
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 3
7. DEFINITIONS 4


II. ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES 5
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS 5
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 6
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 6
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW 6
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO


CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES 6
14. TERMINATION 6
15. INSURANCE 6
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 9
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 9
18. SUBCONTRACTING 9
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 10
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION 10


III. EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION 11
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION 11
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES 12
24. CLASS SIZE 12
25. CALENDARS 13
26. DATA REPORTING 13
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT 14
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING 14
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS 14
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS 15
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE 16
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS 16
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH 17
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS 17
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 17
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS 18


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b180/383







37. TRANSCRIPTS 18
38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE 19
39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM 19
40. PARENT ACCESS 19
41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS


AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS 19
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE 20
43. MONITORING 20


IV. PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS 21
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS 21
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 22
47. STAFF ABSENCE 23
48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR 23


V. HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY 23
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS 24
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION 24
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING 24
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING 24
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT 25
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN 25


VI. FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,
ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES 25


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT 26
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES 27
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES 27
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY 28
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT 28
62. RATE SCHEDULE 29
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION 29


EXHIBIT A: RATES 32
EXHIBIT B:  INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 34


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b181/383







2022-2023                                                      CONTRACT NUMBER:


LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:  NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA    


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:  BRITE HORIZONS    


NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES
MASTER CONTRACT


AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS


1. MASTER CONTRACT


This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2022, between NORTH SANTA CRUZ
COUNTY SELPA, hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), and BRITE
HORIZONS (nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency), hereinafter referred to as NPS/A or
“CONTRACTOR” for the purpose of providing special education and/or related services to students with
exceptional needs under the authorization of California Education Code sections 56157, 56361 and 56365
et seq. and Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 (Chapter 862,
Statutes of 2003) and AB 1858 (Chapter 914, Statutes of 2004). It is understood that this agreement does
not commit the LEA to pay for special education and/or related services provided to any student, or
CONTRACTOR to provide such special education and/or related services, unless and until an authorized
LEA representative approves the provision of special education and/or related services by
CONTRACTOR.


Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Services Agreement
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”). Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”). The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by
CONTRACTOR. As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic
IEP system and/or electronic database for ISA developing including invoicing.


Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is
not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an
IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP
is signed by the student’s parent.


2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES


CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et
seq and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification and/or credential.
A current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification issued by the
CDE pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the date this


1


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b182/383







Agreement is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such
certification or waiver is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of
this Master Contract. Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification
and in Section 24 of the Master Contract.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related
services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to,
individuals with exceptional needs. The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to
the protection of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so
placed. If the CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all
required licenses from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI
is located.


With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency;
(4) major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result
in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master
Contract by the LEA.


3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS


During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).


CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a).


4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT


The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 (Title 5 California Code of
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated. Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is
required to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years. The parties acknowledge that any
subsequent Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2023. In the event the contract
negotiations are not agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in
effect for 90 days. (Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be


2


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b183/383







offered unless and until all of the contracting requirements have been satisfied. The offer of a Master
Contract to a CONTRACTOR is at the sole discretion of the LEA.


The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent
contractors. Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be
provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of
authorized representative.


5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR
TERMINATION


This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference. This Master
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement. This
Master Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.


CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master
Contract or a renewal.


At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance,
insurance documentation and CDE certification. The LEA may require additional information as
applicable. If the application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be
issued. If CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized
representative within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take
effect until the newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first
day of the new Master Contract’s effective date. If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master
Contract within such ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master
Contract for the current school year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California
Education Code section 56366(c)(1) and (2)). In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates,
CONTRACTOR shall continue to be bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed
Master Contract between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing
authorized students at the discretion of the LEA.


6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“ISA”)


This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide
special education and/or related services. An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A). An ISA may be effective for
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect. In the event that
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.


Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement
between the parent and LEA. At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent,
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards
required by law.


3


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b184/383







Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services
specified in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA. (California
Education Code sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)). In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to
provide a specific service at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA
in writing within five (5) business days of the last date a service was provided. CONTRACTOR shall
provide any and all subsequent compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of
provision of services while student was served by the NPS/A.


If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the
OAH, CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the
parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate
by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.
CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.


Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is
located, or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California
Education Code section 56366(c) (2).


7. DEFINITIONS


The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract:


a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the
California Department of Education and its officers, agents and employees.


b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be
responsible for NPS/A. It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan
Area (SELPA) of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in
collaboration with the LEA. The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless
otherwise specified in this Contract.


c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special
education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g).


d. The term “qualified” means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent
to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and
designated instruction and services and has met federal and state certification, licensing,
registration, or other comparable requirements which apply to the area in which he or she is
providing special education or related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34
of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth
in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the
standards of professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the
standards contained in the California Business and Professions  Code.


Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or
regulations.  (Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)).


4


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b185/383







e The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the
Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and
authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and
board and care services at a residential placement. If a license is not available through an
appropriate state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional
organization at the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that
are equivalent to a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations section 3001(l).


f. “Parent” means:
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have


legal authority to make educational decisions for the child,
ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make


educational decisions for the child,
iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a


grandparent, stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who
is legally responsible for the child’s welfare,


iv. a surrogate parent,
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational


decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).


Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and
services for a child. (California Education Code section 56028).


g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified.


h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed
those in comparable LEA programs.


i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education
Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA.


j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such
in this document.


ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT


8. NOTICES


All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing. Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.


All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page
of this Master Contract. Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of
this Master Contract.


9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS


5


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b186/383







All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5)
years after the termination of this Master Contract. For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b)
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily
service logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including
supervision; daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through
additional instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency
reports (BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however,
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying
credentials held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of
hire, and dates of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid
staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars;
bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A
certifications by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and
expenses; general journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting
documents; documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence
of electronic payments; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records. CONTRACTOR shall maintain
an access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for
each individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the
record(s) provided. Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent;
(b) an individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of
LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information
from the record. CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting
access to student records. For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do
not include subcontractors. CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the
student’s parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in
requesting or receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of
student records, as required by state and federal laws and regulations. CONTRACTOR agrees, in the
event of school or agency closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.
These shall include, but not limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification
of injuries and all other relevant reports. LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of
any and all records upon request within five (5) business days.


10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE


If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the
remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect.


11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST


This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees. CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of
any change of ownership or corporate control.


6


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b187/383







12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW


The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the
County where the LEA is located.


13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES


This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency. The party seeking such modification
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or
modifications made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or
regulation upon which the modification or changes are based.


14. TERMINATION


This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause. The cause shall not be the availability of a
public class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the
student to the public school program at an IEP team meeting. To terminate the contract either party shall
give no less than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)).
At the time of termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents
CONTRACTOR is required to maintain under this Master Contract. ISAs are void upon termination of
this Master Contract, as provided in Section 5 or 6. CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for
cause.  To terminate the ISA, either party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.


15.      INSURANCE 


CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect,
during the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or
admitted insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any
claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection
with CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of
the work or any component or part thereof:


PART I -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES


A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property
damage, with limits as follows:


                       
$2,000,000 per occurrence
$   500,000 fire damage
$       5,000 medical expenses
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury
$3,000,000 general aggregate
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate


The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for
sexual molestation or abuse. In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an
exclusion for sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to
procure a supplemental policy providing such coverage.


7


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b188/383







B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations
pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with
limits of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with
a $1 million combined single limit. 


If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.


If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or
to/from students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA,
CONTRACTOR must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements.


D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage,
including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits:


                                    $1,000,000 per occurrence
                                    $2,000,000 general aggregate


E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request,
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. The certificate
of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision. The Commercial
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by
CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this
contract at no additional charge.


F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved
by the LEA. At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s
sole cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such
deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or
(b) procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation.


G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the
LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained
by the LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's
insurance and shall not contribute with it.


H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the
certificate on the certificate.


PART II -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED WITH
A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”)


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the
following insurance policies are required:


8


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b189/383







A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with
limits as follows:


$3,000,000 per occurrence
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.


The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named
additional insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which
may be applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance
primary despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy. Coverage shall be maintained
with no Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the
LEA.


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’ Compensation
Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.


C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service. If the RTC provides student
bus services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence.


D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured
retention.


E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.


If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations.


16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS


To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss,
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or
omission of CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or
anyone employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and
obligation to defend shall arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR.
The LEA and the Member District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its
choice to provide the defense at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier.


9


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b190/383







To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that
such loss, expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful
act or omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone
employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR
Indemnities).


LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the
self-insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and
that its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract.


17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR


Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent
relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any
commitment on behalf of the other. Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.


If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principle, employer or co-employer of
CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs,
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.


18. SUBCONTRACTING


CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract. In the event LEA determines that it can provide
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s). If LEA elects to
provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s).


CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the
fullest extent reasonably possible. Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the
term of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.
Each subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance
effecting coverage required by Section 15. The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by
that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.
All endorsements are to be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work
commences. The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the
LEA/SELPA and the LEA Board of Education as additional insured.


As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of
all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master
Contract. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency


10


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b191/383







submitting the certificate. In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in
Section 45 Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.


19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST


CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its
Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated. CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a
conflict of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section
1090 including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or
reports, and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate. Pursuant to California
Education code section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional
needs shall not recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is
employed or contracted by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or
otherwise has a conflict of interest.


The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student
when a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on
assessment(s) or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization
by LEA. This paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or
a report is prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or
whether an assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the
services provided to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure
the appropriateness of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its
recommendations, the LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is
sought to provide service(s) to the student for whom the IEE is requested. Likewise, the LEA may not
fund services through the evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund. When no other appropriate
assessor is available, LEA may request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide
an IEE.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to
executing this contract. This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up
to ten months of the school year by LEA.


CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings.


20. NON-DISCRIMINATION


CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation,
religion, age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity
or expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by
federal or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or
group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.


EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM


11


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b192/383







21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE)


The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS,
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services
outlined in the student’s IEP. If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.


Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments,
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this
Master Contract). LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence
disabilities when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the
SELPA/LEA and shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no
longer needed or when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
facilities are adequate to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and
safety regulations. CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not
necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the
student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the
LEA of the written notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA
requirements concerning parent acknowledgment of financial responsibility.


Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in
writing.


22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION


All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE
Certification and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize
evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study
and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational,
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the
particular course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. Students shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted Common Core State
Standards (“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to
8, inclusive; and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to
12, inclusive, used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c)
extracurricular activities, such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and
vocational training, consistent with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental
assistance, including individual academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college
counseling.


12


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b193/383







When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements. CONTRACTOR shall not award a
high school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation
requirements.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. The NPA providing
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.
School-based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or
provided at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team. Except for services provided by a
CONTRACTOR that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school
setting require the presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services,
provided such guardian or caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to
authorize emergency services as requested. LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and
qualified residential or clinical staff is present during the provision of services under this Master Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is
present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA a written description of the services and location provided
prior to the effective date of this Master Contract. CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention
services must have a trained behaviorist or trained equivalent on staff. It is understood that Behavior
Intervention services are limited per CDE Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing.


23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day
provided to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA
developed in accordance with the student’s IEP.


For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA.


The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise
specified in the student’s IEP.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the
student’s IEP.


24. CLASS SIZE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of
one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing. Upon
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a


13


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b194/383







ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to
provide services to students with disabilities.


In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students,
and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff. The NPS and the LEA
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher. Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by
both parties.  This provision does not apply to a NPA.


CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to
child ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq.


25. CALENDARS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar
with the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days
equivalent to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar. Billable days
shall include only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or
required by the IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to
change its school calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of
the LEA. Nothing in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests
for calendar changes.


Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site. A
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA. Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20)
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA. Any days of
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior
to the start of the extended school year.


Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended
school year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be
eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing,
in advance of the delivery of any NPS service. Any instructional days provided without this written
agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.


CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA. Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day,
Memorial Day and Independence Day. With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved
calendar prior to the initiation of services. CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar. CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the
LEA-developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA. Unless otherwise
specified in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on
only those days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends
school. CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated
on the LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing. Student must have


14


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b195/383







actually been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for
CONTRACTOR to be eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be
provided on weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the
LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR. Any
instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of
the CONTRACTOR.


26. DATA REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing
information with LEA. CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract,
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA. It is
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development,
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.
Additional progress reporting may be required by the LEA. The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR
with appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access.


Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA,
CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a
statutory offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of
suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections
48900 and 48915. CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral
restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900
and 48915.


The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including,
but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports. The LEA may approve use of
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion.


27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive
Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum
extent appropriate.


CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. This shall include IEP team
consideration of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the
LRE and necessary to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings.


When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting,
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support
the transition.


28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall
administer all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and
Progress (“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative
Assessment (“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the
Fitness Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative


15


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b196/383







English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to
the student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.


CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools. Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability
program. LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as
required by LEA.


29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS


CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of: curriculum, high school graduation,
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with
disabilities, dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and
standardized testing and IEPs. LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated
meetings.  Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s).


30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1
and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of
others must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in
accordance with the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a
student’s behavior impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations. This could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan
(“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through
the development of behavioral goals and behavioral interventions to support those goals.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil
population. The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any
contact or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or
interaction with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in
accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written
records of the training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency.


CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined
as a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.


16


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b197/383







It requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a
physical intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious
property damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used. Emergencies
require a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four
(24) hours for administrative action. CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours
via telephone. If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review
the behavior emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment,
and to determine an interim plan. If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify
the BIP if a new serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to
be ineffective. CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.


Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or
pay for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following:
(1) any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to,
electric-shock; (2) an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant
sprays, mists, or substances in proximity to the face of the individual; (3) an intervention that denies
adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or access to bathroom facilities; (4) an
intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to verbal abuse,
ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma; (5) restrictive
interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize all four
extremities, including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone containment or
similar techniques may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency intervention; (6) locked
seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a locked room; (7) an
intervention that precludes adequate supervision of the individual; (8) an intervention that deprives the
individual of one or more of his or her senses.


In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations.


All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are
used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or
multiple uses by the same individual. CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when
any type of physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used. Upon the use of any type of
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER
per the reporting and notification requirements listed above.


31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with
state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA,
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all
statutory offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include
incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a
violation of Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915.


When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to: the student’s name; the time, date, and


17


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b198/383







description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for
such disciplinary action. A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written
discipline report. CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.


32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS


An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each
student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements
of Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at
the NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may
be transitioned to a public school setting. (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and
(ii)) and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)


If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for
any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document, if appropriate, a description of activities
provided to integrate the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity
as well as the time spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to
support the transition of the student from the special education program into the regular education
program. Each student shall be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her
IEP team. Except as otherwise provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall
participate in all IEP team meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. At
any time during the term of this Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request
a review of the student’s IEP, subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable
notice given to, and participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting. Every effort shall be made to
schedule IEP team meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR
and LEA. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service
providers upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures. It is understood that attendance at
an IEP meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under
this Master Contract.


It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for
all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion. The LEA or SELPA may provide training
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the
system. When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of
the approved system for that student.


Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP. In
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change
in the student’s placement. Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented
placement unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful
and appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States
Code.


33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH


CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as
the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR


18


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b199/383







300.1-300.756. A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section
42238.01(b). The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the
educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any
time after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule
the pupil in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless
provided notice otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1.


34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS


CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations
and hearings, as requested by LEA. Participation further includes the willingness to make
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or
any other state and/or federal governmental body or agency. Full participation shall include, but in no
way be limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any
investigator and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family
Service Plan (“IFSP”).


35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent
complaints. These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following: (1) Uniform Complaint
Procedures pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2)
Nondiscrimination policy pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3)
Sexual Harassment Policy, California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance
Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) (d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). CONTRACTOR shall include
verification of these procedures to the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any
complaints filed against it related to LEA students and provide LEA with all documentation related to the
complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, including any and all reports generated as a result of an
investigation.


36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS


Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards. At a minimum, progress
reports shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives. A copy of the progress
reports/report cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted
to the LEA and LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly.


The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used
to determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes,
data sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of
progress on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans. The LEA may
request such data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service. The CONTRACTOR shall
provide this data supporting progress within five (5) business days of request. Additional time may be
granted as needed by the LEA.


19


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b200/383







CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and
pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices. CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies
of its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business
days prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test
protocols and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of
request.


The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and
objectives, progress reporting and development of present levels of performance. All assessments
resulting from an assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a
request that CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment. Any assessment and/or evaluation
costs may be added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion.


It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA. For
NPA services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection
3065, shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA. Supervision means the direct
observation of services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional
standards for each professional’s license, certification, or credential.


CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports,
report cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or
meetings. It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with
the IEP. It is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of
the pupil’s record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request.


37. TRANSCRIPTS


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester,
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures. CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names
of students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the
LEA.


38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE


Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of
residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence as specified
in LEA Procedures. Upon enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation
to notify CONTRACTOR of the student’s change of residence. CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and
provide upon request by LEA, documentation of such notice to parents.


If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of
residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.


39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM


CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5)
business days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services,


20


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b201/383







including student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and student’s
discharge against professional advice from a NPS/RTC.


40. PARENT ACCESS


CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but
not limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living
quarters. CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental visits and access
to LEA students.


CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s
reasonable request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC. CONTRACTOR
shall require that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR
and the LEA at least thirty (30) days in advance. CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all parent travel and
accommodations and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate. Payment by LEA for
approved travel-related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent with LEA
Procedures.


CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an
emergency, is present. The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the
LEA prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in
emergency situations. The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written
authorization for emergency situation. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer
associated with the NPS/NPA service provider.


All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in
writing, to the LEA.


41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS


If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational
placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and
Safety Code section 1501.1(b), AB 1858 (2004), AB490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003), AB 1261
(2005), AB 1166 Chapter 171 (2015), AB 167 Chapter 224 (2010), AB 216 Chapter 324 (2013), AB 379
Chapter 772 (2015), AB 1012 Chapter 703 (2015), and the procedures set forth in the LEA Procedures.
An LCI shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its residential
facility.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1412(a)(1)(A) and Education Code
section 56000, et seq.; amended and reorganized by the Individuals with Disabilities Education
Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA), 20 U.S.C. section 1401(29); Education Code section 56031; Cal.
Code Regs., Title 5, section 3001 et seq., regarding the provision of counseling services, including
residential care for students to receive a FAPE as set forth in the LEA student’s IEPs. CONTRACTOR
shall meet all monitoring requirements as noted in Section 43 below.


If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall
provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special
education. For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education


21


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b202/383







eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA.


Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed
agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational
decision-making rights.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively,
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


42. STATE MEAL MANDATE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under
California Education Code sections 49530, 49530.5 and 49550.


43. MONITORING


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a
master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is
making toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation
of the pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA (or SELPA) shall report the
findings resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar
days of the onsite visit.


The LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement.


CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring
of each student’s instructional program. LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.
Such access shall include unannounced monitoring visits. When making site visits, LEA shall initially
report to CONTRACTOR's site administrative office. CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in
the review of each student’s progress.


If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code
section 1501.1(b).


The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S
facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching
staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three.


22


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b203/383







CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted
as aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education
Code section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with
relevant state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct
any follow-up or corrective action procedures related to review findings.


CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without
cause. The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health
and safety; curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance.


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California
Education Code Section 33126.


PERSONNEL


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237,
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI
clearance are ascertained. CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees,
and volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with
students, or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or
serious felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite
the employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j). Contractor shall certify to
LEA that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest notification service
for all employees who may come into contact with students.


Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information,
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for
each owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A. CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence
on-site, as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.
Background clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal
Code section 11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.


45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license,
certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant
to Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065. Such qualified staff may only provide related
services within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set
by each profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or
special education teacher’s scope of practice.


23


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b204/383







CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and
services to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation
provided to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)).
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and
instructional leader, and be able to provide leadership, oversight and professional development. The
administrator of the NPS holds or is in the process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An
administrative credential granted by an accredited postsecondary educational institution and two years of
experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school
counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree issued
by an accredited postsecondary institution in education, special education, psychology, counseling,
behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special
education instruction and at least two years of experience teaching in special education before becoming
an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral
Sciences. (H) A license as an educational psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A
license as a professional clinical counselor issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California
Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5))
CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides
and teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code
sections 45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq. Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to,
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted
by CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall
possess a high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following
qualifications: (a) completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b)
obtained an associate’s (or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate,
through a formal state or local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing,
reading, writing, and mathematics; or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading
readiness, writing readiness, and mathematics readiness, as appropriate. CONTRACTOR shall comply
with all laws and regulations governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the
provisions with respect to supervision.


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  


46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS


CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials,
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools. CONTRACTOR shall provide the
LEA with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis
Test clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals
starting to work with any student.


CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel
changes occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA


24


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b205/383







students. CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications
or waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal
complaint or lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA
shall not be obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or
waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such
person is providing services under this Master Contract. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any
changes in credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or
suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


47. STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s
service providers. It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified
substitute for their student. LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA
representative.


48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME


It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services. All practices shall only be
within the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each
profession as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations
when made available to the CONTRACTOR.


For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus
consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is
responsible for the instructional program.


CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure
that at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make
decisions in an emergency is present during provision of services. The names of any adult caregiver other
than the parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including
written and signed authorization in emergency situations. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee
or volunteer associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by
CONTRACTOR to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA.


HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations,
ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety. CONTRACTOR
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406,


25


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b206/383







regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis.
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed,
contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in
contact with a student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code.


50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS


CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that
comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not
limited to: disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning
systems; zoning permits; and occupancy capacity. When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR
shall conduct fire drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to
CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws,
regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or
relocation of facilities may result in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.


51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49423 when
CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter medication
during the school day. CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by
which such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered. Such
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.
CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for ensuring appropriate staff training in the administration
of such medication consistent with physician’s written orders. Any change in medication type,
administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized by both a licensed physician and parent.


52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING


CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures
specified in LEA Procedures.


53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING


CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and
procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will


26


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b207/383







remain confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates. A written statement
acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such
reporting shall be submitted to the LEA.


54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT


CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the
kinds of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy,
as well as federal and state law. The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.


55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN


CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to
adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section
49370. A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA. The written statement shall be
submitted as specified by the LEA.


FINANCIAL


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND
BILLING PROCEDURES


CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial
resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student.


CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance
reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same. CONTRACTOR
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA. All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws.


CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service,
and services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides. Original
attendance forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes
for instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be
available for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a
period of five (5) years thereafter. CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported
attendance that is the basis of services being billed for payment.


CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar
month when education or related services were provided. Invoices and related documents shall be
properly submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner
prescribed by LEA. At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of
service; specific days and times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise
specified in the IEP or agreed to by the LEA; name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of


27


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b208/383







each invoice; total for each service and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature
of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE
certificates and staff notification; verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication
of any made-up session consistent with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided
consistent with the ISA (monthly or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials
of each student for when the service was provided.


In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be
included.


Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract. At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training.


Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period
in which the services were rendered. LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45)
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.
LEA shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a
completely corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA.


In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June)
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year. In no case shall any rebilling for the
Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal
year unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a
delay in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher
qualification, but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year. If the billing or
re-billing error is the responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and
CONTRACTOR have communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the
close of the fiscal year.  LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee.


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT


LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when: (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in
whole or in part, under the terms of this contract; (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on
days other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not
receive services; (c) CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or
audit of its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting
documentation with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e) education and/or related services are
provided to students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified;
(f) LEA has not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning one
or more students enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm
a student’s change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district,
but fails to notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation; or (h) CONTRACTOR receives
payment from Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It
is understood that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months
following the close of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.


Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a
Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for


28


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b209/383







regular ongoing operations. In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a
review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA. Such review or audit will be completed within ninety
(90) days. The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR
determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected.


The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding
paragraph are as follows: (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount
of overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided
by CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e) the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service
provided to the student.


If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10)
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding
payment. Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is
unfounded. Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment
will be denied.


If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment
should not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it
believes payment should not be withheld. LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty
(30) business days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the
reason LEA believes payment should not be made. If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business
days or a dispute regarding the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to
CONTRACTOR’s notice, CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.


After forty-five (45) business days: The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s
Representative of the dispute in writing. The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the
CONTRACTOR in writing within fifteen (15) business days.


After sixty (60) business days:  The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and
expenses arising out of such mediation.  Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any
mediation process agreed to by the parties.


58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES


CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated
with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal
or any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services
to students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA


29


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b210/383







students’ public benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided
before seeking payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually.


59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE


Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an
appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with
California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of
substitute coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned
class during all instructional time. LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction
or service is provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher.


Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in
Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute. LEA will not pay for services unless a
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP.


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE


If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s
unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.


Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307. LEA shall not pay for services provided on days
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under
state law. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor
shall student be eligible for make-up services.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE


When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service
providers. LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA. In the event services
were not provided, reasons for why the services were not provided shall be included.


NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE


30


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b211/383







If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence. LEA shall not be responsible for the payment
of services when a student is absent.


60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY


The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent
with guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392:


a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately
as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending
LEA is open or closed.  


b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education
Code section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student,
CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to
CONTRACTOR’S school closure. If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement,
CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the
student were continuing his/her regular attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and
implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to
emergency conditions.


c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative
placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.


When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost
instructional minutes.  CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as
appropriate.


61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT


The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the
books, records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs
claimed to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement.


CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to: student records
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily
service logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily
service logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior
intervention aides, bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business
licenses held, documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff
time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service
subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation
insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if
incorporated; other documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports
Form 941/DE3DP; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof. Such access shall
include unannounced inspections by LEA. CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary


31


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b212/383







information including operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract
period being audited.


CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge. All records shall be provided to LEA
within five (5) working days of a written request from LEA. CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA,
provide assistance for such examination or audit. LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access
to CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees. If any document
or evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the
LEA agrees to the use of the electronic format.


CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.


If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA
shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and
specifying the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in
writing, CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing and/or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as
determined by an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an
independent agency/firm. CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of
receipt of LEA’s written notice demanding payment.


62. RATE SCHEDULE


The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum
dollar amount of the contract. It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided
specific services. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may
be adjusted proportionally. In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as noted in California Education Code Section
46200-46208.


Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified
personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A.


63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION


By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that:


(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by
any Federal agency, and


(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil
judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection
with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract
or subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers;
or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records,
making false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted
for, or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of


32


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b213/383







these offenses.


33


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b214/383







The parties hereto have executed this Contract by and through their duly authorized agents or
representatives. This contract is effective on the 1st day of July, 2022 and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on
June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided herein.


CONTRACTOR LEA


___________________________________ __NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA___
Nonpublic School/Agency LEA Name


By: ________________________________ By:  __________________________________
Signature                              Date Signature                                   Date


________________________________ _JESSICA LITTLE, SR. SELPA DIRECTOR_
Name and Title of Authorized Name and Title of Authorized
Representative Representative


Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed to: Notices to LEA shall be addressed to:


JESSICA LITTLE, SR. SELPA DIRECTOR
Name and Title Name and Title


NORTH SANTA CRUZ COUNTY SELPA


Nonpublic School/Agency/Related Service Provider LEA


400 ENCINAL STREET


Address Address
SANTA CRUZ               CA                 95060


City State Zip City State Zip
831-466-5700                 831-466-5964


Phone                                   Fax Phone                                   Fax
jlittle@santacruzcoe.org


Email Email


Additional LEA Notification
(Required if completed)


Name and Title


Address


City State Zip


Phone                                   Fax


Email


34


05 / 03 / 2022


Brite Horizons


05 / 03 / 2022


Ginger Raabe NPS Admin


Ginger Raabe NPS Admin


Brite Horizons


125 Bethany Drive


Scotts Valley CA 95066


831-227-6338 831-480-1850


ginger.raabe@abrite.org


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b215/383







EXHIBIT A:   2022-2023 RATES


4.1 RATE SCHEDULE FOR CONTRACT YEAR


The CONTRACTOR:      
The CONTRACTOR CDS NUMBER:      


PER ED CODE 56366 – TEACHER-TO-PUPIL RATIO:     


Maximum Contract Amount:      


Education service(s) offered by the CONTRACTOR and the charges for such service(s) during the term of this contract shall be as follows:


1) Daily Basic Education Rate:      


2) Inclusive Education Program
(Includes Educational Counseling (not ed related mental health) services, Speech & Language services, Behavior Intervention
Planning, and Occupational Therapy as specified on the student’s IEP.) DAILY RATE:      


3) Related Services


SERVICE RATE PERIOD


Intensive Individual Services (340)            


Language and Speech (415)      $115      Hour


Adapted Physical Education (425)            


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical Health Care (435)            


Health and Nursing: Other Services (436)            


Assistive Technology Services (445)            


Occupational Therapy (450)      $135      Hour


Physical Therapy (460)            


Individual Counseling (510)            


Counseling and Guidance (515)            


Counseling      $100      Hour


Parent Counseling (520)            


Social Work Services (525)            


Psychological Services (530)            


Behavior Intervention Services (535)       $275      Daily


35


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b216/383







Behavior Intervention Development - BID      $150.00      Hour


Specialized Services for Low Incidence Disabilities (610)            


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing (710)            


Interpreter Services (715)            


Audiological Services (720)            


Specialized Vision Services (725)            


Orientation and Mobility (730)            


Specialized Orthopedic Services (740)            


Reader Services (745)            


Transcription Services (755)            


Recreation Services, Including Therapeutic (760)            


College Awareness (820)            


Work Experience Education (850)            


Job Coaching (855)            


Mentoring (860)            


Travel Training (870)            


Other Transition Services (890)            


Other (900)            


Basic Education Program/Special Education Instruction     $250.00       Day


36


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b217/383







EXHIBIT B:   2022-2023 ISA


INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (ISA) FOR NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL SERVICES
(Education Code Sections 56365 et seq.)


This agreement is effective on July 1, 2022 or the date student begins attending a nonpublic school or receiving services from a nonpublic agency,
if after the date identified, and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided in the Master Contract and by applicable law.


Local Education Agency       Nonpublic School      


LEA Case Manager:  Name       Phone Number      


Pupil Name                 Sex: ☐  M ☐  F Grade:      
(Last)                                                       (First) (M.I.)


Address       City       State/Zip      


DOB       Residential Setting:   ☐ Home ☐ Foster ☐ LCI  #       ☐ OTHER      


Parent/Guardian       Phone (      )       (       )      
(Residence) (Business)


Address       City       State/Zip      
(If different from student)


AGREEMENT TERMS:


1. Nonpublic School: The average number of minutes in the instructional day will be:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


2. Nonpublic School: The number of school days in the calendar of the school year are:       during the regular school year


      during the extended school year


3. Educational services as specified in the IEP shall be provided by the CONTRACTOR and paid at the rates specified below.


A. INCLUSIVE AND/OR BASIC EDUCATION PROGRAM RATE: (Applies to nonpublic schools only): Daily Rate:      


Estimated Number of Days       x Daily Rate       = PROJECTED BASIC EDUCATION  COSTS      


B.  RELATED SERVICES:
Provider


SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER
Specify


# of Times per
wk/mo/yr., Duration;


or per IEP;
or as needed


Cost per
session


Maximum
Number of
Sessions


Estimated Maximum
Total Cost for


Contracted Period


Intensive Individual Services (340)      
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


Language/Speech Therapy (415)
a.  Individual
b.  Group


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


     
     


Adapted Physical Ed. (425)


Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical
Health Care (435)


                                         


37


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b218/383







Provider


Health and Nursing Services: Other (436)
                                         


Assistive Technology Services (445)
                                         


Occupational Therapy (450)
                                         


Physical Therapy (460)
                                         


Individual Counseling (510)
                                         


Counseling and guidance (515).
                                         


Parent Counseling (520)
                                         


Social Work Services (525)
                                         


Psychological Services (530)
                                         


Behavior Intervention Services (535)
                                         


Specialized Services for Low Incidence
Disabilities (610)


                                         


Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing
Services (710)


                                         


Interpreter Services (715)
                                         


Audiological Services (720)
                                         


Specialized Vision Services (725)
                                         


Orientation and Mobility (730)
                                         


Braille Transcription (735)
                                         


Specialized Orthopedic Service (740)
                                         


Reader Services (745)
                                         


Note Taking Services (750)
                                         


Transcription Services (755)
                                         


Recreation Services (760)
                                         


College Awareness Preparation (820)
                                         


Vocational Assessment, Counseling,
Guidance and Career Assessment (830)


                                         


Career Awareness (840)
                                         


Work Experience Education (850)
                                         


Mentoring (860)
                                         


Agency Linkages (865)
                                         


Travel Training (870)
                                         


Other Transition Services (890)
                                         


Other (900)J
                                         


38


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b219/383







Provider


Other (900)
                                         


Transportation-Emergency
b. Transportation-Parent


                                         


Bus Passes
                                         


Other
                                         


ESTIMATED MAXIMUM RELATED SERVICES COST$      


TOTAL ESTIMATED MAXIMUM BASIC EDUCATION AND RELATED SERVICES COSTS $      


4. Other Provisions/Attachments:


     


5. MASTER CONTRACT APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD ON      


6.Progress Reporting
Requirements:


Quarterl
y


Monthl
y


Other
(Specify)


The parties hereto have executed this Individual Services Agreement by and through their duly authorized agents or representatives as set forth
below.


-CONTRACTOR- -LEA/SELPA-


(Name of Nonpublic School/Agency)


(Name of LEA/SELPA)


(Signature) (Date) (Signature)                                                                                (Date)


(Name and Title) (Name of Superintendent or Authorized Designee)


39


Doc ID: ad23ad72ec64bd687fb73b5d6d981f75ae8c377b220/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 5.1.1.6.  


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Nonpublic School: Chartwell 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Nonpublic Agency contract for new and continuing services through the 
2022-2023 regular school year. Due to the confidentiality regulations that protect the identity of 
students with disabilities, the student’s name has been omitted. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract renewal for Chartwell will provide Basic Education, Occupational Therapy, Speech, 
and Language Therapy for one student.  These services are mandated by each of the student’s 
Individual Education Plan. Service Period: July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $47,076.00 - Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


221/383







NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN 


SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES 
 
 
 


MASTER CONTRACT 
 


 


2022-2023 


222/383







 


MASTER CONTRACT 
GENERAL AGREEMENT FOR NONSECTARIAN,  
NONPUBLIC SCHOOL AND AGENCY SERVICES 


 
 
 


            
 


X Nonpublic School  CHARTWELL SCHOOL 
 Nonpublic Agency  


 
Type of Contract: 
 


 Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the 
term of this contract. 


 


 


  
X Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA) 


into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.  


 


 
  
 Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates.  The sole purpose 


of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole 
discretion of the LEA.  Expiration Date:___________ 


 
 
When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above 


   shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.


LEA SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOLS 


Contract Year 2022-2023 


223/383







 


   
TABLE OF CONTENTS 


   
I.   GENERAL PROVISIONS                                                                                                                    Page 


   
1. MASTER CONTRACT  1 
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES  1 
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS  2 
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT  2 
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT    
        FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION  3 
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  3 
7. DEFINITIONS  4 


   
II.   ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT 
   


8. NOTICES  5 
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS  5 
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE  6 
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST  6 
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW  6 
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO   


               CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES  6 
14. TERMINATION  6 
15. INSURANCE  6 
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS  9 
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR  9 
18. SUBCONTRACTING  9 
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  10 
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION  10 


 
III.  EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM 


 
 


   
21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION  11 
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION  11 
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES  12 
24. CLASS SIZE  12 
25. CALENDARS  13 
26. DATA REPORTING  13 
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT  14 
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING  14 
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS  14 
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS  15 
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE  16 
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS  16 
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH  17 
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS  17 
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES  17 
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS  18 
37. TRANSCRIPTS  18 
38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE  19 
39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM  19 
40. PARENT ACCESS  19 


224/383







 


   


41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS 
AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS  19 


42. STATE MEAL MANDATE  20 
43. MONITORING  20 


   
IV. PERSONNEL   
   


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS  21 
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS  21 
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS  22 
47. STAFF ABSENCE  23 
48.  STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR  23 
   


V.    HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES    
   


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY  23 
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS  24 
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION  24 
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING  24 
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING  24 
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT  25 
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN  25 
   


VI.  FINANCIAL   
   


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,   
        ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES  25 
57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT  26 
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES  27 
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES  27 
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY  28 
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT  28 
62. RATE SCHEDULE  29 
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION   29 


        
EXHIBIT A: RATES  32 
EXHIBIT B:  INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  34 
   


225/383







 


1 
 


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:  CHARTWELL SCHOOL 
 


NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES  
MASTER CONTRACT 


 
AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
1. MASTER CONTRACT  
  
 This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2022, between Santa Cruz City Schools, 


hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), a member of the North Santa Cruz County 
SELPA and CHARTWELL SCHOOL (nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency), hereinafter referred to 
as NPS/A or “CONTRACTOR” for the purpose of providing special education and/or related services to 
students with exceptional needs under the authorization of California Education Code sections 56157, 
56361 and 56365 et seq. and Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 
(Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003) and AB 1858 (Chapter 914, Statutes of 2004).  It is understood that this 
agreement does not commit the LEA to pay for special education and/or related services provided to any 
student, or CONTRACTOR to provide such special education and/or related services, unless and until an 
authorized LEA representative approves the provision of special education and/or related services by 
CONTRACTOR.  


 
Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Services Agreement 
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”).  Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge 
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized 
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”).  The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days 
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by 
CONTRACTOR.  As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic IEP 
system and/or electronic database for ISA developing including invoicing. 
 


  Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter 
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or 
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is not 
responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an IEP 
team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP is 
signed by the student’s parent.  


 
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES 


 
CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as 
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and 
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et seq 
and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification and/or credential.  A 
current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification issued by the CDE 
pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the date this Agreement 
is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such certification or waiver 
is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. 
Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification and in Section 24 of the 
Master Contract. 
 


2022-2023                                                      CONTRACT NUMBER: 
 


   
 


  
LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:  Santa Cruz City Schools   


 


226/383







 


2 
 


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that 
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils 
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related services 
and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).   
 


  If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR 
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state 
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to, individuals 
with exceptional needs.  The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to the protection 
of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so placed.  If the 
CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all required licenses 
from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI is located.  


 
With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any 
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency; (4) 
major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result in 
the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master Contract 
by the LEA.  


 
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS 


 
During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all 
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.  
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into 
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy 
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it 
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA 
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with 
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related 
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive 
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).    
   
CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the 
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE 
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a). 


 
4.  TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT 
 


The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 (Title 5 California Code of 
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated.  Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is required 
to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years.  The parties acknowledge that any subsequent 
Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2023.  In the event the contract negotiations are not 
agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in effect for 90 days.  (Title 
5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be offered unless and until all 
of the contracting requirements have been satisfied.  The offer of a Master Contract to a CONTRACTOR 
is at the sole discretion of the LEA. 
 
The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent 
contractors.  Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be 
provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of authorized 
representative.   
 


 
 


227/383







 


3 
 


 
5.   INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR 


TERMINATION 
 
This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference.  This Master 
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement.  This Master 
Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.   
 
CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master Contract 
or a renewal. 
 
At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance, insurance 
documentation and CDE certification.  The LEA may require additional information as applicable. If the 
application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be issued.  If 
CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized representative 
within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take effect until the 
newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first day of the new 
Master Contract’s effective date.  If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master Contract within such 
ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master Contract for the current school 
year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California Education Code section 56366(c)(1) 
and (2)).  In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR shall continue to be 
bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed Master Contract between 
CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students at the discretion 
of the LEA. 


 
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“ISA”) 
  
 This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide 


special education and/or related services.   An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the 
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A).  An ISA may be effective for 
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect.  In the event that 
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms 
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as 
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.  
 
Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract 
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement 
between the parent and LEA.  At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent, 
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards 
required by law.  
 


 Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services specified 
in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA.  (California Education Code 
sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)).  In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to provide a specific service 
at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA in writing within five (5) 
business days of the last date a service was provided.  CONTRACTOR shall provide any and all subsequent 
compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of provision of services while student 
was served by the NPS/A. 
 
If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the OAH, 
CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the parent agrees 
otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate by LEA or OAH 
consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.  CONTRACTOR shall adhere 
to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.  


 


228/383







 


4 
 


Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master 
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is located, 
or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California Education Code 
section 56366(c) (2). 
 


7. DEFINITIONS   
 
 The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract: 
 


a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the 
California Department of Education and its officers, agents and employees.  


 
b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be responsible 


for NPS/A.  It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) 
of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in collaboration with the LEA.  
The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless otherwise specified in this Contract. 


 
c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special 


education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of 
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which 
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as 
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g). 


 
d. The term “qualified”  means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent 


to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and 
designated instruction and services and has met federal and state certification, licensing, 
registration, or other comparable requirements which apply to the area in which he or she is 
providing special education or related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34 
of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth in 
Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the standards 
of professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the standards 
contained in the California Business and Professions  Code. 
 
Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate 
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate 
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or regulations.  
(Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)). 


  
e  The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the 


Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and 
authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to 
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and board 
and care services at a residential placement.  If a license is not available through an appropriate 
state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional organization at 
the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that are equivalent to 
a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations 
section 3001(l). 
 


f. “Parent” means: 
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have legal 


authority to make educational decisions for the child,  
ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make 


educational decisions for the child,  
iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a grandparent, 


stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who is legally 
responsible for the child’s welfare,   


229/383







 


5 
 


iv. a surrogate parent,  
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational 


decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance 
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).   
 


Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under 
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and services 
for a child. (California Education Code section 56028). 


 
g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified. 
 
h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed those 


in comparable LEA programs. 
 
i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education 


Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet 
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA. 


 
j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such in 


this document. 
 


ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT 
 
8. NOTICES 
  


All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing.  Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand 
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.    


 
All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page 
of this Master Contract.  Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of 
this Master Contract. 


 
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS   
 
 All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.  


Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5) 
years after the termination of this Master Contract.  For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall 
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b) 
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code 
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily service 
logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including supervision; 
daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through additional 
instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency reports 
(BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes, 
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however, 
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials 
held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of hire, and dates 
of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer 
sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules 
when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications by-
laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and expenses; general 
journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting documents; documents 
evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence of electronic payments; 
and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.   


 


230/383







 


6 
 


 CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent 
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of 
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records.  CONTRACTOR shall maintain an 
access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or 
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education 
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for each 
individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the record(s) 
provided.  Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent; (b) an 
individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of LEA or 
CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information from the 
record.  CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting access to 
student records.  For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do not include 
subcontractors.  CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the student’s 
parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or 
receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of student records, as 
required by state and federal laws and regulations.  CONTRACTOR agrees, in the event of school or agency 
closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.  These shall include, but not 
limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification of injuries and all other 
relevant reports.  LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of any and all records upon 
request within five (5) business days. 


 
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
 
 If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the 


remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect. 
 
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 
 
 This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees.  CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of 


any change of ownership or corporate control.   
 
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW 
  
 The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the 


County where the LEA is located. 
 
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND 


ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES 
 
This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory 
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency.  The party seeking such modification 
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or modifications 
made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or regulation upon which 
the modification or changes are based. 
 


14. TERMINATION   
 
 This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause.  The cause shall not be the availability of a public 


class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the student to the 
public school program at an IEP team meeting.  To terminate the contract either party shall give no less 
than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)). At the time of 
termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents CONTRACTOR is required to 
maintain under this Master Contract.  ISAs are void upon termination of this Master Contract, as provided 
in Section 5 or 6.  CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for cause.  To terminate the ISA, either 
party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.  


 


231/383







 


7 
 


 
 
15.       INSURANCE   


 
CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect, during 
the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or admitted 
insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any claims, damages, 
liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection with 
CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of the 
work or any component or part thereof: 


 
 PART I -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES 
 


A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property damage, 
with limits as follows:  


                         
$2,000,000 per occurrence 
$   500,000 fire damage 
$       5,000 medical expenses 
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury 
$3,000,000 general aggregate 
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate 
 
The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for sexual 
molestation or abuse.  In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an exclusion for 
sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to procure a 
supplemental policy providing such coverage. 
 


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor 
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations 
pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage).  The Workers’ 
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits 
of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.   


 
C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with 


a $1 million combined single limit.  
 


If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.  
 


If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or to/from 
students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA, CONTRACTOR 
must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements. 


 
D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage, 


including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is 
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by 
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits: 


 
                                    $1,000,000 per occurrence 
                                    $2,000,000 general aggregate 
 


E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request, 
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage.  The certificate 
of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision.  The Commercial 
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of 
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by 


232/383







 


8 
 


CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this 
contract at no additional charge. 


 
F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved by 


the LEA.  At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s sole 
cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such deductibles 
or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or (b) procure a 
bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation. 


G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the 
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the LEA, its 
subsidiaries, officials and employees.   Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the LEA, 
its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's insurance and 
shall not contribute with it. 


 
H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or agency 


submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the certificate on 
the certificate. 


 
             PART II -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED 


WITH A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”) 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the following 
insurance policies are required: 
 


A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with limits 
as follows:  
 
$3,000,000 per occurrence 
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.  
 
The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named additional 
insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which may be 
applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance primary 
despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy.  Coverage shall be maintained with no 
Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the LEA. 


 
B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor 


Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to 
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage).  The Workers’ Compensation Insurance 
coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of 
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.   


C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per 
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service.  If the RTC provides student bus 
services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per Occurrence. 


D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees 
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other 
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured 
retention. 


E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of 
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.   


233/383







 


9 
 


F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the 
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum 
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.   


 
If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section 
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations. 


 
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS   
 


To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board 
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA 
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) 
resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss, expense, 
damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or omission of 
CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone employed 
directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and obligation to defend shall 
arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR. The LEA and the Member 
District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its choice to provide the defense 
at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier. 


  
 To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board 


Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR 
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) 
resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that such loss, 
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful act or 
omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone employed 
directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR Indemnities). 


 
 LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the self-


insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and that 
its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract. 


 
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR   
  
 Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent 


relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this 
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any 
commitment on behalf of the other.  Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any 
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or 
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any 
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.   


 
 If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principle, employer or co-employer of 


CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and 
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs, 
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.   


  
18. SUBCONTRACTING   
 


CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education 
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract.  In the event LEA determines that it can provide 
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s).  If LEA elects to 
provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of 
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s). 
 


234/383







 


10 
 


CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the 
fullest extent reasonably possible.  Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the 
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any 
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the term 
of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.  Each 
subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance effecting coverage 
required by Section 15.  The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind 
coverage on its behalf.  The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.  All endorsements are to 
be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work commences.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the LEA/SELPA and the LEA Board of Education as 
additional insured. 
 
As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of all 
required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master Contract.  
All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or agency 
submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency submitting 
the certificate.  In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in Section 45 
Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.  


 
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 
 CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its 


Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated.  CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of 
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a conflict 
of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section 1090 
including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or reports, 
and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate.  Pursuant to California Education code 
section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional needs shall not 
recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is employed or contracted 
by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or otherwise has a conflict of 
interest. 


 
The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student when 
a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on assessment(s) 
or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization by LEA. This 
paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or a report is 
prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or whether an 
assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the services provided 
to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure the appropriateness 
of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its recommendations, the 
LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is sought to provide service(s) 
to the student for whom the IEE is requested.  Likewise, the LEA may not fund services through the 
evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund.   When no other appropriate assessor is available, LEA may 
request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide an IEE. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has 
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special 
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an 
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to 
executing this contract.  This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated 
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up to 
ten months of the school year by LEA. 
 


  CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a 
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to 
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings. 


235/383







 


11 
 


 
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION   
 


CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the 
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation, religion, 
age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity or 
expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by federal 
or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or group 
with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.  
 


EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM 
 
21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE) 
 


The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition 
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR shall 
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the 
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS, 
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services 
outlined in the student’s IEP.  If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services 
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.  


  
Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for 
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and 
ISA.  CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related 
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments, 
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this Master 
Contract).   LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence disabilities 
when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the SELPA/LEA and 
shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no longer needed or 
when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS.  CONTRACTOR shall ensure that facilities are adequate 
to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and safety regulations.  
CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not necessary for the student 
to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the student’s parent(s) of the 
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the LEA of the written 
notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature 
of the services and/or activities.  CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning parent 
acknowledgment of financial responsibility. 
 
Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public 
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as 
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in 
writing. 


 
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION 
 


All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE Certification 
and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...  


  
  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize 


evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study 
and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational, 
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the particular 
course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA.  Students 
shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted  Common Core State Standards 
(“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to 8, inclusive; 


236/383







 


12 
 


and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to 12, inclusive, 
used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c) extracurricular activities, 
such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and vocational training, consistent 
with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental assistance, including individual 
academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college counseling.   


 
When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to 
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading 
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements.    CONTRACTOR shall not award a high 
school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation requirements. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of 
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE 
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA.  The NPA providing 
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service 
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.  School-
based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or provided 
at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team.  Except for services provided by a CONTRACTOR 
that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school setting require the 
presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services, provided such guardian or 
caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to authorize emergency services as 
requested.   LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and qualified residential or clinical staff is 
present during the provision of services under this Master Contract. CONTRACTOR shall immediately 
notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to 
LEA a written description of the services and location provided prior to the effective date of this Master 
Contract.  CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention services must have a trained behaviorist or 
trained equivalent on staff.  It is understood that Behavior Intervention services are limited per CDE 
Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for 
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing. 
 


23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES   
 


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by 
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day provided 
to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed 
in accordance with the student’s IEP. 
 
For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP 
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be 
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA. 


 
The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual 
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise 
specified in the student’s IEP. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school 
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the 
student’s IEP. 


 
24. CLASS SIZE  
 
 When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of 


one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing.  Upon 
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a 


237/383







 


13 
 


ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to 
provide services to students with disabilities. 


 
 In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students, 


and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to 
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff.  The NPS and the LEA 
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure 
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher.  Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by 
both parties.  This provision does not apply to a NPA. 


 
CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between 
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to child 
ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq. 


 
25. CALENDARS  
 


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar with 
the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days equivalent 
to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar.  Billable days shall include 
only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or required by the 
IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student.  CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to change its school 
calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of the LEA.  Nothing 
in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests for calendar changes. 
 
Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site.  A 
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the 
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA.  Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20) 
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA.  Any days of 
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior to 
the start of the extended school year. 
 
Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended school 
year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be eligible for 
payment.  It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on weekends/holidays and other 
times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of 
any NPS service.  Any instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole 
financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA.  Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s 
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day, 
Memorial Day and Independence Day.  With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date 
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved 
calendar prior to the initiation of services.  CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified 
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar.  CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the LEA-
developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA.  Unless otherwise specified 
in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on only those 
days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends school.  
CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated on the 
LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing.  Student must have actually 
been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to 
be eligible for payment.  It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on 
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing, 
in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR.  Any instructional days 
provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR. 


238/383







 


14 
 


 
26. DATA REPORTING  
 
  CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing 


information with LEA.  CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract, 
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA.  It is 
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development, 
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.  Additional 
progress reporting may be required by the LEA.  The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with 
appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access. 


 
  Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, 


CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory 
offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or 
expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections 48900 and 48915. 
CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion 
even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900 and 48915. 


   
  The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including, 


but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports.  The LEA may approve use of 
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion. 


 
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT  
 
  CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive 


Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to 
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum 
extent appropriate. 


 
  CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team meetings 


regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed.  This shall include IEP team consideration 
of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the LRE and necessary 
to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings. 


 
When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting, 
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support 
the transition.   


 
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING  
 
  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall administer 


all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress 
(“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative Assessment 
(“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the Fitness 
Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative English 
Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to the 
student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.  
 
CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code 
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools.  Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by 
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability 
program.  LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.   
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as 
required by LEA. 
 


29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS 


239/383







 


15 
 


 
CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and 
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of:  curriculum, high school graduation, 
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with disabilities, 
dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and standardized 
testing and IEPs.  LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated meetings.  
Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s). 


 
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1 


and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of others 
must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in accordance with 
the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a student’s behavior 
impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to consider the use of positive 
behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that behavior, consistent with Section 
1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and associated federal regulations. This 
could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan (“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it 
is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through the development of behavioral goals and 
behavioral interventions to support those goals. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1 
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that 
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based 
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil 
population.  The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any contact 
or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or interaction 
with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in accordance 
with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written records of the 
training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for 
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions 
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of 
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately 
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the 
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from 
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined as 
a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.  It 
requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a physical 
intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious property 
damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used.  Emergencies require 
a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four (24) hours 
for administrative action.  CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours via telephone.  
If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review the behavior 
emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment, and to determine 
an interim plan.  If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify the BIP if a new 
serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to be ineffective. 
CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.    


    
  Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or pay 


for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following: 
(1) any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to, 
electric-shock; (2) an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant 


240/383







 


16 
 


sprays, mists, or substances in proximity to the face of the individual; (3) an intervention that denies 
adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or access to bathroom facilities; (4) an 
intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to verbal abuse, 
ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma; (5) restrictive 
interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize all four extremities, 
including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone containment or similar techniques 
may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency intervention; (6) locked seclusion, unless it is in 
a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a locked room; (7) an intervention that 
precludes adequate supervision of the individual; (8) an intervention that deprives the individual of one or 
more of his or her senses. 


 
  In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall 


consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that 
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and 
associated federal regulations. 


 
 All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are 


used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or multiple 
uses by the same individual.  CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when any type of 
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used.  Upon the use of any type of physical or 
mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER per the 
reporting and notification requirements listed above.   


 
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE  
 
 CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with 


state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education 
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, 
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA 
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory 
offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents 
resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of 
Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915. 


 
When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for 
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.  
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to:  the student’s name; the time, date, and 
description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for such 
disciplinary action.  A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written 
discipline report.   CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an 
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.   
  


32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS   
 
 An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each 


student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements of 
Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at the 
NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may be 
transitioned to a public school setting.  (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and (ii)) 
and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)   


 
 If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for 


any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document, if appropriate, a description of activities provided 
to integrate the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity as well as 
the time spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to support the 
transition of the student from the special education program into the regular education program. Each 


241/383







 


17 
 


student shall be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her IEP team.  Except 
as otherwise provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall participate in all IEP team 
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed.  At any time during the term 
of this Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request a review of the student’s 
IEP, subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable notice given to, and 
participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting.  Every effort shall be made to schedule IEP team 
meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR and LEA.  
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service providers 
upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures.  It is understood that attendance at an IEP 
meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under this 
Master Contract. 


  
 It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for 


all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion.  The LEA or SELPA may provide training 
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system.  The CONTRACTOR shall maintain 
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the 
system.  When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of 
the approved system for that student. 


 
Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting 
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP.  In 
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the 
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change 
in the student’s placement.  Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented placement 
unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and 
appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.   


 
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as 


the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under 
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR 300.1-
300.756.  A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section 
42238.01(b).  The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the 
educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any time 
after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule the pupil 
in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless provided notice 
otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1. 


 
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS   
 


CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations 
and hearings, as requested by LEA.  Participation further includes the willingness to make 
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due 
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of 
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or any 
other state and/or federal governmental body or agency.  Full participation shall include, but in no way be 
limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any investigator 
and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of 
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family 
Service Plan (“IFSP”). 


 
35.  COMPLAINT PROCEDURES   
 


242/383







 


18 
 


  CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent 
complaints.  These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with 
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following:  (1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 
pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2) Nondiscrimination policy 
pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3) Sexual Harassment Policy, 
California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) 
(d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act (“HIPAA”).  CONTRACTOR shall include verification of these procedures to the LEA. 
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any complaints filed against it related to LEA students 
and provide LEA with all documentation related to the complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, 
including any and all reports generated as a result of an investigation. 


 
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS   
 
 Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR shall 


provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards.  At a minimum, progress reports 
shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives.  A copy of the progress reports/report 
cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted to the LEA and 
LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly. 


 
 The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used to 


determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes, data 
sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of progress 
on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans.  The LEA may request such 
data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service.  The CONTRACTOR shall provide this data 
supporting progress within five (5) business days of request.  Additional time may be granted as needed by 
the LEA. 


 
CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the 
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present 
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and 
pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices.  CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies of 
its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business days 
prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test protocols 
and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of request.  
 
The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and objectives, 
progress reporting and development of present levels of performance.  All assessments resulting from an 
assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a request that 
CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment.  Any assessment and/or evaluation costs may be 
added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion. 
 
It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA.  For NPA 
services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection 3065, 
shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA.  Supervision means the direct observation of 
services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional standards for each 
professional’s license, certification, or credential. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports, report 
cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or meetings.  
It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with the IEP. It 
is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of the pupil’s 
record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request. 
 


37. TRANSCRIPTS  
 


243/383







 


19 
 


  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester, 
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on 
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of 
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures.  CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names of 
students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the LEA. 


 
38.  STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE   
 
  Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of 


residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence as specified 
in LEA Procedures.  Upon enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation 
to notify CONTRACTOR of the student’s change of residence.  CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and 
provide upon request by LEA, documentation of such notice to parents. 


 
 If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of 


residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA 
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.   


 
39.  WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM   
 


CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5) business 
days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services, including 
student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and student’s discharge 
against professional advice from a NPS/RTC. 
 


40. PARENT ACCESS   
 
 CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but not 


limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living quarters.  
CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental visits and access to LEA 
students. 


 
CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s reasonable 
request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC.  CONTRACTOR shall require 
that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR and the LEA 
at least thirty (30) days in advance.  CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all parent travel and accommodations 
and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate.  Payment by LEA for approved travel-
related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent with LEA Procedures.  
 
CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least 
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an 
emergency, is present.  The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the LEA 
prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in emergency 
situations.  The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written authorization 
for emergency situation.  The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer associated with the 
NPS/NPA service provider. 
 
All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in writing, 
to the LEA. 
 


41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL 
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS   


 
  If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational 


placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and 
Safety Code section 1501.1(b), AB 1858 (2004), AB490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003), AB 1261 (2005), 


244/383







 


20 
 


AB 1166 Chapter 171 (2015), AB 167 Chapter 224 (2010), AB 216 Chapter 324 (2013), AB 379 Chapter 
772 (2015), AB 1012 Chapter 703 (2015), and the procedures set forth in the LEA Procedures. An LCI 
shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its residential facility. 


 
If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the 
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1412(a)(1)(A) and Education Code 
section 56000, et seq.; amended and reorganized by the Individuals with Disabilities Education 
Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA), 20 U.S.C. section 1401(29); Education Code section 56031; Cal. Code 
Regs., Title 5, section 3001 et seq., regarding the provision of counseling services, including residential 
care for students to receive a FAPE as set forth in the LEA student’s IEPs. CONTRACTOR shall meet all 
monitoring requirements as noted in Section 43 below. 


 
  If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall 


provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special 
education.  For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education 
eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each 
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA. 


 
  Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed 


agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement 
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement 
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational decision-
making rights. 
 
In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that 
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, 
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the 
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).   


 
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE  
 
  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under 


California Education Code sections 49530, 49530.5 and 49550. 
 
43. MONITORING   
 


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit 
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a 
master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to 
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward 
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is making 
toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation of the 
pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA (or SELPA) shall report the findings 
resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar days of 
the onsite visit.  
 
The LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does 
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement. 


 
 CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring 


of each student’s instructional program.  LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe 
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.  Such 
access shall include unannounced monitoring visits.  When making site visits, LEA shall initially report to 
CONTRACTOR's site administrative office.  CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in the review 
of each student’s progress. 


 


245/383







 


21 
 


 If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether 
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code section 
1501.1(b).   


 
 The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S 


facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching 
staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the 
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall 
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and 
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted as 
aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education Code 
section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with relevant 
state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct any follow-
up or corrective action procedures related to review findings. 
 
CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without cause.  
The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health and safety; 
curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the 
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California 
Education Code Section 33126. 
 


PERSONNEL 
 
44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS   
 


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237, 
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California 
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will 
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students.  CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that 
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI 
clearance are ascertained.  CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees, and 
volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with students, 
or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or serious 
felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite the 
employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for 
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j).  Contractor shall certify to LEA 
that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest notification service for all 
employees who may come into contact with students.  


 
Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information, 
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal 
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for each 
owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A.  CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence on-site, 
as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.  Background 
clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal Code section 
11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.  
 


 45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS  
 
  CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by 


CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license, 


246/383







 


22 
 


certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold  
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant to 
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California Code 
of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065.  Such qualified staff may only provide related services 
within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set by each 
profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or special 
education teacher’s scope of practice.   


 
  CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and services 


to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation provided 
to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)). 


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and 
instructional leader, and be able to provide leadership, oversight and professional development. The 
administrator of the NPS holds or is in the process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An 
administrative credential granted by an accredited postsecondary educational institution and two years of 
experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school 
counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral 
Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree 
issued by an accredited postsecondary institution in education, special education, psychology, counseling, 
behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special 
education instruction and at least two years of experience teaching in special education before becoming 
an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral 
Sciences. (H) A license as an educational psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A 
license as a professional clinical counselor issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California 
Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5)) 


CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides and 
teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code sections 
45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq.  Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to, 
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted by 
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall possess a 
high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following qualifications:  (a) 
completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b) obtained an associate’s 
(or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate, through a formal state or 
local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading, writing, and mathematics; 
or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading readiness, writing readiness, and 
mathematics readiness, as appropriate.   CONTRACTOR shall comply with all laws and regulations 
governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the provisions with respect to supervision.  
 
In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that 
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by 
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with 
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).   


 
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS   
 


CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials, 
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or 
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by 
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents 
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools.    CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA 
with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis Test 
clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals starting to 
work with any student. 


 


247/383







 


23 
 


CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other 
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.  
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel changes 
occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA students. 
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications or waivers 
are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal complaint or 
lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA shall not be 
obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or waivers are 
expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such person is 
providing services under this Master Contract.  Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in 
credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension 
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA. 
 


47. STAFF ABSENCE  
         
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider 
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as 
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s 
service providers.  It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified substitute 
for their student.  LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or 
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified 
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been 
provided.  CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any 
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA 
representative. 
 


48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR 
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME 
 
It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to 
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services.  All practices shall only be within 
the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each profession 
as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations when made 
available to the CONTRACTOR.   
 
For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A 
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus 
consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the 
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is 
responsible for the instructional program. 
 
CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure that 
at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make decisions in 
an emergency is present during provision of services.  The names of any adult caregiver other than the 
parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including written and 
signed authorization in emergency situations.  The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer 
associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by CONTRACTOR 
to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA. 


 
HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES 
 
49. HEALTH AND SAFETY   
 
 CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations, 


ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety.  CONTRACTOR 
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406, 


248/383







 


24 
 


regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis. 
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed, 
contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in 
contact with a student. 


 
 CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal 


Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.  
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and 
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code. 


 
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS   
 
  CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that comply 


with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not limited to:  
disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning systems; zoning 
permits; and occupancy capacity.  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall conduct fire 
drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.  CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required 
complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the 
LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or relocation of facilities may result in the suspension 
or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA. 


 
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION  
 


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49423 when 
CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter medication 
during the school day.  CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the 
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written 
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by which 
such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting 
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.  
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.  
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered.  Such 
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each 
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.  
CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for ensuring appropriate staff training in the administration 
of such medication consistent with physician’s written orders.  Any change in medication type, 
administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized by both a licensed physician and parent.   


 
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING   
 
 CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.  


CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures 
specified in LEA Procedures.  


 
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING   
 


CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are 
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and 
procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To 
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will remain 
confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates.  A written statement acknowledging the 
legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such reporting shall be submitted 
to the LEA.  


 
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT 


249/383







 


25 
 


 
CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the kinds 
of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy, as 
well as federal and state law.  The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of 
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.  
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning 
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.  
 


55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN   
 
  CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to 


adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section 
49370.  A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of 
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA.  The written statement shall be 
submitted as specified by the LEA. 


 
FINANCIAL 


 
56.  ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND 


BILLING PROCEDURES  
 
  CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial 


resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources 
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student. 


 
  CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance 


reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA 
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same.  CONTRACTOR 
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP and 
ISA.  All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master 
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws. 


 
CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service, and 
services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides.  Original attendance 
forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes for 
instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be 
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be available 
for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a period of five 
(5) years thereafter.  CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported attendance that is the 
basis of services being billed for payment. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar month 
when education or related services were provided.  Invoices and related documents shall be properly 
submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner prescribed by LEA. 
At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of service; specific days and 
times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise specified in the IEP or agreed 
to by the LEA;  name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of each invoice; total for each service 
and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing 
that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE certificates and staff notification; 
verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication of any made-up session consistent 
with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided consistent with the ISA (monthly 
or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials of each student for when the service 
was provided.   
 
In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be included.  
 


250/383







 


26 
 


Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract.  At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic 
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the 
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training. 
 
Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period 
in which the services were rendered.  LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number 
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45) 
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in 
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA.   CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and 
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.  LEA 
shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a completely 
corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA. 
 
In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) 
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year.  In no case shall any rebilling for the Master 
Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal year 
unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a delay 
in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher qualification, 
but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year.  If the billing or re-billing error is the 
responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and CONTRACTOR have 
communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the close of the fiscal year.  
LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee. 
 


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT   
  
 LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when:  (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in whole 


or in part,  under the terms of this contract;  (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on days 
other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not receive 
services; (c)  CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or audit of 
its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting documentation 
with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e)  education and/or related services are provided to 
students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (f)  LEA has 
not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning  one or more students 
enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm a student’s 
change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district, but fails to 
notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation;   or (h) CONTRACTOR receives payment from 
Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It is understood 
that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months following the close 
of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.  


 
 Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a 


Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for 
regular ongoing operations.  In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a 
review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA.  Such review or audit will be completed within ninety 
(90) days.  The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR 
determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the 
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected. 
 
The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding 
paragraph are as follows:  (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount of 
overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided by 
CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately 
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e)  the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the 
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or 
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service 
provided to the student.  


251/383







 


27 
 


 
If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10) 
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding 
payment.  Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to 
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all 
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding 
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA 
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is 
unfounded.  Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend 
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment 
will be denied. 
 
If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment should 
not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it believes 
payment should not be withheld.  LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty (30) business 
days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the reason LEA believes 
payment should not be made.  If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business days or a dispute regarding 
the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to CONTRACTOR’s notice, 
CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.  


After forty-five (45) business days:  The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s Representative 
of the dispute in writing.  The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the CONTRACTOR in 
writing within fifteen (15) business days.   


After sixty (60) business days:  The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of 
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in 
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and 
expenses arising out of such mediation.  Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any 
mediation process agreed to by the parties. 
 


58.  PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES   
 
  CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated 


with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR 
shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal or 
any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services to 
students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by Title 
34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA students’public 
benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided before seeking 
payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually. 


 
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES  
  
 NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE 
 
 Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an 


appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with California 
Education Code section 56061.  CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of substitute 
coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures.  Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned class during 
all instructional time.  LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction or service is 
provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher. 


 
 Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in 


Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute.  LEA will not pay for services unless a 
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision 
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on 
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP. 


252/383







 


28 
 


 
 
 
 
 NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE 
 
 If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s 


unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.   
 


Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California 
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307.   LEA shall not pay for services provided on days 
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under 
state law.  Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be 
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was 
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s 
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor 
shall student be eligible for make-up services. 
 
NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by 
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service providers.  
LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides 
documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty 
(30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been provided.  CONTRACTOR shall 
not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in 
writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA.  In the event services were not provided, reasons for why the services 
were not provided shall be included. 
 
NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE  
 
If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the 
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence.  LEA shall not be responsible for the payment 
of services when a student is absent.   


 
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY 
 


The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent with 
guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392: 


 
a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately 


as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending LEA 
is open or closed.   


b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education Code 
section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall 
not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure. 
If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment 
consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the student were continuing his/her regular 
attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance 
with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. 


c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is 
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an 
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education 
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative 


253/383







 


29 
 


placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in 
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.  


 
When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost 
instructional minutes.  CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for 
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as 
appropriate. 


 
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT   
 
 The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the books, 


records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs claimed 
to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to:  student records 
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily service 
logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily service 
logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior 
intervention aides,  bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes, telephone 
logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business licenses held, 
documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff time sheets; non-
paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service subcontracts; school 
calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; 
state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; other 
documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports Form 941/DE3DP; and 
bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.  Such access shall include unannounced 
inspections by LEA.  CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary information including 
operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract period being audited.  
 
CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be 
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge.  All records shall be provided to LEA within 
five (5) working days of a written request from LEA.  CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA, provide 
assistance for such examination or audit.  LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access to 
CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees.  If any document or 
evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the LEA 
agrees to the use of the electronic format. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements 
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.  


 
If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent 
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over 
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA 
shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and specifying 
the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in writing, 
CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over billing and/or 
failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as determined by 
an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent agency/firm. 
CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of receipt of LEA’s written notice 
demanding payment. 


  
62. RATE SCHEDULE 


 
 The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum 


dollar amount of the contract.  It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided 
specific services.  Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may 


254/383







 


30 
 


be adjusted proportionally.  In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on 
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as noted in California Education Code Section 
46200-46208. 


 
 Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified 


personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related 
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A. 


 
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION 


 
By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that: 


 
(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently 


debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by 
any Federal agency, and 


 
(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil 


judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with 
obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract or 
subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers; or 
commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making 
false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted for, or 
otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of these 
offenses. 
 


255/383







 


31 
 


The parties hereto have executed this Contract by and through their duly authorized agents or 
representatives.  This contract is effective on the       1st    day of July, 2022 and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on 
June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided herein. 


 
CONTRACTOR     LEA 
 
 
___________________________________ _Santa Cruz City Schools________________________ 
Nonpublic School/Agency   LEA Name 
 
 
By: ________________________________ By:  __________________________________ 
        Signature                              Date            Signature                                   Date 
 


_Kate Mulligan, Head of School________ _Kris Munro, Superintendent________________ 
Name and Title of Authorized  Name and Title of Authorized  
Representative Representative   


 
 
Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed to: Notices to LEA shall be addressed to: 


 
 


Name and Title 
Danielle Patterson 


Name and Title 
Stacy O’Farrell, Director – Special Education 


Nonpublic School/Agency/Related Service Provider LEA 


Chartwell School Santa Cruz City Schools 


Address 
2511 Numa Watson Road 


Address 
13 Mission Street, Suite 100 


City   State        Zip 
Seaside                           CA                    93955 


City   State        Zip 
Santa Cruz                    CA                     95060 


Phone                                   Fax 
(831)394-3468                      831-394-6809 


Phone                                   Fax 
(831)-429-3410 X 48200      (831)-429-3450 


Email 
dpatterson@chartwell.org 


Email 
sofarrell@sccs.net 


  
 Additional LEA Notification 


(Required if completed) 


 Name and Title 
Shelby Kelsch 


 Address 
133 Mission Street, Suite 100 


 City   State        Zip 
Santa Cruz                    CA                     95060 


 Phone                                   Fax 
(831)-429-3410 X 48201      (831)-429-3450 


 Email 
shelbykelsch@sccs.net 


 
 


 


256/383







 


32 
 


EXHIBIT A:   2022-2023 RATES 


 


257/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 5.1.1.7. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Out of State Residential Treatment Center: Solstice West 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Nonpublic School contract for new and continuing services through the 
2022-2023 regular school year. Due to the confidentiality regulations that protect the identity of 
students with disabilities, the student’s name has been omitted. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract renewal for Solstice will provide Basic Education, Clinical and Support Counseling, 
Room and Board. These services are mandated by the student’s Individual Education Plan. 
Service Period: July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $202,450.96 - Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


258/383







NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN 
SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES 


 
 
 


MASTER CONTRACT 
 


 


2022-2023


259/383







 


MASTER CONTRACT 
GENERAL AGREEMENT FOR NONSECTARIAN,  
NONPUBLIC SCHOOL AND AGENCY SERVICES 


LEA SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOLS 
 


 
 


Contract Year 2022-2023 
            
 


X 
Nonpublic School  Solstice RTC 


 Nonpublic Agency  
 


Type of Contract: 
 


X Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the 
term of this contract. 


 


 


  
 Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA) 


into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.  


 


 
  
 Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates.  The sole purpose 


of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole 
discretion of the LEA.  Expiration Date:___________ 


 
 
When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above 


   shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.


260/383







 
 


I.   GENERAL PROVISIONS                                                                                                                    Page 
   
1. MASTER CONTRACT  1 
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES  1 
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS  2 
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT  2 
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT    
        FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION  3 
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  3 
7. DEFINITIONS  4 


   
II.   ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT 
   


8. NOTICES  5 
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS  5 
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE  6 
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST  6 
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW  6 
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO   


               CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES  6 
14. TERMINATION  6 
15. INSURANCE  6 
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS  9 
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR  9 
18. SUBCONTRACTING  9 
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  10 
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION  10 


 
III.  EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM 


 
 


   
21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION  11 
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION  11 
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES  12 
24. CLASS SIZE  12 
25. CALENDARS  13 
26. DATA REPORTING  13 
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT  14 
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING  14 
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS  14 
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS  15 
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE  16 
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS  16 
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH  17 
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS  17 
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES  17 
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS  18 
37. TRANSCRIPTS  18 
38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE  19 
39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM  19 


   
TABLE OF CONTENTS 


   


261/383







 


40. PARENT ACCESS  19 
41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS 


AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS  19 
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE  20 
43. MONITORING  20 


   


        
EXHIBIT A: RATES  32 
EXHIBIT B:  INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  34 
   


  


IV. PERSONNEL   
   


44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS  21 
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS  21 
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS  22 
47. STAFF ABSENCE  23 
48.  STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR  23 
   


V.    HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES    
   


49. HEALTH AND SAFETY  23 
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS  24 
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION  24 
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING  24 
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING  24 
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT  25 
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN  25 
   


VI.  FINANCIAL   
   


56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,   
        ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES  25 
57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT  26 
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES  27 
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES  27 
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY  28 
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT  28 
62. RATE SCHEDULE  29 
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION   29 


262/383







 


1 
 


 
 


2022-2023                                                      CONTRACT NUMBER: 
 


   
 


  
LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:  Santa Cruz City Schools   


 


NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:  Solstice RTC 
 


NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES  
MASTER CONTRACT 


 
AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
1. MASTER CONTRACT  
  
 This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2022, between Santa Cruz City Schools, 


hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), a member of the North Santa Cruz County 
SELPA and Solstice RTC (nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency), hereinafter referred to as NPS/A 
or “CONTRACTOR” for the purpose of providing special education and/or related services to students 
with exceptional needs under the authorization of California Education Code sections 56157, 56361 and 
56365 et seq. and Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 (Chapter 862, 
Statutes of 2003) and AB 1858 (Chapter 914, Statutes of 2004).  It is understood that this agreement does 
not commit the LEA to pay for special education and/or related services provided to any student, or 
CONTRACTOR to provide such special education and/or related services, unless and until an authorized 
LEA representative approves the provision of special education and/or related services by CONTRACTOR.  


 
Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Services Agreement 
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”).  Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge 
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized 
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”).  The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days 
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by 
CONTRACTOR.  As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic IEP 
system and/or electronic database for ISA developing including invoicing. 
 


  Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter 
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or 
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is not 
responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an IEP 
team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP is 
signed by the student’s parent.  


 
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES 


 
CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as 
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and 
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et seq 
and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification and/or credential.  A 
current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification issued by the CDE 
pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the date this Agreement 
is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such certification or waiver 
is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. 
Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification and in Section 24 of the 
Master Contract. 
 


263/383







 


2 
 


In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that 
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils 
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related services 
and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).   
 


  If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR 
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state 
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to, individuals 
with exceptional needs.  The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to the protection 
of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so placed.  If the 
CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all required licenses 
from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI is located.  


 
With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any 
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency; (4) 
major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result in 
the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master Contract 
by the LEA.  


 
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS 


 
During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all 
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.  
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into 
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy 
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it 
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA 
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with 
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related 
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive 
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).    
   
CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the 
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE 
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a). 


 
4.  TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT 
 


The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 (Title 5 California Code of 
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated.  Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is required 
to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years.  The parties acknowledge that any subsequent 
Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2023.  In the event the contract negotiations are not 
agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in effect for 90 days.  (Title 
5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be offered unless and until all 
of the contracting requirements have been satisfied.  The offer of a Master Contract to a CONTRACTOR 
is at the sole discretion of the LEA. 
 
The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent 
contractors.  Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be 
provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of authorized 
representative.   
 


 
 


264/383







 


3 
 


 
5.   INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR 


TERMINATION 
 
This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference.  This Master 
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement.  This Master 
Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.   
 
CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master Contract 
or a renewal. 
 
At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance, insurance 
documentation and CDE certification.  The LEA may require additional information as applicable. If the 
application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be issued.  If 
CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized representative 
within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take effect until the 
newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first day of the new 
Master Contract’s effective date.  If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master Contract within such 
ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master Contract for the current school 
year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California Education Code section 56366(c)(1) 
and (2)).  In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR shall continue to be 
bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed Master Contract between 
CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students at the discretion 
of the LEA. 


 
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“ISA”) 
  
 This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide 


special education and/or related services.   An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the 
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A).  An ISA may be effective for 
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect.  In the event that 
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms 
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as 
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.  
 
Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract 
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement 
between the parent and LEA.  At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent, 
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards 
required by law.  
 


 Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services specified 
in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA.  (California Education Code 
sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)).  In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to provide a specific service 
at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA in writing within five (5) 
business days of the last date a service was provided.  CONTRACTOR shall provide any and all subsequent 
compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of provision of services while student 
was served by the NPS/A. 
 
If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the OAH, 
CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the parent agrees 
otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate by LEA or OAH 
consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.  CONTRACTOR shall adhere 
to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.  


 


265/383







 


4 
 


Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master 
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is located, 
or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California Education Code 
section 56366(c) (2). 
 


7. DEFINITIONS   
 
 The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract: 
 


a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the 
California Department of Education and its officers, agents and employees.  


 
b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be responsible 


for NPS/A.  It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) 
of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in collaboration with the LEA.  
The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless otherwise specified in this Contract. 


 
c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special 


education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of 
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which 
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as 
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g). 


 
d. The term “qualified”  means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent 


to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and 
designated instruction and services and has met federal and state certification, licensing, 
registration, or other comparable requirements which apply to the area in which he or she is 
providing special education or related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34 
of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth in 
Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the standards 
of professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the standards 
contained in the California Business and Professions  Code. 
 
Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate 
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate 
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or regulations.  
(Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)). 


  
e  The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the 


Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and 
authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to 
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and board 
and care services at a residential placement.  If a license is not available through an appropriate 
state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional organization at 
the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that are equivalent to 
a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations 
section 3001(l). 
 


f. “Parent” means: 
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have legal 


authority to make educational decisions for the child,  
ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make 


educational decisions for the child,  
iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a grandparent, 


stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who is legally 
responsible for the child’s welfare,   


266/383







 


5 
 


iv. a surrogate parent,  
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational 


decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance 
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).   
 


Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under 
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and services 
for a child. (California Education Code section 56028). 


 
g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified. 
 
h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed those 


in comparable LEA programs. 
 
i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education 


Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet 
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA. 


 
j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such in 


this document. 
 


ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT 
 
8. NOTICES 
  


All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing.  Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand 
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.    


 
All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page 
of this Master Contract.  Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of 
this Master Contract. 


 
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS   
 
 All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.  


Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5) 
years after the termination of this Master Contract.  For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall 
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b) 
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code 
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily service 
logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including supervision; 
daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through additional 
instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency reports 
(BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes, 
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however, 
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials 
held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of hire, and dates 
of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer 
sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules 
when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications by-
laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and expenses; general 
journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting documents; documents 
evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence of electronic payments; 
and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.   


 


267/383







 


6 
 


 CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent 
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of 
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records.  CONTRACTOR shall maintain an 
access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or 
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education 
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for each 
individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the record(s) 
provided.  Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent; (b) an 
individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of LEA or 
CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information from the 
record.  CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting access to 
student records.  For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do not include 
subcontractors.  CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the student’s 
parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or 
receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of student records, as 
required by state and federal laws and regulations.  CONTRACTOR agrees, in the event of school or agency 
closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.  These shall include, but not 
limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification of injuries and all other 
relevant reports.  LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of any and all records upon 
request within five (5) business days. 


 
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
 
 If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the 


remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect. 
 
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST 
 
 This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees.  CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of 


any change of ownership or corporate control.   
 
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW 
  
 The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the 


County where the LEA is located. 
 
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND 


ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES 
 
This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory 
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency.  The party seeking such modification 
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or modifications 
made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or regulation upon which 
the modification or changes are based. 
 


14. TERMINATION   
 
 This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause.  The cause shall not be the availability of a public 


class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the student to the 
public school program at an IEP team meeting.  To terminate the contract either party shall give no less 
than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)). At the time of 
termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents CONTRACTOR is required to 
maintain under this Master Contract.  ISAs are void upon termination of this Master Contract, as provided 
in Section 5 or 6.  CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for cause.  To terminate the ISA, either 
party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.  


 


268/383







 


7 
 


 
 
15.       INSURANCE   


 
CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect, during 
the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or admitted 
insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any claims, damages, 
liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection with 
CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of the 
work or any component or part thereof: 


 
 PART I -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES 
 


A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property damage, 
with limits as follows:  


                         
$2,000,000 per occurrence 
$   500,000 fire damage 
$       5,000 medical expenses 
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury 
$3,000,000 general aggregate 
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate 
 
The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for sexual 
molestation or abuse.  In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an exclusion for 
sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to procure a 
supplemental policy providing such coverage. 
 


B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor 
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations 
pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage).  The Workers’ 
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits 
of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.   


 
C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with 


a $1 million combined single limit.  
 


If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.  
 


If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or to/from 
students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA, CONTRACTOR 
must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements. 


 
D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage, 


including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is 
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by 
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits: 


 
                                    $1,000,000 per occurrence 
                                    $2,000,000 general aggregate 
 


E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request, 
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage.  The certificate 
of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision.  The Commercial 
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of 
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by 


269/383







 


8 
 


CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this 
contract at no additional charge. 


 
F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved 


by the LEA.  At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s 
sole cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such 
deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or 
(b) procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation. 


G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the 
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the LEA, 
its subsidiaries, officials and employees.   Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the 
LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's 
insurance and shall not contribute with it. 


 
H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or agency 


submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the certificate on 
the certificate. 


 
             PART II -  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED 


WITH A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”) 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the following 
insurance policies are required: 
 


A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with limits 
as follows:  
 
$3,000,000 per occurrence 
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.  
 
The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named additional 
insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which may be 
applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance primary 
despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy.  Coverage shall be maintained with no 
Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the LEA. 


 
B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor 


Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to 
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage).  The Workers’ Compensation Insurance 
coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of 
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.   


C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per 
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service.  If the RTC provides student bus 
services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per Occurrence. 


D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees 
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other 
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured 
retention. 


E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of 
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.   


270/383







 


9 
 


F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the 
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum 
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.   


 
If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section 
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations. 


 
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS   
 


To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board 
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA 
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) 
resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss, expense, 
damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or omission of 
CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone employed 
directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and obligation to defend shall 
arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR. The LEA and the Member 
District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its choice to provide the defense 
at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier. 


  
 To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board 


Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR 
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) 
resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that such loss, 
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful act or 
omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone employed 
directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR Indemnities). 


 
 LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the self-


insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and that 
its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract. 


 
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR   
  
 Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent 


relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this 
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any 
commitment on behalf of the other.  Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any 
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or 
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any 
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.   


 
 If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principle, employer or co-employer of 


CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and 
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs, 
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.   


  
18. SUBCONTRACTING   
 


CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education 
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract.  In the event LEA determines that it can provide 
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s).  If LEA elects to 
provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of 
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s). 
 


271/383







 


10 
 


CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the 
fullest extent reasonably possible.  Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the 
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any 
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the term 
of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.  Each 
subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance effecting 
coverage required by Section 15.  The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by that insurer 
to bind coverage on its behalf.  The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.  All 
endorsements are to be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work commences.  
The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the LEA/SELPA and the 
LEA Board of Education as additional insured. 
 
As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of 
all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master 
Contract.  All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or 
agency submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency 
submitting the certificate.  In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in 
Section 45 Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.  


 
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 
 CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its 


Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated.  CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of 
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a conflict 
of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section 1090 
including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or reports, 
and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate.  Pursuant to California Education code 
section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional needs shall not 
recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is employed or contracted 
by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or otherwise has a conflict of 
interest. 


 
The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student when 
a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on assessment(s) 
or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization by LEA. This 
paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or a report is 
prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or whether an 
assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the services provided 
to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure the appropriateness 
of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its recommendations, the 
LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is sought to provide service(s) 
to the student for whom the IEE is requested.  Likewise, the LEA may not fund services through the 
evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund.   When no other appropriate assessor is available, LEA may 
request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide an IEE. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has 
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special 
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an 
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to 
executing this contract.  This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated 
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up to 
ten months of the school year by LEA. 
 


  CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a 
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to 
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings. 


272/383







 


11 
 


 
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION   
 


CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the 
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation, religion, 
age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity or 
expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by federal 
or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or group 
with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.  
 


EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM 
 
21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE) 
 


The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition 
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR shall 
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the 
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS, 
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services 
outlined in the student’s IEP.  If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services 
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.  


  
Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for 
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and 
ISA.  CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related 
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments, 
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this Master 
Contract).   LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence disabilities 
when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the SELPA/LEA and 
shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no longer needed or 
when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS.  CONTRACTOR shall ensure that facilities are adequate 
to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and safety regulations.  
CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not necessary for the student 
to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the student’s parent(s) of the 
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the LEA of the written 
notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature 
of the services and/or activities.  CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning parent 
acknowledgment of financial responsibility. 
 
Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public 
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as 
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in 
writing. 


 
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION 
 


All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE Certification 
and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...  


  
  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize 


evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study 
and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational, 
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the particular 
course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA.  Students 
shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted  Common Core State Standards 
(“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to 8, inclusive; 


273/383







 


12 
 


and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to 12, inclusive, 
used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c) extracurricular activities, 
such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and vocational training, consistent 
with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental assistance, including individual 
academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college counseling.   


 
When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to 
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading 
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements.    CONTRACTOR shall not award a high 
school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation requirements. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of 
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE 
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA.  The NPA providing 
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service 
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.  School-
based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or provided 
at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team.  Except for services provided by a CONTRACTOR 
that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school setting require the 
presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services, provided such guardian or 
caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to authorize emergency services as 
requested.   LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and qualified residential or clinical staff is 
present during the provision of services under this Master Contract. CONTRACTOR shall immediately 
notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to 
LEA a written description of the services and location provided prior to the effective date of this Master 
Contract.  CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention services must have a trained behaviorist or 
trained equivalent on staff.  It is understood that Behavior Intervention services are limited per CDE 
Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for 
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing. 
 


23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES   
 


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by 
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day provided 
to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed 
in accordance with the student’s IEP. 
 
For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP 
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be 
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA. 


 
The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual 
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise 
specified in the student’s IEP. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school 
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the 
student’s IEP. 


 
24. CLASS SIZE  
 
 When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of 


one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing.  Upon 
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a 


274/383







 


13 
 


ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to 
provide services to students with disabilities. 


 
 In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students, 


and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to 
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff.  The NPS and the LEA 
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure 
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher.  Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by 
both parties.  This provision does not apply to a NPA. 


 
CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between 
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to child 
ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq. 


 
25. CALENDARS  
 


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar with 
the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days equivalent 
to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar.  Billable days shall include 
only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or required by the 
IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student.  CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to change its school 
calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of the LEA.  Nothing 
in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests for calendar changes. 
 
Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site.  A 
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the 
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA.  Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20) 
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA.  Any days of 
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior to 
the start of the extended school year. 
 
Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended school 
year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be eligible for 
payment.  It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on weekends/holidays and other 
times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of 
any NPS service.  Any instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole 
financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA.  Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s 
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day, 
Memorial Day and Independence Day.  With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date 
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved 
calendar prior to the initiation of services.  CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified 
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar.  CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the LEA-
developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA.  Unless otherwise specified 
in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on only those 
days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends school.  
CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated on the 
LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing.  Student must have actually 
been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to 
be eligible for payment.  It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on 
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing, 
in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR.  Any instructional days 
provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR. 


275/383







 


14 
 


 
26. DATA REPORTING  
 
  CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing 


information with LEA.  CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract, 
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA.  It is 
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development, 
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.  Additional 
progress reporting may be required by the LEA.  The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with 
appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access. 


 
  Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, 


CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory 
offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or 
expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections 48900 and 48915. 
CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion 
even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900 and 48915. 


   
  The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including, 


but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports.  The LEA may approve use of 
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion. 


 
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT  
 
  CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive 


Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to 
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum 
extent appropriate. 


 
  CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team meetings 


regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed.  This shall include IEP team consideration 
of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the LRE and necessary 
to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings. 


 
When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting, 
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support 
the transition.   


 
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING  
 
  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall administer 


all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress 
(“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative Assessment 
(“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the Fitness 
Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative English 
Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to the 
student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.  
 
CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code 
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools.  Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by 
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability 
program.  LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.   
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as 
required by LEA. 
 


29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS 


276/383







 


15 
 


 
CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and 
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of:  curriculum, high school graduation, 
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with disabilities, 
dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and standardized 
testing and IEPs.  LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated meetings.  
Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s). 


 
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1 


and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of others 
must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in accordance with 
the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a student’s behavior 
impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to consider the use of positive 
behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that behavior, consistent with Section 
1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and associated federal regulations. This 
could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan (“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it 
is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through the development of behavioral goals and 
behavioral interventions to support those goals. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1 
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that 
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based 
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil 
population.  The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any contact 
or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or interaction 
with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in accordance 
with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written records of the 
training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for 
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions 
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of 
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately 
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the 
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from 
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined as 
a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.  It 
requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a physical 
intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious property 
damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used.  Emergencies require 
a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four (24) hours 
for administrative action.  CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours via telephone.  
If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review the behavior 
emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment, and to determine 
an interim plan.  If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify the BIP if a new 
serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to be ineffective. 
CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.    


    
  Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or pay 


for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following: 
(1) any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to, 
electric-shock; (2) an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant 


277/383







 


16 
 


sprays, mists, or substances in proximity to the face of the individual; (3) an intervention that denies 
adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or access to bathroom facilities; (4) an 
intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to verbal abuse, 
ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma; (5) restrictive 
interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize all four extremities, 
including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone containment or similar techniques 
may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency intervention; (6) locked seclusion, unless it is in 
a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a locked room; (7) an intervention that 
precludes adequate supervision of the individual; (8) an intervention that deprives the individual of one or 
more of his or her senses. 


 
  In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall 


consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that 
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and 
associated federal regulations. 


 
 All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are 


used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or multiple 
uses by the same individual.  CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when any type of 
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used.  Upon the use of any type of physical or 
mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER per the 
reporting and notification requirements listed above.   


 
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE  
 
 CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with 


state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education 
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, 
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA 
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory 
offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents 
resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of 
Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915. 


 
When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for 
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.  
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to:  the student’s name; the time, date, and 
description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for such 
disciplinary action.  A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written 
discipline report.   CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an 
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.   
  


32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS   
 
 An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each 


student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements of 
Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at the 
NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may be 
transitioned to a public school setting.  (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and (ii)) 
and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)   


 
 If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for 


any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document, if appropriate, a description of activities provided 
to integrate the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity as well as 
the time spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to support the 
transition of the student from the special education program into the regular education program. Each 


278/383







 


17 
 


student shall be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her IEP team.  Except 
as otherwise provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall participate in all IEP team 
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed.  At any time during the term 
of this Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request a review of the student’s 
IEP, subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable notice given to, and 
participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting.  Every effort shall be made to schedule IEP team 
meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR and LEA.  
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service providers 
upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures.  It is understood that attendance at an IEP 
meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under this 
Master Contract. 


  
 It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for 


all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion.  The LEA or SELPA may provide training 
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system.  The CONTRACTOR shall maintain 
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the 
system.  When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of 
the approved system for that student. 


 
Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting 
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP.  In 
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the 
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change 
in the student’s placement.  Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented placement 
unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and 
appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.   


 
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as 


the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under 
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR 300.1-
300.756.  A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section 
42238.01(b).  The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the 
educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any time 
after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule the pupil 
in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless provided notice 
otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1. 


 
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS   
 


CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations 
and hearings, as requested by LEA.  Participation further includes the willingness to make 
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due 
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of 
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or any 
other state and/or federal governmental body or agency.  Full participation shall include, but in no way be 
limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any investigator 
and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of 
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family 
Service Plan (“IFSP”). 


 
35.  COMPLAINT PROCEDURES   
 


279/383







 


18 
 


  CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent 
complaints.  These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with 
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following:  (1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 
pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2) Nondiscrimination policy 
pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3) Sexual Harassment Policy, 
California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) 
(d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act (“HIPAA”).  CONTRACTOR shall include verification of these procedures to the LEA. 
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any complaints filed against it related to LEA students 
and provide LEA with all documentation related to the complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, 
including any and all reports generated as a result of an investigation. 


 
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS   
 
 Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR shall 


provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards.  At a minimum, progress reports 
shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives.  A copy of the progress reports/report 
cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted to the LEA and 
LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly. 


 
 The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used to 


determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes, data 
sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of progress 
on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans.  The LEA may request such 
data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service.  The CONTRACTOR shall provide this data 
supporting progress within five (5) business days of request.  Additional time may be granted as needed by 
the LEA. 


 
CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the 
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present 
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and 
pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices.  CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies of 
its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business days 
prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test protocols 
and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of request.  
 
The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and objectives, 
progress reporting and development of present levels of performance.  All assessments resulting from an 
assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a request that 
CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment.  Any assessment and/or evaluation costs may be 
added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion. 
 
It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA.  For NPA 
services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection 3065, 
shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA.  Supervision means the direct observation of 
services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional standards for each 
professional’s license, certification, or credential. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports, report 
cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or meetings.  
It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with the IEP. It 
is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of the pupil’s 
record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request. 
 


37. TRANSCRIPTS  
 


280/383







 


19 
 


  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester, 
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on 
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of 
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures.  CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names of 
students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the LEA. 


 
38.  STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE   
 
  Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of 


residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence as specified 
in LEA Procedures.  Upon enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation 
to notify CONTRACTOR of the student’s change of residence.  CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and 
provide upon request by LEA, documentation of such notice to parents. 


 
 If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of 


residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA 
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.   


 
39.  WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM   
 


CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5) business 
days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services, including 
student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and student’s discharge 
against professional advice from a NPS/RTC. 
 


40. PARENT ACCESS   
 
 CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but not 


limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living quarters.  
CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental visits and access to LEA 
students. 


 
CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s reasonable 
request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC.  CONTRACTOR shall require 
that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR and the LEA 
at least thirty (30) days in advance.  CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all parent travel and accommodations 
and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate.  Payment by LEA for approved travel-
related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent with LEA Procedures.  
 
CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least 
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an 
emergency, is present.  The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the LEA 
prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in emergency 
situations.  The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written authorization 
for emergency situation.  The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer associated with the 
NPS/NPA service provider. 
 
All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in writing, 
to the LEA. 
 


41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL 
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS   


 
  If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational 


placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and 
Safety Code section 1501.1(b), AB 1858 (2004), AB490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003), AB 1261 (2005), 


281/383







 


20 
 


AB 1166 Chapter 171 (2015), AB 167 Chapter 224 (2010), AB 216 Chapter 324 (2013), AB 379 Chapter 
772 (2015), AB 1012 Chapter 703 (2015), and the procedures set forth in the LEA Procedures. An LCI 
shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its residential facility. 


 
If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the 
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1412(a)(1)(A) and Education Code 
section 56000, et seq.; amended and reorganized by the Individuals with Disabilities Education 
Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA), 20 U.S.C. section 1401(29); Education Code section 56031; Cal. Code 
Regs., Title 5, section 3001 et seq., regarding the provision of counseling services, including residential 
care for students to receive a FAPE as set forth in the LEA student’s IEPs. CONTRACTOR shall meet all 
monitoring requirements as noted in Section 43 below. 


 
  If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall 


provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special 
education.  For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education 
eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each 
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA. 


 
  Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed 


agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement 
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement 
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational decision-
making rights. 
 
In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that 
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, 
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the 
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).   


 
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE  
 
  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under 


California Education Code sections 49530, 49530.5 and 49550. 
 
43. MONITORING   
 


When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit 
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a 
master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to 
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward 
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is making 
toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation of the 
pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA (or SELPA) shall report the findings 
resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar days of 
the onsite visit.  
 
The LEA (or SELPA) shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does 
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement. 


 
 CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring 


of each student’s instructional program.  LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe 
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.  Such 
access shall include unannounced monitoring visits.  When making site visits, LEA shall initially report to 
CONTRACTOR's site administrative office.  CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in the review 
of each student’s progress. 


 


282/383







 


21 
 


 If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether 
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code section 
1501.1(b).   


 
 The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S 


facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching 
staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the 
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall 
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and 
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted as 
aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education Code 
section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with relevant 
state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct any follow-
up or corrective action procedures related to review findings. 
 
CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without cause.  
The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health and safety; 
curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance. 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the 
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California 
Education Code Section 33126. 
 


PERSONNEL 
 
44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS   
 


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237, 
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California 
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will 
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students.  CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that 
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI 
clearance are ascertained.  CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees, and 
volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with students, 
or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or serious 
felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite the 
employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for 
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j).  Contractor shall certify to LEA 
that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest notification service for all 
employees who may come into contact with students.  


 
Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information, 
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal 
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for each 
owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A.  CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence on-site, 
as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.  Background 
clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal Code section 
11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.  
 


 45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS  
 
  CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by 


CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license, 


283/383







 


22 
 


certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold  
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant to 
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California Code 
of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065.  Such qualified staff may only provide related services 
within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set by each 
profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or special 
education teacher’s scope of practice.   


 
  CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and services 


to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation provided 
to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)). 
When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and 
instructional leader, and be able to provide leadership, oversight and professional development. The 
administrator of the NPS holds or is in the process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An 
administrative credential granted by an accredited postsecondary educational institution and two years of 
experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school 
counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral 
Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree 
issued by an accredited postsecondary institution in education, special education, psychology, counseling, 
behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special 
education instruction and at least two years of experience teaching in special education before becoming 
an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral 
Sciences. (H) A license as an educational psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A 
license as a professional clinical counselor issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California 
Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5)) 
CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides and 
teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code sections 
45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq.  Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to, 
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted by 
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall possess a 
high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following qualifications:  (a) 
completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b) obtained an associate’s 
(or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate, through a formal state or 
local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading, writing, and mathematics; 
or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading readiness, writing readiness, and 
mathematics readiness, as appropriate.   CONTRACTOR shall comply with all laws and regulations 
governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the provisions with respect to supervision.  
 
In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that 
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by 
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with 
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).   


 
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS   
 


CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials, 
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or 
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by 
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents 
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools.    CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA 
with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis Test 
clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals starting to 
work with any student. 


 
CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other 
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.  


284/383







 


23 
 


CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel changes 
occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA students. 
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications or waivers 
are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal complaint or 
lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA shall not be 
obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or waivers are 
expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such person is 
providing services under this Master Contract.  Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in 
credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension 
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA. 
 


47. STAFF ABSENCE  
         
When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider 
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as 
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s 
service providers.  It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified substitute 
for their student.  LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or 
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified 
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been 
provided.  CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any 
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA 
representative. 
 


48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR 
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME 
 
It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to 
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services.  All practices shall only be within 
the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each profession 
as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations when made 
available to the CONTRACTOR.   
 
For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A 
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus 
consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the 
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is 
responsible for the instructional program. 
 
CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure that 
at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make decisions in 
an emergency is present during provision of services.  The names of any adult caregiver other than the 
parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including written and 
signed authorization in emergency situations.  The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer 
associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by CONTRACTOR 
to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA. 


 
HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES 
 
49. HEALTH AND SAFETY   
 
 CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations, 


ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety.  CONTRACTOR 
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406, 
regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis. 
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed, 


285/383







 


24 
 


contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in 
contact with a student. 


 
 CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal 


Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.  
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and 
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code. 


 
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS   
 
  CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that comply 


with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not limited to:  
disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning systems; zoning 
permits; and occupancy capacity.  When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall conduct fire 
drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.  CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required 
complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the 
LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or relocation of facilities may result in the suspension 
or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA. 


 
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION  
 


CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49423 when 
CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter medication 
during the school day.  CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the 
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written 
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by which 
such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting 
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.  
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.  
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered.  Such 
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each 
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.  
CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for ensuring appropriate staff training in the administration 
of such medication consistent with physician’s written orders.  Any change in medication type, 
administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized by both a licensed physician and parent.   


 
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING   
 
 CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.  


CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures 
specified in LEA Procedures.  


 
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING   
 


CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are 
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and 
procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To 
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will remain 
confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates.  A written statement acknowledging the 
legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such reporting shall be submitted 
to the LEA.  


 
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT 
 


286/383







 


25 
 


CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the kinds 
of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy, as 
well as federal and state law.  The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of 
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.  
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning 
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.  
 


55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN   
 
  CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to 


adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section 
49370.  A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of 
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA.  The written statement shall be 
submitted as specified by the LEA. 


 
FINANCIAL 


 
56.  ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND 


BILLING PROCEDURES  
 
  CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial 


resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources 
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student. 


 
  CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance 


reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA 
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same.  CONTRACTOR 
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP and 
ISA.  All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master 
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws. 


 
CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service, and 
services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides.  Original attendance 
forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes for 
instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be 
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be available 
for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a period of five 
(5) years thereafter.  CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported attendance that is the 
basis of services being billed for payment. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar month 
when education or related services were provided.  Invoices and related documents shall be properly 
submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner prescribed by LEA. 
At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of service; specific days and 
times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise specified in the IEP or agreed 
to by the LEA;  name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of each invoice; total for each service 
and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing 
that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE certificates and staff notification; 
verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication of any made-up session consistent 
with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided consistent with the ISA (monthly 
or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials of each student for when the service 
was provided.   
 
In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be included.  
 


287/383







 


26 
 


Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract.  At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic 
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the 
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training. 
 
Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period 
in which the services were rendered.  LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number 
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45) 
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in 
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA.   CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and 
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.  LEA 
shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a completely 
corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA. 
 
In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) 
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year.  In no case shall any rebilling for the Master 
Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal year 
unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a delay 
in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher qualification, 
but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year.  If the billing or re-billing error is the 
responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and CONTRACTOR have 
communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the close of the fiscal year.  
LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee. 
 


57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT   
  
 LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when:  (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in whole 


or in part,  under the terms of this contract;  (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on days 
other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not receive 
services; (c)  CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or audit of 
its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting documentation 
with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e)  education and/or related services are provided to 
students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (f)  LEA has 
not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning  one or more students 
enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm a student’s 
change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district, but fails to 
notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation;   or (h) CONTRACTOR receives payment from 
Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It is understood 
that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months following the close 
of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.  


 
 Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a 


Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for 
regular ongoing operations.  In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a 
review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA.  Such review or audit will be completed within ninety 
(90) days.  The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR 
determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the 
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected. 
 
The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding 
paragraph are as follows:  (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount of 
overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided by 
CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately 
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e)  the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the 
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or 
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service 
provided to the student.  


288/383







 


27 
 


 
If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10) 
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding 
payment.  Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to 
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all 
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding 
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA 
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is 
unfounded.  Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend 
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment 
will be denied. 
 
If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment should 
not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it believes 
payment should not be withheld.  LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty (30) business 
days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the reason LEA believes 
payment should not be made.  If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business days or a dispute regarding 
the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to CONTRACTOR’s notice, 
CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.  


After forty-five (45) business days:  The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s Representative 
of the dispute in writing.  The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the CONTRACTOR in 
writing within fifteen (15) business days.   


After sixty (60) business days:  The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of 
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in 
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and 
expenses arising out of such mediation.  Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any 
mediation process agreed to by the parties. 
 


58.  PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES   
 
  CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated 


with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR 
shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal or 
any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services to 
students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by Title 
34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA students’public 
benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided before seeking 
payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually. 


 
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES  
  
 NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE 
 
 Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an 


appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with California 
Education Code section 56061.  CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of substitute 
coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures.  Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned class during 
all instructional time.  LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction or service is 
provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher. 


 
 Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in 


Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute.  LEA will not pay for services unless a 
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision 
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on 
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP. 


289/383







 


28 
 


 
 
 
 
 NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE 
 
 If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s 


unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.   
 


Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California 
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307.   LEA shall not pay for services provided on days 
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under 
state law.  Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be 
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was 
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s 
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor 
shall student be eligible for make-up services. 
 
NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE 
 
When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by 
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service providers.  
LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides 
documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty 
(30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been provided.  CONTRACTOR shall 
not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in 
writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA.  In the event services were not provided, reasons for why the services 
were not provided shall be included. 
 
NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE  
 
If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the 
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence.  LEA shall not be responsible for the payment 
of services when a student is absent.   


 
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY 
 


The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent with 
guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392: 


 
a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately 


as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending LEA 
is open or closed.   


b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education Code 
section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall 
not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure. 
If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment 
consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the student were continuing his/her regular 
attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance 
with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. 


c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is 
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an 
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education 
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative 


290/383







 


29 
 


placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in 
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.  


 
When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost 
instructional minutes.  CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for 
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as 
appropriate. 


 
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT   
 
 The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the books, 


records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs claimed 
to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to:  student records 
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily service 
logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily service 
logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior 
intervention aides,  bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes, telephone 
logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business licenses held, 
documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff time sheets; non-
paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service subcontracts; school 
calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; 
state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; other 
documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports Form 941/DE3DP; and 
bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.  Such access shall include unannounced 
inspections by LEA.  CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary information including 
operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract period being audited.  
 
CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be 
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge.  All records shall be provided to LEA within 
five (5) working days of a written request from LEA.  CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA, provide 
assistance for such examination or audit.  LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access to 
CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees.  If any document or 
evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the LEA 
agrees to the use of the electronic format. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements 
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.  


 
If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent 
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over 
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA 
shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and specifying 
the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in writing, 
CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over billing and/or 
failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as determined by 
an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent agency/firm. 
CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of receipt of LEA’s written notice 
demanding payment. 


  
62. RATE SCHEDULE 


 
 The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum 


dollar amount of the contract.  It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided 
specific services.  Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may 


291/383







 


30 
 


be adjusted proportionally.  In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on 
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as noted in California Education Code Section 
46200-46208. 


 
 Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified 


personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related 
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A. 


 
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION 


 
By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that: 


 
(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently 


debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by 
any Federal agency, and 


 
(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil 


judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with 
obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract or 
subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers; or 
commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making 
false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted for, or 
otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of these 
offenses. 
 


292/383







 


31 
 


The parties hereto have executed this Contract by and through their duly authorized agents or 
representatives.  This contract is effective on the       1st    day of July, 2022 and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on 
June 30, 2023, unless sooner terminated as provided herein. 


 
CONTRACTOR     LEA 
 
 
_ Solstice RTC ____________________________ _Santa Cruz City 
Schools________________________ 
Nonpublic School/Agency   LEA Name 
 
 
By: ________________________________ By:  __________________________________ 
        Signature                              Date            Signature                                   Date 
 


________________________________ _Kris Munro, Superintendent________________ 
Name and Title of Authorized  Name and Title of Authorized  
Representative Representative   


 
 
Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed to: Notices to LEA shall be addressed to: 


 
 


Name and Title Name and Title 
Stacy O’Farrell, Director – Special Education 


Nonpublic School/Agency/Related Service Provider LEA 


 Santa Cruz City Schools 


Address Address 
13 Mission Street, Suite 100 


City   State        Zip City   State        Zip 
Santa Cruz                    CA                     95060 


Phone                                   Fax Phone                                   Fax 
(831)-429-3410 X 48200      (831)-429-3450 


Email Email 
sofarrell@sccs.net 


  
 Additional LEA Notification 


(Required if completed) 


 Name and Title 
Shelby Kelsch 


 Address 
133 Mission Street, Suite 100 


 City   State        Zip 
Santa Cruz                    CA                     95060 


 Phone                                   Fax 
(831)-429-3410 X 48201      (831)-429-3450 


 Email 
shelbykelsch@sccs.net 


 


293/383







 


32 
 


 
 


EXHIBIT A:   2022-2023 RATES 
 


 


294/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Agreement for Professional Services: Margaret Barker 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Agreement for Professional Services (APS) contract for new and 
continuing services through the 2022-2023 regular school year. Due to the confidentiality 
regulations that protect the identity of students with disabilities, the student names have been 
omitted. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract renewal for Margaret Barker will provide Assistive Technology services and/or 
assessments for two students. These services and/or assessments are mandated by each of the 
student’s Individual Education Plan. Service Period: July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $2,400.00 - Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


295/383







296/383







297/383







298/383







299/383







300/383







301/383







302/383







303/383







304/383







305/383







306/383







307/383







308/383







  AGENDA ITEM: 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:                    Agreement for Professional Services: Maria Ballard 
 
MEETING DATE:                  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:                                 Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH:                          Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached Agreement for Professional Services (APS) contract for new and 
continuing services through the 2022-2023 regular school year. Due to the confidentiality 
regulations that protect the identity of disabled pupils, the student names have been omitted. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
This contract renewal for Maria Ballard will provide Physical Therapy services for one student 
requiring these services as per their Individual Education Plan. Service Period: July 1, 2022 
through June 30, 2023. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Not to exceed $2,500.00, Special Education (Restricted)  


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #3:  We will eliminate the achievement gaps that currently exist between demographic 
groups within the SCCS student community. 


  


 Prepared by Stacy O’Farrell, Director of Special Education 


309/383







310/383







311/383







312/383







313/383







314/383







315/383







316/383







317/383







318/383







319/383







320/383







321/383







322/383







AGENDA ITEM: 5.1.1.10. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 


AGENDA ITEM: Catapult EMS  
 
MEETING DATE: June 22, 2022 
 
FROM: Dorothy Coito, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services 
 
THROUGH: Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the attached contract to provide access to Catapult EMS.  
 


BACKGROUND: 
Catapult EMS is a K12 Advanced Emergency Management and Communication platform. 
CatapultEMS has an anonymous bully and threat reporting component that offers a confidential 
way for students, teachers, and parents to report any concerns through the school’s website 
and/or a Catapult EMS application. Reports are submitted in real time to dedicated Site Safety 
Teams and the Central Office Safety Team. Notifications arrive via text and email so site and 
central office teams can address and respond to the anonymous report in a timely manner. 
 
In addition to anonymous reporting, this tool supports two-way communication with staff 
during an emergency on campus. Further, the Catapult EMS app contains classroom rosters and 
student emergency contact information to support reunification efforts in the event of an 
emergency evacuation. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
$10,843.30 - LCFF Base (Unrestricted) 
 
Funded by:  Medi-Cal Activities Administrative Program (MAA) funding - Restricted 
 


This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics. 
 
Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #2:  SCCS will create positive, engaging school environments that promote the 
development of cognitive skills and the social emotional well-being of all students. 
Goal #6: SCCS will maintain strong communication and partnership with its diverse community. 
 


 


 


Prepared by Gail Atlansky, Director of Student Services 
 


323/383







5098 Foothills Blvd #3-396, Roseville, CA 95747 


855.550.9006 | sales@catapultems.com


CatapultK12 | Santa Cruz City Schools  


QUOTE FOR


Santa Cruz City Schools


INTEGRATED EMERGENCY SOLUTIONS 


Prepared For: 


Gail Atlansky 


gailatlansky@sccs.net 


Prepared By: 


Angie Brown 
abrown@catapultk12.com 


324/383







5098 Foothills Blvd #3-396, Roseville, CA 95747 


855.550.9006 | sales@catapultems.com


CatapultK12 | Santa Cruz City Schools  


4 Products in 1 Software


WeTip Anonymous Community 
Reporting Integration
Anonymous online bully, tip, and threat reports go directly 


to your site's safety team to respond, escalate, resolve and 


archive reports.


Emergency Alerts 


Automatic emergency alerts sent via text, email and phone to 


staff, teachers, admin and �rst responders.


325/383







5098 Foothills Blvd #3-396, Roseville, CA 95747 


855.550.9006 | sales@catapultems.com


CatapultK12 | Santa Cruz City Schools  


Emergency Management System
Full emergency management system with real-time 


student and staff accountability, digital emergency 


resources, two-way communication and �rst responder 


integration. 


Student/Parent Reuni�cation 


Initiate a reuni�cation process at the conclusion of an 


emergency to reunite students with their emergency contacts. 


POWERFUL FEATURES


326/383







5098 Foothills Blvd #3-396, Roseville, CA 95747 


855.550.9006 | sales@catapultems.com


CatapultK12 | Santa Cruz City Schools  


CatapultEMS Quote


Client:  Santa Cruz City Schools Date: Jun 1, 2022


Contact: Gail Atlansky Phone: (831) 429-3410


Address: 133 Mission Street, Santa Cruz, California, 
95060


Email: gailatlansky@sccs.net


Catapult Contact: Angie Brown Catapult Email: abrown@catapultk12.com 


EMS Year 1 (Setup + Service) Quantity Price Subtotal


ONE-TIME SETUP FEES


EMS Setup Fee
Setup Includes: Single Sign-on, Evacuation Map, 
Emergency Procedure Manual, Emergency Checklist, 
Incident Type, Report Status, Scripts, Site Con�guration, 
Student Information System Integration, when applicable


1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00


IP/VOIP Integration (optional)
All call integration for initiating classroom calls.  $150 per 
school site to con�gure Algo units and integrate with 
CatapultEMS.  


Note:  An Algo 8301 would be required at each school 
site.  Algo cost ($350 each) and on-site setup not 
included.  On-site setup for the Algo units usually takes 
about an hour for staff to install.


0 $150.00 $0.00


ONE-TIME TRAINING FEES


Online Learning Management System Training for 
ALL Staff and Safety Team
Up to 750-users included in LMS training


750 $0.99 $742.50


Onsite District & Site Safety Team Training
Additional expense may be incurred for travel costs


0 $499.00 $0.00


327/383







5098 Foothills Blvd #3-396, Roseville, CA 95747 


855.550.9006 | sales@catapultems.com


CatapultK12 | Santa Cruz City Schools  


Virtual District & Site Safety Team Training 3 $299.00 $897.00


PRORATED SERVICE FEES (YEAR 1 ONLY)


Prorated Year 1 Service Fee
Prorated for 11-months from August 2022 -  June 2023 


11 $940.42 $10,344.62


Prorated Optional Mobile Phone Alert
Emergency Noti�cation Alert for 750 staff and teachers in 
the form of a phone call to all mobile and phone 
call devices with a phone number


11 $49.38 $543.18


Prorated Multi-Site Discount 11 -$244.00 -$2,684.00


Prorated Multi-Product Discount
Applicable with the purchase of 2-Catapult products


Ask about our integrated communication suite!
• CMS: School Websites
• Connect: Parent Communication with integration 


into CMS websites, social media, app and 
attendance alerts


• App: Developed with full information integration 
from your CMS website to send to your parents


0 $0.00 $0.00


YEAR 1 TOTAL $10,843.30


EMS Year 2 (Annual Service) Quantity Price Subtotal


EMS Service Fee
 Yearly Service for 11 total sites and 6,100 total students 


Includes: 
• Emergency Noti�cation Alerts (email, text and 


mobile app silent override alert for Teachers, 
Staff, First Responders and SST/DST)


• Emergency Management System (EMS) + 
Incident Command System (ICS)


• Reuni�cation


6100 $1.85 $11,285.00


Multi-Site Discount 6100 -$0.48 -$2,928.00


328/383







5098 Foothills Blvd #3-396, Roseville, CA 95747 


855.550.9006 | sales@catapultems.com


CatapultK12 | Santa Cruz City Schools  


Optional Mobile Phone Call Alert
Emergency Noti�cation Alert for 750 staff and teachers in 
the form of a phone call to all mobile and phone 
call devices with a phone number


750 $0.79 $592.50


Optional Virtual District & Site Safety Team 
Re-Training
At Year 2, we offer a virtual district and safety team 
retraining for new hires and to learn about our new 
releases each year. 


1 $299.00 $299.00


Online LMS Re-Training
Includes: Site Safety Team, Bully Response Team, 
Staff/Teacher and Police Refresher Training yearly 


60 $0.00 $0.00


Multi-Product Discount
Applicable with the purchase of 2-Catapult products 


Ask about our integrated communication suite!
• CMS: School Websites
• Connect: Parent Communication with integration 


into CMS websites, social media, app and 
attendance alerts


• App: Developed with full information integration 
from your CMS website to send to your parents


0 $0.00 $0.00


YEAR 2 TOTAL $9,248.50


329/383







5098 Foothills Blvd #3-396, Roseville, CA 95747 


855.550.9006 | sales@catapultems.com


CatapultK12 | Santa Cruz City Schools  


PAYMENT & TERMS OF USE


Terms: By signing below, Client approves this quote and certi�es that they understand and accept what work is to be performed 


for the price de�ned.  Client will pay Catapult half of the one-time setup fees upon signing this document and the second half at 


the contract start date.  This quote is good for 30-days. Once signed, please email, electronically sign or fax this quote to 


CatapultK12. By signing this quote the client agrees to the Terms of Use on the CatapultK12.com website. By signing this quote, 


you are locking into a contract from August 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025 for the summary of fees outlined above.


Payment Frequency Annually


Payment Terms Payment Due Net 30 from Receipt of Invoice


Billing Contact Name


Billing Contact Email


Billing Address


Billing Phone Number


CUSTOMER


_______________________________________________
Signature


________________________________________________
Date


_______________________________________________
Name


________________________________________________
Title


330/383







AGENDA ITEM: 5.1.2.1. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOLS 
 


 
AGENDA ITEM:              Cooperative Contract: Use of Mailroom Equipment  
 
MEETING DATE: June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:   Jim Monreal, Asst. Supt. Business Services 
 
THROUGH: Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION:    
Approve the cooperative contract ADSPO16-169897, Mailroom Equipment, Supplies and 
Maintenance pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 20118 and 20652 awarded to Pitney 
Bowes by NASPO Value Point, a non-profit division of NASPO (National Association of State 
Procurement Officials).   
 
BACKGROUND:   
The current 60 month term lease on the District Postage meter will expire on July 9, 2022.  
District plans to lease Pitney Bowes equipment using a 36 month term FMV lease beginning July 
1, 2022, and ending on June 30, 2025. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
$12,432.24 for a three year lease term. LCFF Base (Unrestricted) 
 
This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 


 
Goal #5:  SCCS will maintain a balanced budget and efficient and effective management. 
 


331/383







 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


  


 


April 20, 2017 


 


To: NASPO ValuePoint Management Board 


 


From: Ted Fosket for the Mailroom Equipment, Supplies and Maintenance Sourcing Team 


 


RE: Evaluation/Award Summary and Recommendation for NASPO ValuePoint (Arizona RFP Number ADS 016-


00006328), Mailroom Equipment, Supplies and Maintenance. 


This executive summary was prepared by NASPO ValuePoint staff for use by the Management Board. The 


official award documents are maintained by the Lead State in accordance with its procurement laws. 


 


Background: Following an industry meeting which was held in May 2015, a re-solicitation of the Mailroom 


Equipment, Supplies, and Maintenance contracts was released in August 2015 and closed in October 2015. There 


were issues with awarding new contracts so a second re-solicitation effort was started in February 2016. The new 


RFP was released last September and closed in October. The sourcing team conducted evaluations in early 


December. They included a period for clarifications and best and final offers. The evaluations are now complete 


and the sourcing team is seeking Management Board approval to move forward with awards. If approved, these 


contracts will have an initial term of two-years with incremental options to renew for three additional years; a 


total of five years. 


 


Sourcing Team: The RFP was led by the State of Arizona and was developed with sourcing team involvement 


from five states: California, Connecticut, Illinois, Texas, and Utah. NASPO ValuePoint staff provided project 


oversight.  


 


RFP Information: The RFP was issued on September 19, 2016. The RFP was amended six times and closed 


November 15, 2016. 


 


Proposal Information: Ten proposals were received from Bell and Howell, Francotyp Postalia, Mailroom 


Dynamics, Neopost, Opex, Pitney Bowes, RISO, ROAR Postal Supplies, Versia Storage Systems, and 


Stamps.com. The Sourcing Team met on December 7-9, 2016 in Tempe, AZ to complete evaluation and scoring 


of each offeror’s proposal. Evaluation was based on the technical assessment of the offeror and their key 


personnel, cost, and the offeror’s exceptions to the terms and conditions. 


 


Evaluations: Scoring the RFP was based on a 1,000-point scale and allowed for multiple awards across an array 


of 35 categories. We received no offers in some categories and only a single offer in others. As a result, we 


recommend two awards each in 28 of the 35 categories. Within that recommendation, we identified three specific 


categories where we are recommending a third award. The RFP also included some miscellaneous services and 


we are recommending miscellaneous services awards for six offerors. 


 


The following three offerors were found non-responsive: Francotyp Postalia, Mailroom Dynamics, and ROAR 


Postal Supplies. 


 


Current and new supplier makeup: The current NASPO ValuePoint portfolio for this equipment and services 


has six contractors. Consistent with the RFP evaluation criteria for this solicitation, the sourcing team 


recommends award to the following seven offerors: Bell & Howell, Neopost, Opex, Pitney Bowes, RISO, 


Stamps.com, and Versia Storage Systems. 


332/383







 


Key benefits of new agreements: Below are some highlights of the benefits from the prospective contract 


awards: 


1. These contracts include a wide range of products, from ultra-low to production mailing systems. 


2. The pricing for these contracts ranges from 10 to 60 percent lower than the current contracts. 


Conclusion: The State of Arizona management has reviewed and approved these award recommendations. I 


endorse the excellent work and analysis of the sourcing team and recommend your approval of the proposed 


awards and ask that we permit Arizona to move ahead with the recommended NASPO ValuePoint awards. 


333/383







334/383







1 
 


 


ON-DEMAND SUBSCRIPTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 


 


Thanks for using our on-demand subscription services.  These terms define the terms and conditions 


under which you’re allowed to use the on-demand subscription services and how we’ll treat your 


account while you’re utilizing the on-demand subscription services. If you have any questions about our 


terms, feel free to contact us.   


We’ll start with the basics, including a few definitions that should help you understand this agreement.  


This On-Demand Subscription Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is between you and Pitney Bowes 


Inc. (“we”, “us”, and “our”). This Agreement will only apply if the on-demand subscription services 


identified in your order form (the “Order”) are not covered by one or more separate On-Demand 


Subscription Services Agreements.  Your on-demand subscription services may also require one or more 


Statements of Work (each a “SOW”).   


The web sites through which you access the on-demand subscription services (each a “Site”; the on-


demand subscription services and the Sites are collectively called the “Services”) are owned and 


operated by us or our vendors. Additional SendPro® Enterprise subscription product-specific terms 


(“Product Terms”) can be found in Exhibit A attached hereto and are incorporated into this Agreement..  


1.    Eligibility 


In order to use the Services, you must provide true, complete and up to date contact information for so 


long as you access the Services. You won’t use the Services in a way that violates any laws or 


regulations, including any relating to data protection and privacy. We may refuse service or close your 


account if you fail to comply with this Agreement. 


2.    Use of the Service  


a)  As long as you continue to comply with the terms of this Agreement, we grant you a non-exclusive, 


non-transferable license to access and use the Services for the number of months, and for up to the 


number of users, transactions, or other volume metrics specified in the Order. If applicable, you may 


upgrade your plan for additional fees. We are licensing the Services to you, and we reserve all rights to 


the Services not expressly granted to you in this Agreement.  


b) You agree that you will use the Services only for business or commercial purposes and not for 


personal, family or household purposes.   


c)  You won’t use the Services for or make the Services available to any third party.  In addition, you 


agree not to use the Services to send infringing, obscene, threatening or unlawful or tortious material or 


disrupt other users of the Services.  Disruptions include but are not limited to denial of service attempts, 


distribution of advertising or chain letters, propagation of computer worms and viruses, or use of the 


Services to make unauthorized entry to any other device accessible via the Services.  For the Services 


and related software, you will not (i) make derivative works; (ii) sublicense, sell, rent, lease, lend, time-


share, disclose, transfer or host the Services, documentation or any other confidential or proprietary 


information to or for any other parties; (iii) use the Services to modify or reproduce a third party’s 


materials unless you have the legal right to do so; (iv) distribute any part of the Services over any 


network, including a local area network; or (v) extract any data from the Services and use such data for 


any purpose other than for your use of the Services. 


335/383







2 
 


d) If you are delivered software for on premise installation as part of the Service (“Software”) the 


following additional terms apply: You won’t (i) reverse engineer, decompile or disassemble the 


Software; (ii) make copies of the Software, other than a reasonable number of copies for use for disaster 


recovery purposes; and (iii) separate the components of the Software, or install and use such 


components separately and independently of the Software they comprise. 


e)  If you do not comply with this Section 2, you will be in material breach of this Agreement, and we will 


have the right to immediately terminate your use of the Services. 


3.    Term and Termination; Suspension 


a)  The term of this Agreement begins on the effective date of the Order and will remain in effect for 


each Service for the duration of the Order or SOW applicable to such Service.  Each Order or SOW will be 


effective as of the date in such Order or SOW and will remain in effect until its expiration or until your 


account is closed.  If this Agreement is terminated, any Order entered into beforehand will, unless 


terminated under another provision of this Agreement, remain in effect for its entire term and this 


Agreement will remain in effect for the Order until its termination. 


b)  Except as set forth in an Order, SOW or Product Terms, you or we may terminate your account at any 


time and for any reason by giving thirty days’ notice to the other and we may suspend the relevant 


Service to you at any time, with or without cause.  


c)  We may at any time without notice: i) refuse to accept your Orders for the Sites and/or Services; ii) 


move, suspend or terminate all or any part of the Sites and/or Services; or iii) refuse to fulfill any Order 


or any part of any Order or terminate your account and delete any content stored in your account if, in 


our sole discretion,  if you violate any laws in connection with your use of the Sites or the Services or if a 


competent regulatory authority requires us to do so.  


d) Once your use of a Service is terminated, (i) we may permanently delete your account and all the data 


associated with it, (ii) you must immediately stop using the Service and Software, and remove any 


Software from the computers on which it was installed, (iii) each party will promptly return or destroy all 


confidential information of the other party; and (iv) your access to the Service will continue through the 


current billing period for access to the Service (the “Billing Period”) for which you have paid in advance, 


unless you have failed to comply with this Agreement, in which case your access will be immediately 


revoked.  You won’t be entitled to a refund from us under any circumstances. 


e)  Termination of this Agreement will be in addition to and not in lieu of any other legal or equitable 
remedies available to us. 
 
4.    Changes 


We may change the Services and any features from time to time, and if such changes are material, we 


will notify you by sending an email to the last email address you gave to us. If you do not wish to 


continue using the modified Services, you may terminate your use of the Service, effective the last day 


of the current Billing Period for which you have paid in advance. We may change any terms of this 


Agreement and the fees charged for using the Services by posting revised terms and/or fees on the Sites 


and/or by sending an email to the last email address you gave to us. The new terms and new fees will be 


effective on the first day of the next Billing Period and will apply thereafter. By continuing to use the 


Services after any such changes, you agree to be bound by such changes. If you do not wish to agree to 


the new terms or the new fees, you must stop using that portion of the Services affected immediately.   


5.    Account and Password 


336/383







3 
 


By registering for the Services, you will be prompted to establish certain passwords and provide other 


access information to enable you to use the Services. You represent that you have all necessary 


authority to establish an account with us on behalf of the business. The account name, password and 


access information is confidential information and should be used solely by you to access your account 


and use the Services. You are responsible for keeping your account name, password and access 


information confidential. You will take all reasonable steps to prevent unauthorized access to your 


account and you will immediately notify us of any unauthorized use of your accounts or any other 


breach of security. We aren’t responsible for any losses due to stolen or hacked passwords. 


6.    Account Disputes 


We don’t arbitrate disputes over who owns an account. You won't request access to or information 


about an account that's not yours. We decide who owns an account based on the information that has 


been provided to us with respect to the account, and if multiple people or entities are identified, then 


we will rely on the contact information listed for that account. 


7.    Fees; Payment Terms 


a)  You will pay the fees for the use of the Services which are posted on the Sites or described in an 


Order or SOW, and may be changed from time to time, unless specified as conditions of a subscription 


type. These fees do not include: (i) any applicable sales, use or other taxes, which will be separately 


identified on your invoice; (ii) usage-based fees for the Services, which will be separately identified on 


your invoice, and (iii) charges for any services not contemplated by this Agreement, such as special 


programming, which may be available upon request and are subject to our then-current rates. Except as 


provided in an Order or SOW, your subscription for the use of the Services will be billed in advance with 


the first payment due at the time of registration and with each subsequent payment due on the due 


date specified in the invoice for the payment.   


b)  We will automatically charge your payment source the cost of your subscription at the beginning of 


each Billing Period. Please note that we may receive updated billing information regarding your credit 


card account or other payment source and you consent to us receiving such updates. 


8.  Personal Information  


If any of the Services collects or stores individually identifiable personal information, then we will 


comply with our privacy statement located at http://www.pitneybowes.com/us/license-terms-of-


use/lbs-api-privacy-statement.html as it may be updated by us from time to time (the “Privacy 


Statement”). 


9.  Trademarks 


Pitney Bowes, the Pitney Bowes logo, and associated brand names and domain names are our 


intellectual property in the United States and other countries. All marks not owned by us are the 


property of their owners. You may not use, and nothing contained on the Sites or in this Agreement 


grants any right to use, any trademark displayed on the Site without our written permission or from the 


owner of the trademark.  In addition, except as explicitly set forth in this Agreement, you will not use 


any copyrighted work displayed on the Sites or any of our other intellectual property without our prior 


written consent. 


 


10. Feedback; Data 


337/383







4 
 


a)  You grant to us (and our affiliates and vendors, if applicable) the right to use the data you provide to 


us as necessary to provide the Services and as provided in our Privacy Statement.  We reserve the right 


to use, without limitation, any anonymized or aggregated data that does not identify you or any user of 


the Service relating to use of the Service.  We retain the right to use data derived from your use of the 


Service for our internal purposes and for the purposes of performing analytics on the Service, or for 


improving or enhancing the Service or other products or services offered by us to our customers, all in 


accordance with the Privacy Statement. 


b)   You assign to us all right, title, and interest (including all rights in copyright and resulting patents) in 


any data, feedback, suggestions, and written materials provided to us related to your use of the 


Services. 


c)  You’ll ensure that you have the appropriate rights to (including the right to provide to us) all data, 


files, materials or other information that you provide to us in connection with our provision of the 


Services.  


11. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 


a)  TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, YOU ASSUME FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY LOSS 


THAT RESULTS FROM YOUR USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE THE SERVICE AND WE WILL NOT BE LIABLE 


FOR ANY SUCH LOSS. IF THE WAIVER OF LIABILITY IN THE PREVIOUS SENTENCE IS NOT PERMITTED BY 


LAW, OUR TOTAL LIABILITY FOR ALL CLAIMS MADE RELATING TO YOUR USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE 


THE SERVICE IN ANY BILLING PERIOD WILL BE NO MORE THAN WHAT YOU PAID US TO PROVIDE THE 


SERVICE FOR THE PREVIOUS BILLING PERIOD.   


b)  WE WON’T BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL 


DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOSS OF PROFIT OR REVENUE, LOST POSTAGE, LOST BUSINESS 


OPPORTUNITIES, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION OR LOST DATA YOU MAY SUFFER UNDER ANY 


CIRCUMSTANCES, EVEN IF WE HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF THOSE DAMAGES, OR FOR 


ANY CLAIM BY ANY OTHER PARTY. 


12. INDEMNITY 


YOU AGREE TO INDEMNIFY AND HOLD US HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LOSSES, 


COSTS AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING ATTORNEYS’ FEES) ARISING IN ANY WAY FROM YOUR USE OF THE 


SERVICE OR RELATED TO ANY BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT BY YOU OR ANY USER AUTHORIZED BY 


YOU. WE RESERVE THE RIGHT TO ASSUME THE EXCLUSIVE DEFENSE AND CONTROL OF ANY MATTER 


SUBJECT TO INDEMNIFICATION BY YOU AND YOU AGREE TO COOPERATE WITH US IN MAKING THE 


DEFENSE. THIS SECTION 12 WILL SURVIVE ANY TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT OR AN ORDER 


INDEFINITELY. 


13.  SERVICE AVAILABILITY; DISCLAIMERS  


a)  YOUR ACCESS TO AND USE OF THE SERVICES MAY BE INTERRUPTED FROM TIME TO TIME FOR 


VARIOUS REASONS, INCLUDING MALFUNCTION OF EQUIPMENT, PERIODIC UPDATING, MAINTENANCE 


OR REPAIR OF THE SITES, OR OTHER ACTIONS THAT WE MAY ELECT TO TAKE.  


b)  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY STATED IN ANY PRODUCT SPECIFIC TERMS, TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT 


PERMITTED BY LAW, THE SERVICES AND THE CONTENT ON THE SITES, INCLUDING ANY THIRD PARTY 


SERVICE OR DATA, ARE PROVIDED BY US “AS IS” WITHOUT WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER 


EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A 


PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ACCURACY, RELIABILITY AND NON-INFRINGEMENT. WE DON’T GUARANTEE 


338/383







5 
 


THAT THE SERVICES WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR-FREE, OR THAT WE WILL CORRECT ALL 


ERRORS. 


14.  Third Party Sites 


The Sites and this Agreement may contain links to third party websites, including links to the websites of 


carriers (“Linked Sites”). The Linked Sites are not under our control and we are not responsible for the 


contents of any Linked Site, including any link contained in a Linked Site, or any changes or updates to a 


Linked Site.  You should contact the site administrator or webmaster for those Linked Sites if you have 


any concerns regarding such links or the content located there. 


15. Compliance with Laws    


Each party will comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, including 


export regulations and privacy laws. You will be solely responsible for the content of all data submitted 


to us in connection with our provision of the Services and will comply with all laws, rules and regulations 


relating to the use, disclosure and transmission of such data. 


16.  Assignments 


You may not assign any of your rights under this Agreement to anyone else. We may assign or 


subcontract our rights to any other individual or entity at our discretion. 


17.  U.S. Government Restricted Rights  


If you are an agency of the United States Government, use of the Services by the Government 


constitutes acknowledgment of our proprietary rights in software contained in the Services, and such 


software will be:  (i) deemed “commercial computer software” or “commercial computer software 


documentation” and the Government’s rights with respect to such software and documentation are 


limited by this Agreement, pursuant to FAR § 12.212(a) and/or DFARS § 227.7202-1(a), as applicable, or 


their successors; and (ii) subject to “RESTRICTED RIGHTS,” as described in FAR52.227-14 and/or 


DFAR252.227-7013 et seq., as applicable. Use, duplication, or disclosure by the Government is subject to 


restrictions as set forth in these regulations. 


18.  Choice of Law; Arbitration; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL 


a)  This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to its principals 


of conflict of laws.   


b)   If we file an action against you claiming you breached this Agreement and we prevail, we will be 


entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees. 


c)  ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER THIS AGREEMENT THAT YOU DON’T PRESENT WITHIN 1 


YEAR FROM THE DISCOVERY OF THE CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION WILL BE DEEMED WAIVED. ANY 


DISPUTE BETWEEN THE PARTIES WILL BE RESOLVED EXCLUSIVELY BY INDIVIDUAL BINDING 


ARBITRATION GOVERNED BY THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT AND YOU AGREE TO GIVE UP THE RIGHT 


TO LITIGATE DISPUTES IN COURT.  Neither party will seek to have any dispute heard as a class action, 


private attorney general action, or in any other proceeding in which either party acts or proposes to act 


in a representative capacity. Any arbitration will be conducted by the American Arbitration Association 


(the “AAA”) under its Commercial Arbitration Rules. In the case of: (i) any dispute involving $75,000 or 


less, we will reimburse your filing fees and pay the AAA’s and arbitrator’s fees and expenses; and (ii) any 


dispute involving more than $75,000, the AAA rules will govern payment of filing fees and the AAA’s and 


arbitrator’s fees and expenses. 


339/383







6 
 


d) This Section 18 will survive any termination of this Agreement or an Order indefinitely. 


19.  Force Majeure 


Except for a party’s payment obligations, neither party will be liable for any delays or failure in 


performance from any cause beyond their control. This includes acts of God, changes to law or 


regulations, embargoes, war, terrorist acts, riots, strikes, power disruptions, and any disruption of 


internet service not caused by us. 


20.  Notices 


Notices under this Agreement will be effective (i) in the case of a notice to you, when we send it to the 


last email or physical address you gave us or any address you may later provide; (ii) in the case of a 


notice to us alleging a breach of this Agreement, when delivered to us by email to legalnotices@pb.com 


or by overnight courier or delivered in person to Pitney Bowes Inc., 3001 Summer Street, Stamford, CT 


06926 along with a copy to our legal counsel: Attn. Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary, or any 


addresses we may later provide; and (iii) in the case of any other notice to us, when delivered to us by 


physical mail to Pitney Bowes Inc., SVP & GM, Global SMB Products & Strategy, 3001 Summer Street, 


Stamford, CT 06926 or when you create a case at www.pitneybowes.com/us/contact-us.html (follow the 


instructions under “how to create a case”). 


21. Independent Contractor   


Nothing contained in this Agreement will be construed to constitute either party as a partner, joint 


venturer, co-owner, employee or agent of the other party, and neither party will hold itself out as such. 


22.  Miscellaneous 


Neither party will be subject to pre-printed or standard terms contained on any purchase order or other 


purchasing document, and we specifically disclaim such terms.  If there’s a conflict between the Product 


Terms and any other provision of this Agreement, the Product Terms will govern and control.  Each Party 


will cooperate with the other and take such other actions as may reasonably be requested from time to 


time in order to carry out the intent and accomplish the purposes of this Agreement, including our right 


to verify your compliance with this Agreement and any Orders at all locations which you access the 


Services. If we don’t immediately take action on a violation of this Agreement, we’re not giving up any 


rights under this Agreement, and we may still take action at a later point. Each party will also keep 


confidential the terms and conditions of the Agreement and the SOW(s). 


  


340/383







7 
 


EXHIBIT A 


PITNEY BOWES SENDPRO® ENTERPRISE SUBSCRIPTION PRODUCT SPECIFIC TERMS 


 


 


Defined Terms 


“Package(s)” means parcels, letters, and flats shipped under this Agreement.  


“Carrier” means a third-party shipping vendor selected by you through the Service.  


“Tender” means the transfer of physical custody of a Package that has a PBI compliant shipping label affixed to it, 


by you to a Carrier as demonstrated by the scanning of the label by the Carrier.  


 


Use of the Service 


You may permit your third party contractors to access the Service solely on your behalf and for your benefit so 


long as the contractor agrees to fully comply with all terms and conditions applicable to the Service. You remain 


responsible for each contractor’s compliance with those terms and conditions and any breach of those terms. All 


rights granted to any contractor under these terms terminate immediately upon (i) conclusion of the services 


provided by the contractor to you that gives rise to such right or (ii) termination of your account or your use of the 


Service. 


 


Each individual Package Tendered for shipment must originate from a location in the U.S. or certain U.S. territories. 


You agree that you will only Tender Packages to a Carrier with shipping labels that correspond to the 


transportation method you selected. 


 


Fees  
The fees for the use of the Service don’t include the postage, shipping or other charges imposed by the Carrier for 


printing postage or labels and sending Packages through the United States Postal Service (the “USPS”) or another 


Carrier.  


 


Using USPS 


If you use the Service for shipping with the USPS, the USPS must approve your registration prior to use of their 


shipping services and you must comply with all applicable terms listed at https://www.usps.com.  Failure to 


comply will constitute a material breach and the USPS will provide written notice of termination. However if 


allowed by USPS, you will have ten (10) days from date notice is received from USPS or a copy of such written 


notification from us, whichever is earlier, to cure your violations of USPS policies and procedures and have USPS 


rescind its termination notice.  


You will be entitled to receive discounted rates for Packages you Tender to the USPS for shipment. These rates will 


be programmed into the Service and will be made available to you for the duration of this Agreement. Rates are 


subject to change at any time. 


When you print USPS postage or labels using the Service, the following information is collected in order to 


generate valid postage indicia:  (1) the date and time of the transaction; (2) the destination ZIP CodeTM; (3) the rate 


341/383







8 
 


category of each indicium created and the details of any associated special services, such as special handling or 


restricted delivery; and (4) the amount of postage printed. 


If you use the Service to print electronic USPS Tracking (formerly Delivery Confirmation), Signature ConfirmationTM, 


or the electronic Priority Mail Express® label, complete return and destination address data, package descriptions, 


reference IDs, and delivery statuses for each label printed by you is maintained by us for accounting and reporting 


purposes.  


You represent and warrant that you have maintained and will maintain any and all certifications, licenses or other 


authorizations necessary or proper in furtherance of your use of the Service, including without limitation, federal 


certification pursuant to United States Department of Transportation regulations regarding the identification, 


processing and transportation of hazardous materials, if applicable.  


USPS Regulations 


If you use the Service to print postage or send Packages with the USPS, you must comply with all USPS regulations 


applicable to the use of the Service. If you: (a) use your account in a fraudulent or unlawful manner; (b) do not use 


your account during a consecutive twelve month period; (c) fail to exercise sufficient control over your account to 


prevent fraudulent or unlawful use; (d) cause or allow the account to be utilized outside the United States without 


the prior written authorization of the Manager of Retail Systems and Equipment, U.S. Postal Service, Washington 


DC 20260; or (e) otherwise fail to abide by the provisions of postal regulations and these terms regarding care and 


use of your account, then your account may be cancelled. You acknowledge and agree that your account will be 


closed and your ability to use the Service terminated by us for any of the reasons described above or upon demand 


by the USPS. You agree that any use of the Service to fraudulently deprive the USPS of revenue can cause you to be 


subject to civil and criminal penalties applicable to fraud and/or false claims against the United States. The 


submission of a false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement can result in imprisonment for up to five (5) years and a 


fine of up to $10,000 (18 U.S.C. 1001). In addition, a civil penalty of up to $5,000 and an additional assessment of 


twice the amount falsely claimed may be imposed (31 U.S.C. 3802). The mailing of matter bearing a fraudulent 


imprint is an example of a violation of these statutes. The USPS has granted to us the license as a PC postage 


vendor to create a shared postage evidencing system that users will use to dispense postage. As a user of the 


Service, you must understand and acknowledge that authorization to use the Service is granted by the USPS. You 


accept responsibility for control and use of the Service and agree to abide by all rules and regulations governing its 


use. The USPS may deny use of or revoke authorization to use a postage evidencing system in the event of (i) 


failure to comply with rules and regulations; (ii) submission of false or fictitious information; (iii) entering of a 


series of unpaid or short‐paid mail pieces and/or packages in the mail stream; (iv) use of the system for any illegal 


scheme or enterprise; (v) use of the system outside the customs territory of the United States; or (vi) possession of 


a decertified system. You must make the postage evidencing system and transaction records available and 


surrender the system to us, the USPS, or its agent when notified to do so.  


 


Non-USPS Carrier Requirements  


If you use the Service to send Packages with a Carrier other than the USPS, you must comply with the 


requirements of that Carrier.  


 


342/383







343/383







344/383







345/383







346/383







347/383







                        


 AGENDA ITEM:  5.3.2.1. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 


AGENDA ITEM: Facilities Master Plan Update 
      
MEETING DATE:  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:    Jim Monreal, Assistant Superintendent, Business Services 
 
THROUGH:   Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
BACKGROUND: 
On April 27, 2022, the Board approved a contract to update the District Facilities Master Plan 
that was completed in July 2016. District staff and administration sought stakeholder 
engagement through school site community meetings, webinars for the elementary and 
secondary districts, and a community input Google form for community members. The input 
informed the draft update. This Master Plan will be used to guide future facilities projects. 
 
At the June 22, 2022, Special Board Meeting, the Board will be presented with an updated 
Facilities Master Plan Draft. Community members will be able to give input on the Facilities 
Master Plan Draft, and a revised plan will be brought to the Board in August 2022. 
 
In our efforts to support sustainability, the Facilities Master Plan is an electronic document, is 
linked to the District website and can be viewed at this web address: http://sccs.fpd.consulting/  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
$48,500.00 Measure A & B Funds (Restricted) 
 
This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 
 
Goal #2:  SCCS will create positive, engaging school environments that promote the 
development of cognitive skills and the social emotional well-being of all students. 
Goal #5:  SCCS will maintain a balanced budget and efficient and effective management. 
Goal #6: SCCS will maintain strong communication and partnership with its diverse community. 
 


348/383







                        


 AGENDA ITEM:  5.3.4.1. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 


AGENDA ITEM: Resolution 42-21-22: 2022 Bond Measure Elections for 
Elementary Districts 


      
MEETING DATE:  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:    Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
Approve Resolution 42-21-22: 2022 Bond Measure Elections for Elementary Districts. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
On February 9, 2022, at the Regular Board Meeting, the Board received a report on poll results 
assessing the overall level of support for a bond measure, as well as the levels of support for 
specific projects or categories of projects.  Dr. Tim McClarney's presentation on poll results 
illustrated wide-spread community support for the projects that the Bond measures would fund 
and support.  
 
The resolution includes supporting documents that provide the full text of the Ballot 
Proposition, which was drafted by legal counsel, the District strategic communications 
consultant, and the Superintendent.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Approximately $50,000 - LCFF Base (Unrestricted) 
 
This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 
 
Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #2:  SCCS will create positive, engaging school environments that promote the 
development of cognitive skills and the social emotional well-being of all students. 
Goal #5:  SCCS will maintain a balanced budget and efficient and effective management. 
Goal #6: SCCS will maintain strong communication and partnership with its diverse community. 
 


349/383







 


SC341964 


BEFORE THE BOARD OF  


EDUCATION OF THE 


SANTA CRUZ CITY ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 


SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 


 


RESOLUTION NO. 42-21-22 


 


 
RESOLUTION ORDERING AN ELECTION TO AUTHORIZE THE 


ISSUANCE OF SCHOOL BONDS, ESTABLISHING SPECIFICATIONS 


OF THE ELECTION ORDER, AND REQUESTING CONSOLIDATION  


WITH ANY OTHER ELECTIONS OCCURRING ON NOVEMBER 8, 2022 


 
 


WHEREAS, in the judgment of the Board of Education (the “Board”) of the Santa 


Cruz City Elementary School District (the “District”), it is advisable to call an election to 


submit to the electors of the District the question of whether the bonds of the District shall be 


issued and sold for the purpose of raising money for the improvement, upgrade, and renovation 


of the District’s elementary schools and the acquisition and construction of additional 


classrooms and school facilities; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Board is committed to maintaining the quality of education and 


ensuring all students have the same educational opportunities as others in the region; and  


 


WHEREAS, the Board has embraced a rigorous, comprehensive curriculum and is 


dedicated to providing a quality education in a safe and nurturing environment; and 


 


WHEREAS, the District is committed to academic excellence and equity; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Board finds that, essential to the development and maintenance of 


such a strong educational environment, has been and continues to be the financial support 


provided by property owners in the District; and  


 


WHEREAS, in 2016 the District asked voters for assistance in funding repairs and 


upgrades to school facilities and technology by passing a general obligation bond measure for 


the District (Measure B); and 


 


WHEREAS, in addition to the public investment raised by Measure B, the District has 


been able to leverage State matching funds and make use of other District resources; and 


 


WHEREAS, notwithstanding the District’s prudent management of these investments, 


however, and although each of the District’s schools have been improved with a share of 


Measure B, substantial and necessary upgrades and improvements still remain for which the 


District does not have a funding source; and 


 


350/383







 


SC363054 2 


WHEREAS, involving extensive stakeholder and community engagement, the Board 


has comprehensively reviewed its short- and long-term facilities needs culminating in the 


preparation of a 2022 update to the District’s Facilities Master Plan aligned with the District’s 


educational goals; and  


 


WHEREAS, in addition to basic repairs including fixing deteriorating roofs, plumbing, 


and electrical systems, there is also a clear need to upgrade classrooms, science labs, and 


instructional technology to support student achievement in science, math, reading, technology, 


arts, and skilled trades, install solar energy to reduce environmental impacts, and construct 


affordable teacher and essential staff rental housing so that the District can attract and retain 


experienced, high-quality teachers and staff; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Board believes it is a wise investment to protect the quality of our 


schools, the quality of life in our community and the value of our homes; and 


 


WHEREAS, because the State has not been adequately funding school facilities 


improvements passing a bond measure provides a guaranteed source of local funding to 


maintain and improve this community’s local school facilities; and 


 


WHEREAS, every penny from this bond measure will benefit the local elementary 


schools and no funds can be taken away by the State or other school districts, and by law, no 


money can be used for administrator salaries or pensions; and 


 


WHEREAS, in order to adequately fund its ongoing facility needs and access 


additional State matching funds when they become available, the District will need the 


financial support of the communities it serves through the passage of a local bond measure; and 


 


WHEREAS, without a local school bond, the District will lose the opportunity to 


receive state matching funds which will then be awarded to other school districts; and 


 


WHEREAS, as a result of the approval of Proposition 39 on November 7, 2000, Article 


XIIIA, Section 1, paragraph (b) of the California Constitution (“Article XIIIA”) provides an 


exception to the limit on ad valorem property taxes on real property for bonded indebtedness 


incurred by a school district that has been approved by fifty-five percent (55%) of the voters of 


the District voting on the proposition; and 


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to subdivision (c) of California Education Code section 15100, 


the Board has obtained reasonable and informed projections of assessed property valuations 


that take into consideration projections of assessed property valuations made by the County 


Assessor; and  


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to California Education Code section 15264 et seq. (the “Act”), 


this Board is specifically authorized, upon approval by two-thirds (2/3) of the Board, to submit 


to the electorate of the District the question of whether bonds of the District shall be issued and 


sold for specified purposes, upon a fifty-five percent (55%) vote of the electorate in favor on 


351/383







 


SC363054 3 


the question, pursuant to paragraph (3) of said subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Article XIIIA and 


subdivision (b) of Section 18 of Article XVI of the California Constitution; and 


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to California Elections Code section 10403 et seq., it is 


appropriate for the Board to request consolidation of the election with any and all other 


elections to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2022, and to request the election officials of the 


County of Santa Cruz (the “County”) to perform certain election services for the District. 


 


NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE SANTA CRUZ 


CITY ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT HEREBY RESOLVES, DETERMINES, 


AND ORDERS AS FOLLOWS: 
 


1. Call for Election.  The Board hereby orders an election and submits to the 


electors of the District the question of whether general obligation bonds of the District shall be 


issued and sold in the principal amount not to exceed $122,000,000 for the purpose of raising 


money for the improvement, upgrade, renovation, and replacement of the District’s existing 


schools, facilities, and improvements, and the acquisition and construction of additional 


schools, facilities, and improvements, and paying costs incident thereto, as set forth more fully 


in a ballot proposition approved pursuant to Section 3 below.  This Resolution constitutes the 


order of the District to call such election. 


 


2. Election Date.  The date of the election shall be November 8, 2022, and the 


election shall be held solely within the boundaries of the District. 


 


3. Purpose of Election; Ballot Proposition.  The purpose of the election shall be 


for the voters of the District to vote on a proposition, a full copy of which is attached hereto as 


Exhibit A, containing the question of whether the District shall issue the Bonds for the 


purposes stated therein, together with the accountability requirements of Article XIIIA and the 


requirements of section 15272 of the Act.  As required by California Elections Code section 


13247, the abbreviated form of the measure to appear on the ballot is attached hereto as Exhibit 


B.  The District’s Superintendent (or designee) is hereby authorized and directed to make any 


changes to the text of the proposition or its abbreviated form as required to comply with the 


intent of this Resolution, the requirements of elections officials, and requirements of law. 


 


4. Authority for Election.  The authority for ordering the election is contained in 


California Education Code section 15264 et seq. and Article XIIIA, Section 1, paragraph (b), 


subsection (3) of the California Constitution.  The authority for the specification of this election 


order is contained in California Education Code section 5322.   


 


5. School Facilities Projects.  A list of the specific school facilities projects and 


uses to be funded from the proceeds of the bonds is set forth in Exhibit A.  As required by 


Article XIIIA, the Board hereby certifies that it has evaluated safety, class-size reduction, and 


information technology needs of the District in developing the list of school facilities projects 


and uses set forth in Exhibit A. 


 


352/383







 


SC363054 4 


6. Covenants of the Board upon Approval of the Bonds by the Electorate.  As 


required by Article XIIIA and section 15272 of the Act, if fifty-five percent (55%) of the voters 


of the District voting on the measure approve of the bonds, the Board shall: 


 


 (a) Use the bond proceeds only for the purposes authorized under Article 


XIIIA, including construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, or replacement of school 


facilities, furnishing and equipping of school facilities, and the acquisition or lease of 


real property for school facilities, as specifically set forth in Exhibit A, and costs 


incident thereto, and not for any other purpose, including salaries and other routine 


school operating expenses; 


 


(b) Conduct an annual, independent performance audit to ensure that the 


bond proceeds have been expended only on the projects and uses listed in Exhibit A; 


 


(c) Conduct an annual, independent financial audit of the proceeds from the 


sale of the Bonds until all of those proceeds have been expended for school facilities 


projects and uses listed in Exhibit A; and 


 


(d) Establish and appoint members to an independent citizens’ oversight 


committee in accordance with sections 15278, 15280, and 15282 of the Act. 


 


7. Delivery of this Resolution.  The Clerk of this Board is hereby authorized and 


directed to send or hand deliver a copy of this Resolution to the County Superintendent of 


Schools and the County Registrar of Voters by no later than August 10, 2022.  


 


8. Declaration of Official Intent.  The District hereby declares its official intent, 


subject to the further approval of this Board, to use up to the maximum amount permitted by 


law of the proceeds of the proposed bonds to reimburse itself for payments it has made for any 


eligible costs of the projects and uses listed in Exhibit A.  It is intended that this Resolution 


shall, among other things, constitute a declaration of “official intent” within the meaning of 


Section 1.150-2 of the Treasury Regulations promulgated under Section 150 of the Internal 


Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 


 


9. Ballot Arguments; Tax Rate Statement.  Any and all members of this Board 


are hereby authorized to act as an author of any ballot argument prepared in connection with 


the election, including a rebuttal argument.  The Superintendent, President of the Board, or 


their designees, are hereby authorized to prepare and submit any Tax Rate Statement or other 


document and to perform all acts necessary to place the bond measure on the ballot. 


 


10. Consolidation of Election; Election Services.  The County Registrar of Voters 


and the County Board of Supervisors are hereby requested to consolidate the election ordered 


hereby with any and all other elections to be held on November 8, 2022, within the District.  


Pursuant to section 5303 of the Education Code and section 10002 of the Elections Code, the 


County Board of Supervisors is requested to permit the County Registrar of Voters, and other 


appropriate officials of the County, to render all services necessary in connection with the bond 


election including, but not limited to, publication of a Formal Notice of School Bond Election 


353/383







 


SC363054 5 


pursuant to Education Code section 5363 and related law (the proposed form of which is 


attached hereto as Exhibit C), the mailing of the sample ballot and tax rate statement (described 


in section 9401 of the Elections Code), the opportunity to submit ballot arguments in 


connection with the bond election, the canvassing and certification of the returns of the 


election, and other ballot requirements pursuant to Elections Code section 15123, for which 


services the District agrees to reimburse the County as required by law.  


 


11. Severability.  If any section, subsection, phrase or clause of this Resolution, or 


its application to any person or circumstance, is for any reason held to be invalid, such decision 


shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Resolution, or their application to 


any other person or circumstance.  The Board declares that it would have adopted this 


Resolution and each section, subsection, phrase or clause thereof irrespective of the fact that 


any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, phrases or clauses, or their application to any 


person or circumstance, shall be declared invalid. 


 


12. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 


adoption. 


 


* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  


354/383







 


SC363054 6 


 


PASSED AND ADOPTED on June 22, 2022, by the following vote: 


 


AYES:   _________________ 


 


NOES:   _________________ 


 


ABSTENTIONS:  _________________ 


 


ABSENT:   _________________ 


 


 


By:  ____________________________________ 


President, Board of Education of the Santa 


Cruz City Elementary School District 


 


ATTEST: 


 


 


________________________________________ 


Clerk, Board of Education of the 


Santa Cruz City Elementary School District 


355/383







 


SC073160 A-1 


EXHIBIT A 


 


FULL TEXT OF BOND MEASURE 


 


for 


 


THE SANTA CRUZ CITY ELEMENTARYSCHOOL DISTRICT 


 


             


 


INTRODUCTION 


 


Santa Cruz City Schools is comprised of an elementary and a high school district, governed by 


a common Board of Education and a general administrative staff. The Santa Cruz City 


Elementary School District serves students residing in the City of Santa Cruz.  There are five 


schools serving nearly 2,000 students in the elementary district, including a Dual Immersion 


Program Santa Cruz is located on northern California’s Monterey Bay and is the home of 


the world class University of California at Santa Cruz.  A small city with a population of 


approximately 54,600, Santa Cruz offers countless attractions to the resident or visitor 


including beaches, wooded hills and a flourishing and diverse cultural scene.  The Santa Cruz 


City Elementary School District is focused upon achieving an explicit set of strategic goals, 


which includes ensuring that the District creates positive, engaging school environments that 


promote the development of cognitive skills and the social emotional well-being of all students.  


Among its core values, the District believes that people thrive in safe environments.   


 


The District has an ongoing need for basic repairs including fixing deteriorating roofs, 


plumbing, and electrical systems; in addition to facilities and infrastructure improvements 


including upgrading classrooms, science labs, and instructional technology to support student 


achievement in science, math, reading, technology, arts, and skilled trades; installing solar 


energy improvements to reduce environmental impacts; and constructing affordable teacher-


staff rental housing so that the District can attract and retain experienced, high-quality teachers 


and essential staff.  Addressing these needed facilities issues requires that the District ask its 


voters to approve a General Obligation Bond. 


 


The State of California requires a local match, funded primarily through local, general 


obligation bonds, for school districts wishing to pursue matching state funds for the upgrade or 


replacement of school buildings and facilities.  The millions of dollars potentially available 


through the State match allows local taxpayers to benefit from the tax dollars they already pay 


to Sacramento.   


It is imperative that our students are housed in educational environments consistent with the 


District’s priority to provide school facilities where every student is inspired and empowered in 


a safe, nurturing, and innovative environment to follow their passions as they discover, pursue, 


and realize their life goals.  We need to act locally to provide a school environment to ensure 


our students have the educational opportunities they deserve, and a school environment the 


community can take pride in. 


 


356/383







 


SC363054 A-2 


KEY FINDINGS 


The Santa Cruz City Elementary School District is committed to continuing a strong, high-


quality educational program for the students in all of its local public schools.  


 


The Santa Cruz City Elementary School District, in partnership with parents and community, 


strives to provide a safe and supportive environment where students develop a solid foundation 


to become productive, responsible citizens, and lifelong learners. To meet these goals, the 


District must provide students with safe, secure, clean, and environmentally responsible 


facilities, and provide access to 21st century classrooms, technology and school facilities.  


 


Specifically, the Board of Education desires, among other projects, to:  


 


 Repair or replace deteriorating roofs, plumbing, heating, ventilation, and electrical 


systems where needed; 


 Remove hazardous materials like asbestos, lead pipes, and lead paint from older school 


sites; 


 Modernize classrooms, facilities, and technology to support high quality instruction in 


math, science, engineering, and technology; 


 Upgrade older classrooms so they meet current health codes, building safety codes, and 


provide proper access for students with disabilities. 


 


BONDS 


 


To repair/upgrade local elementary schools/classrooms to support achievement in science, 


math, reading, technology, and arts; fix deteriorating roofs, plumbing and electrical; remove 


asbestos and lead; build affordable teacher-staff rental housing; and install solar/reduce 


environmental impacts; shall the Santa Cruz City Elementary School District measure 


authorizing $122 million in bonds at legal rates be adopted, levying an estimated 3¢ / $100 


assessed value ($6 million annually) while bonds are outstanding, with citizen oversight 


and all money staying local?  


 


As required by the California Constitution, the proceeds from the sale of the bonds will be used 


only for the purposes authorized under Article XIIIA of the California Constitution, including 


construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, or replacement of school facilities, furnishing and 


equipping of school facilities, or the acquisition or lease of real property for school facilities, as 


specifically set forth in this Exhibit A, and costs incident thereto, and not for any other purpose, 


including salaries and other routine school operating expenses.   


 


The following list describes the specific projects the District proposes to finance with proceeds 


of the bonds.  The scope of specific projects, the order of construction, and their completion is 


contingent on final project costs and the availability of needed funds. Further, projects on the 


project list are of the type that issuing the authorized general obligation bonds as stated will not 


cause the State to reduce any financial hardship contribution that would otherwise be available 


to the District had these bonds not been authorized, issued, and or expended for their stated 


purpose.  


357/383







 


SC363054 A-3 


 


SCHOOL FACILITIES PROJECTS TO BE FUNDED FROM BOND PROCEEDS 


 


The following Bond Project List includes both projects that can be completed using the bond 


proceeds, along with State matching funds and other building funds the District is projected to 


receive and projects that are proposed and needed but whose construction is contingent on the 


amount of bond funds available, plus the amount of State matching and other building funds the 


District may receive in the future, which is a function of the State building program rules, 


passage of State bonds, and the growth rate of the District.  The completion of specific projects 


is also contingent on final project costs. 


 


Projects listed below may be completed at any and all schools, sites and facilities, including 


support facilities and other District-owned properties, where such project is determined 


necessary, including without limitation: 


 


 Bay View Elementary 


 DeLaveaga Elementary 


 Gault Elementary 


 Westlake Elementary 


 Branciforte Small Schools 


 Natural Bridges Campus 


 


The bond measure will fund renovations and repairs to keep facilities safe, clean and 


accessible; upgrade facilities to support 21st Century teaching and learning methods, as 


follows: 


 


 Remove hazardous materials like asbestos, lead pipes, and lead paint from older school 


sites. 


 Repair or replace deteriorating roofs, plumbing, heating, ventilation, and electrical 


systems where needed. 


 Upgrade older classrooms so they meet current health codes, building safety codes, and 


provide proper access for students with disabilities. 


 Protect the environment by installing solar, improving energy and water conservation, 


and completing projects that reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 


 Modernize classrooms, facilities and technology to support high-quality instruction in 


reading, writing, math, science, engineering, and technology. 


 Create modern, multi-use classrooms to support hands-on science instruction and 


learning-by-doing. 


 Replace aging portable classrooms that are expensive to repair and maintain with safe, 


modern classrooms that meet today’s academic standards. 


 Modernize classrooms and facilities to support high quality instruction in music, visual, 


and performing arts. 


358/383







 


SC363054 A-4 


 Construct affordable rental housing for teachers and staff so they can afford to live in 


the community where they work. 


 Upgrade classrooms and computer systems to keep pace with technology. 


 Improve student safety and campus security systems, including security lighting, 


security cameras, emergency communications systems, smoke detectors, fire alarms, 


and sprinklers. 


 Upgrade outdoor learning, physical education, and athletic facilities to support student 


health, fitness, and safety. 


 Refinance or retire part or all debt on existing facilities and school sites, including but 


not limited to lease financing obligations secured by real property. 


 


Each of the bond projects described in this Bond Project List include the costs of furnishing and 


equipping such facilities, and all costs which are incidental but directly related to the types of 


projects described above. 


 


To the extent permitted by law examples of incidental costs include, but are not limited to: 


costs of design, engineering, architect and other professional services, facilities assessments, 


inspections, site preparation, utilities, landscaping, construction management and other 


planning and permitting, legal, accounting and similar costs; independent annual financial and 


performance audits; a customary construction contingency; demolition and disposal of existing 


structures; the costs of interim housing and storage during construction including relocation and 


construction costs incurred relating to interim facilities; rental or construction of storage 


facilities and other space on an interim basis for materials and other equipment and furnishings 


displaced during construction; costs of relocating facilities and equipment as needed in 


connection with the projects; interim classrooms and facilities for students, administrators, and 


school functions, including modular facilities; federal and state-mandated safety upgrades; 


addressing unforeseen conditions revealed by construction/modernization and other necessary 


improvements required to comply with existing building codes, including the Field Act; access 


requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act; costs of the election; project construction 


oversight, management and administration during the duration of such projects, including by 


District personnel, and bond issuance costs. 


 


In addition to the projects listed above, the repair and renovation of each of the existing school 


facilities may include, but not be limited to, some or all of the following: renovate student and 


staff restrooms; upgrade or install signage, clocks and fencing; upgrade of facilities for energy 


efficiency; repair and replace worn-out and deteriorated roofs, windows, walls, doors and 


drinking fountains; upgrade public address systems; install wiring and electrical systems to 


safely accommodate computers, technology and other electrical devices and needs; meet 


earthquake safety standards; improve water conservation; upgrade or construct support 


facilities, including administrative, physical education (including upgrading gyms, stadiums, 


athletic facilities, tracks, bleachers, lockers and equipment rooms), and classrooms, labs, and 


performing arts and music classrooms; repair and replace fire alarms, emergency 


communications and security systems; resurface or replace hard courts, turf; irrigation and 


drainage systems and campus landscaping; replace asphalt and broken pavement; expand or 


359/383







 


SC363054 A-5 


improve parking lots and drop-off areas; replace portable classrooms; interior and exterior 


painting, floor covering and tile replacement; upgrade or expand school cafeterias; construct 


various forms of storage and support spaces and classrooms; repair, upgrade and install interior 


and exterior lighting systems; improve athletic fields and shade structures; replace or upgrade 


outdated security fences, gates and security systems (including access control systems); and 


upgrade heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems.  The upgrading of technology 


infrastructure includes, but is not limited to, servers, switches, routers, modules, sound 


projection systems, call manager and network security/firewall, wireless technology systems, 


and other miscellaneous equipment.   


 


Unforeseen conditions may arise during the course of planning, design and construction 


resulting in the scope and nature of any of the specific projects described above being altered 


by the District.  In the event that the District determines that, with respect to a modernization or 


renovation project, it is more economical for the District or otherwise in the District’s best 


interests to be undertaken as new construction, this bond measure authorizes said new 


construction, including land acquisition, relocation, expansion and construction and/or 


reconstruction, and all costs relating thereto.  Conversely, if the District determines that it is 


more economical or otherwise in the best interests of the District to modernize or renovate 


District facilities instead of undertaking a new construction project, this bond measure 


authorizes such a project.  In addition, this measure authorizes the acquisition of real property, 


including necessary rights of ways or other real property interests, required to expand District 


facilities, to provide access to school or other District facilities, or to provide additional school 


or related facilities.  Further, authorized projects include reimbursements for project costs 


previously paid and paying and/or prepaying interim financing for the types of projects 


included on the project list, such as bond anticipation notes.  Finally, projects on this list may 


be undertaken and used as joint use projects with other public agencies. 


 


Approval of the District’s bond measure does not guarantee that all of the identified projects 


within this Bond Project List will be funded.  The District plans to pursue funds from the State 


of California, if available, to complete certain of the identified facilities projects.  The District 


is unable to anticipate all unforeseen circumstances which may prevent some of the projects 


listed above from being undertaken or completed. 


 


The order in which projects are listed in the foregoing Bond Project List does not suggest an 


order of priority.  Project prioritization is vested in and will be determined by the District Board 


of Education.  Bond proceeds shall only be expended for the specific purposes identified 


herein.  The District shall create an account into which proceeds of the bonds shall be deposited 


and comply with the reporting requirements of Government Code section 53410. 


 


These projects may include participation in the State Facility Program’s Joint-Use Program to 


gain matching funds for teacher education, multi-purpose rooms, gymnasiums, libraries, 


childcare, and other qualifying Joint-Use facilities.  With respect to such joint-use projects, the 


bond funds authorized by this Measure may be used to pay all of the local share needed to 


qualify the projects for special State matching funds under the State Facility Program’s Joint-


Use Program requirements. 


 


360/383







 


SC363054 A-6 


The Board of Education hereby certifies that it has evaluated the safety, class-size reduction, 


and information technology needs of the District in developing this list of school facilities 


projects. 


 
ACCOUNTABILITY MEASURES 


 


If the bonds are approved, the Board of Education will implement the following accountability 


measures in accordance with State law: 


 


 (a) Use the bond proceeds only for the purposes authorized under Article XIIIA of 


the California Constitution, including construction, reconstruction, 


rehabilitation, or replacement of school facilities, furnishing and equipping of 


school facilities, or the acquisition or lease of real property for school facilities 


and related uses, as specifically set forth in this Exhibit A, and costs incident 


thereto, and not for any other purpose, including salaries and other routine 


school operating expenses; 


 


(b) Conduct an annual, independent performance audit to ensure that the bond 


proceeds have been expended only on the projects and uses listed in this 


Exhibit A; 


 


(c) Conduct an annual, independent financial audit of the proceeds from the sale of 


the bonds until all of those proceeds have been expended for school facilities 


projects and uses listed in this Exhibit A; and 


 


(d) Establish and appoint members to an independent citizens’ oversight committee 


to ensure the bonds are used only for the projects and uses listed in this 


Exhibit A. 


 


STATE MATCHING FUNDS 


 


California Education Code section 15122.5 requires the following statement to be included in 


this sample ballot: 


 


“Approval of this bond measure does not guarantee that the proposed 


projects in the Santa Cruz City Elementary School District that are the 


subject of bonds under this measure will be funded beyond the local 


revenues generated by this bond measure. The school district's proposal 


for certain of the projects assumes the receipt of matching state funds, 


which are subject to appropriation by the Legislature or approval of a 


statewide bond measure.” 


 


 


ANNUAL TAX AMOUNT, RATE, AND DURATION 


 


361/383







 


SC363054 A-7 


The bonds shall bear interest at an annual rate not exceeding the statutory maximum. The 


maturity of the bonds shall not exceed the maximum term allowed by law at the time of 


issuance (currently 25 years if issued under Education Code section 15140, or 40 years if issued 


under Government Code section 53508, so long as the bonds are not capital appreciation bonds 


(“CABs,” which CABs are limited to 25 years)).  Accordingly, as further set forth in the tax 


rate statement, the ad valorem tax will be levied at such rates and for so long as may be 


required to meet the debt service needs of the bonds proposed to be issued, including such 


bonds that may be issued to refund any approved bonds. 


 


 


              


362/383







 


SC073160 B-1 


EXHIBIT B 
 


BOND MEASURE 


for  


THE SANTA CRUZ CITY ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 


 


(Abbreviated Form)* 


        


 


 


 


 


 


 


“To repair/upgrade local elementary 


schools/classrooms to support achievement in science, 


math, reading, technology, and arts; fix deteriorating 


roofs, plumbing and electrical; remove asbestos and 


lead; build affordable teacher-staff rental housing; and 


install solar/reduce environmental impacts; shall the 


Santa Cruz City Elementary School District measure 


authorizing $122 million in bonds at legal rates be 


adopted, levying an estimated 3¢ / $100 assessed value 


($6 million annually) while bonds are outstanding, 


with citizen oversight and all money staying local?” 


 


 


 


 


 


BONDS – YES 


 


 


 


 


 


BONDS – NO 


 


 
 


* Limited to 75 words pursuant to California Elections Code section 13247. 


 


363/383







 


SC363054 C-1 


EXHIBIT C 


FORMAL NOTICE OF SCHOOL BOND ELECTION 


 


NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN to the qualified electors of the Santa Cruz City Elementary 


School District of Santa Cruz County, California, that in accordance with the provisions of the 


Education Code of the State of California, an election will be held on November 8, 2022, 


within the District, at which election the following measure shall be submitted to the qualified 


electors of the District and voted upon: 


 


“To repair/upgrade local elementary schools/classrooms to support achievement 


in science, math, reading, technology, and arts; fix deteriorating roofs, plumbing 


and electrical; remove asbestos and lead; build affordable teacher-staff rental 


housing; and install solar/reduce environmental impacts; shall the Santa Cruz 


City Elementary School District measure authorizing $122 million in bonds at 


legal rates be adopted, levying an estimated 3¢ / $100 assessed value ($6 million 


annually) while bonds are outstanding, with citizen oversight and all money 


staying local?” 


 


Bonds - Yes  Bonds– No” 


The bonds shall bear interest at an annual rate not exceeding the statutory maximum.  The 


maturity of the bonds shall not exceed the maximum term allowed by law at the time of 


issuance (currently 25 years if issued under Education Code section 15140, or 40 years if issued 


under Government Code section 53508, so long as the bonds are not capital appreciation bonds 


(“CABs,” which CABs are limited to 25 years)).  Accordingly, as further set forth in the tax 


rate statement, the ad valorem tax will be levied at such rates and for so long as may be 


required to meet the debt service needs of the bonds proposed to be issued, including such 


bonds that may be issued to refund any approved bonds. 


 


All of the purposes enumerated in the foregoing measure shall be united and voted upon as one 


single measure, with precincts, places of holding the elections and officers appointed to 


conduct the elections to be the same as those provided for the statewide gubernatorial general 


election to be held on November 8, 2022, under the Notice of Election published ________.   


 


This election has been called pursuant to a Resolution of the Board of Education of the Santa 


Cruz City Elementary School District, adopted on June 22, 2022.  The Elections Official of the 


County of Santa Cruz hereby gives formal notice of the election in accordance with the 


provisions of Education Code section 15120. 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ____ day of ___________, 2022. 


 


             


Registrar of Voters 


Santa Cruz County, California 


364/383







                        


 AGENDA ITEM:  5.3.4.2. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 


AGENDA ITEM: Resolution 43-21-22: 2022 Bond Measure Elections for Secondary 
District 


      
MEETING DATE:  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:    Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
Approve Resolution 43-21-22: 2022 Bond Measure Elections for Secondary District. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
On February 9, 2022, at the Regular Board Meeting, the Board received a report on poll results 
assessing the overall level of support for a bond measure, as well as the levels of support for 
specific projects or categories of projects.  Dr. Tim McClarney's presentation on poll results 
illustrated wide-spread community support for the projects that the Bond measures would fund 
and support.  
 
The resolution includes supporting documents that provide the full text of the Ballot 
Proposition, which was drafted by legal counsel, the District strategic communications 
consultant, and the Superintendent.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Approximately $93,000 - LCFF Base (Unrestricted) 
 
This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 
 
Goal #1:  All Santa Cruz City Schools students will be prepared to successfully access post-
secondary college and career opportunities. 
Goal #2:  SCCS will create positive, engaging school environments that promote the 
development of cognitive skills and the social emotional well-being of all students. 
Goal #5:  SCCS will maintain a balanced budget and efficient and effective management. 
Goal #6: SCCS will maintain strong communication and partnership with its diverse community. 
 


365/383







 


SC363798 


BEFORE THE BOARD OF  


EDUCATION OF THE 


SANTA CRUZ CITY HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 


SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 


 


RESOLUTION NO. 43-21-22 


 


 
RESOLUTION ORDERING AN ELECTION TO AUTHORIZE THE 


ISSUANCE OF SCHOOL BONDS, ESTABLISHING SPECIFICATIONS 


OF THE ELECTION ORDER, AND REQUESTING CONSOLIDATION  


WITH ANY OTHER ELECTIONS OCCURRING ON NOVEMBER 8, 2022 


 
 


WHEREAS, in the judgment of the Board of Education (the “Board”) of the Santa 


Cruz City High School District (the “District”), it is advisable to call an election to submit to 


the electors of the District the question of whether the bonds of the District shall be issued and 


sold for the purpose of raising money for the improvement, upgrade, and renovation of schools 


and facilities of the Santa Cruz City High School District and the acquisition and construction 


of additional classrooms and school facilities; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Board is committed to maintaining the quality of education and 


ensuring all students have the same educational opportunities as others in the region; and  


 


WHEREAS, the Board has embraced a rigorous, comprehensive curriculum and is 


dedicated to providing a quality education in a safe and nurturing environment; and 


 


WHEREAS, the District is committed to academic excellence and equity; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Board finds that, essential to the development and maintenance of 


such a strong educational environment, has been and continues to be the financial support 


provided by property owners in the District; and  


 


WHEREAS, in 2016 Santa Cruz City Schools asked voters for assistance in funding 


repairs and upgrades to school facilities and technology by passing a general obligation bond 


measure for the District (Measure A); and 


 


WHEREAS, in addition to the public investment raised by Measure A, the District has 


been able to leverage State matching funds and make use of other District resources; and 


 


WHEREAS, notwithstanding the District’s prudent management of these investments, 


however, and although each of the District’s schools have been improved with a share of 


Measure A, substantial and necessary upgrades and improvements still remain for which the 


District does not have a funding source; and 


 


366/383







 


SC363798 2 


WHEREAS, involving extensive stakeholder and community engagement, the Board 


has comprehensively reviewed its short- and long-term facilities needs culminating in the 


preparation of a 2022 update to the District’s Facilities Master Plan aligned with the District’s 


educational goals; and  


 


WHEREAS, in addition to basic repairs including fixing deteriorating roofs, plumbing, 


and electrical systems, there is also a clear need to upgrade classrooms, science labs, and 


instructional technology to support student achievement in science, math, reading, technology, 


arts, and skilled trades, install solar energy to reduce environmental impacts, and construct 


affordable teacher and essential staff rental housing so that the District can attract and retain 


experienced, high-quality teachers and staff; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Board believes it is a wise investment to protect the quality of our 


schools, the quality of life in our community and the value of our homes; and 


 


WHEREAS, because the State has not been adequately funding school facilities 


improvements, passing a bond measure provides a guaranteed source of local funding to 


maintain and improve this community’s local school facilities; and 


 


WHEREAS, every penny from this bond measure will benefit the local middle schools 


and high schools and no funds can be taken away by the State or other school districts, and by 


law, no money can be used for administrator salaries or pensions; and 


 


WHEREAS, in order to adequately fund its ongoing facility needs and access 


additional State matching funds when they become available, the District will need the 


financial support of the communities it serves through the passage of a local bond measure; and 


 


WHEREAS, without a local school bond, the District will lose the opportunity to 


receive state matching funds which will then be awarded to other school districts; and 


 


WHEREAS, as a result of the approval of Proposition 39 on November 7, 2000, Article 


XIIIA, Section 1, paragraph (b) of the California Constitution (“Article XIIIA”) provides an 


exception to the limit on ad valorem property taxes on real property for bonded indebtedness 


incurred by a school district that has been approved by fifty-five percent (55%) of the voters of 


the District voting on the proposition; and 


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to subdivision (c) of California Education Code section 15100, 


the Board has obtained reasonable and informed projections of assessed property valuations 


that take into consideration projections of assessed property valuations made by the County 


Assessor; and  


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to California Education Code section 15264 et seq. (the “Act”), 


this Board is specifically authorized, upon approval by two-thirds (2/3) of the Board, to submit 


to the electorate of the District the question of whether bonds of the District shall be issued and 


sold for specified purposes, upon a fifty-five percent (55%) vote of the electorate in favor on 


367/383







 


SC363798 3 


the question, pursuant to paragraph (3) of said subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Article XIIIA and 


subdivision (b) of Section 18 of Article XVI of the California Constitution; and 


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to California Elections Code section 10403 et seq., it is 


appropriate for the Board to request consolidation of the election with any and all other 


elections to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2022, and to request the election officials of the 


County of Santa Cruz (the “County”) to perform certain election services for the District. 


 


NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE SANTA CRUZ 


CITY HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT HEREBY RESOLVES, DETERMINES, AND 


ORDERS AS FOLLOWS: 
 


1. Call for Election.  The Board hereby orders an election and submits to the 


electors of the District the question of whether general obligation bonds of the District shall be 


issued and sold in the principal amount not to exceed $249,000,000 for the purpose of raising 


money for the improvement, upgrade, renovation, and replacement of the District’s existing 


schools, facilities, and improvements, and the acquisition and construction of additional 


schools, facilities, and improvements, and paying costs incident thereto, as set forth more fully 


in a ballot proposition approved pursuant to Section 3 below.  This Resolution constitutes the 


order of the District to call such election. 


 


2. Election Date.  The date of the election shall be November 8, 2022, and the 


election shall be held solely within the boundaries of the District. 


 


3. Purpose of Election; Ballot Proposition.  The purpose of the election shall be 


for the voters of the District to vote on a proposition, a full copy of which is attached hereto as 


Exhibit A, containing the question of whether the District shall issue the Bonds for the 


purposes stated therein, together with the accountability requirements of Article XIIIA and the 


requirements of section 15272 of the Act.  As required by California Elections Code section 


13247, the abbreviated form of the measure to appear on the ballot is attached hereto as Exhibit 


B.  The District’s Superintendent (or designee) is hereby authorized and directed to make any 


changes to the text of the proposition or its abbreviated form as required to comply with the 


intent of this Resolution, the requirements of elections officials, and requirements of law. 


 


4. Authority for Election.  The authority for ordering the election is contained in 


California Education Code section 15264 et seq. and Article XIIIA, Section 1, paragraph (b), 


subsection (3) of the California Constitution.  The authority for the specification of this election 


order is contained in California Education Code section 5322.   


 


5. School Facilities Projects.  A list of the specific school facilities projects and 


uses to be funded from the proceeds of the bonds is set forth in Exhibit A.  As required by 


Article XIIIA, the Board hereby certifies that it has evaluated safety, class-size reduction, and 


information technology needs of the District in developing the list of school facilities projects 


and uses set forth in Exhibit A. 


 


368/383







 


SC363798 4 


6. Covenants of the Board upon Approval of the Bonds by the Electorate.  As 


required by Article XIIIA and section 15272 of the Act, if fifty-five percent (55%) of the voters 


of the District voting on the measure approve of the bonds, the Board shall: 


 


 (a) Use the bond proceeds only for the purposes authorized under Article 


XIIIA, including construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, or replacement of school 


facilities, furnishing and equipping of school facilities, and the acquisition or lease of 


real property for school facilities, as specifically set forth in Exhibit A, and costs 


incident thereto, and not for any other purpose, including salaries and other routine 


school operating expenses; 


 


(b) Conduct an annual, independent performance audit to ensure that the 


bond proceeds have been expended only on the projects and uses listed in Exhibit A; 


 


(c) Conduct an annual, independent financial audit of the proceeds from the 


sale of the Bonds until all of those proceeds have been expended for school facilities 


projects and uses listed in Exhibit A; and 


 


(d) Establish and appoint members to an independent citizens’ oversight 


committee in accordance with sections 15278, 15280, and 15282 of the Act. 


 


7. Delivery of this Resolution.  The Clerk of this Board is hereby authorized and 


directed to send or hand deliver a copy of this Resolution to the County Superintendent of 


Schools and the County Registrar of Voters by no later than August 10, 2022.  


 


8. Declaration of Official Intent.  The District hereby declares its official intent, 


subject to the further approval of this Board, to use up to the maximum amount permitted by 


law of the proceeds of the proposed bonds to reimburse itself for payments it has made for any 


eligible costs of the projects and uses listed in Exhibit A.  It is intended that this Resolution 


shall, among other things, constitute a declaration of “official intent” within the meaning of 


Section 1.150-2 of the Treasury Regulations promulgated under Section 150 of the Internal 


Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 


 


9. Ballot Arguments; Tax Rate Statement.  Any and all members of this Board 


are hereby authorized to act as an author of any ballot argument prepared in connection with 


the election, including a rebuttal argument.  The Superintendent, President of the Board, or 


their designees, are hereby authorized to prepare and submit any Tax Rate Statement or other 


document and to perform all acts necessary to place the bond measure on the ballot. 


 


10. Consolidation of Election; Election Services.  The County Registrar of Voters 


and the County Board of Supervisors are hereby requested to consolidate the election ordered 


hereby with any and all other elections to be held on November 8, 2022, within the District.  


Pursuant to section 5303 of the Education Code and section 10002 of the Elections Code, the 


County Board of Supervisors is requested to permit the County Registrar of Voters, and other 


appropriate officials of the County, to render all services necessary in connection with the bond 


election including, but not limited to, publication of a Formal Notice of School Bond Election 


369/383







 


SC363798 5 


pursuant to Education Code section 5363 and related law (the proposed form of which is 


attached hereto as Exhibit C), the mailing of the sample ballot and tax rate statement (described 


in section 9401 of the Elections Code), the opportunity to submit ballot arguments in 


connection with the bond election, the canvassing and certification of the returns of the 


election, and other ballot requirements pursuant to Elections Code section 15123, for which 


services the District agrees to reimburse the County as required by law.  


 


11. Severability.  If any section, subsection, phrase or clause of this Resolution, or 


its application to any person or circumstance, is for any reason held to be invalid, such decision 


shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Resolution, or their application to 


any other person or circumstance.  The Board declares that it would have adopted this 


Resolution and each section, subsection, phrase or clause thereof irrespective of the fact that 


any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, phrases or clauses, or their application to any 


person or circumstance, shall be declared invalid. 


 


12. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 


adoption. 


 


* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  


370/383







 


SC363798 6 


 


PASSED AND ADOPTED on June 22, 2022, by the following vote: 


 


AYES:   _________________ 


 


NOES:   _________________ 


 


ABSTENTIONS:  _________________ 


 


ABSENT:   _________________ 


 


 


By:  ____________________________________ 


President, Board of Education of the Santa 


Cruz City High School District 


 


ATTEST: 


 


 


________________________________________ 


Clerk, Board of Education of the 


Santa Cruz City High School District 


371/383







 


SC073160 A-1 


EXHIBIT A 


 


FULL TEXT OF BOND MEASURE 


 


for 


 


THE SANTA CRUZ CITY HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 


 


             


 


INTRODUCTION 


 


Santa Cruz City Schools is comprised of an elementary and a high school district, governed by 


a common Board of Education and a general administrative staff. The Santa Cruz City High 


School District serves students residing in the City of Santa Cruz and in county locations from 


Davenport to Soquel.  The secondary district includes two middle schools, three comprehensive 


high schools, a continuation school, an independent studies program and a home school 


program with a combined population of approximately 4,660 students.  Santa Cruz is located 


on northern California's Monterey Bay and is the home of the world class University of 


California at Santa Cruz.  A small city with a population of approximately 54,600, Santa Cruz 


offers countless attractions to the resident or visitor including beaches, wooded hills and 


a flourishing and diverse cultural scene.  The Santa Cruz City High School District is focused 


upon achieving an explicit set of strategic goals, which includes ensuring that the District 


creates positive, engaging school environments that promote the development of cognitive 


skills and the social emotional well-being of all students.  Among its core values, the District 


believes that people thrive in safe environments.   


 


The District has an ongoing need for basic repairs including fixing deteriorating roofs, 


plumbing, and electrical systems; in addition to facilities and infrastructure improvements 


including upgrading classrooms, science labs, and instructional technology to support student 


achievement in science, math, reading, technology, arts, and skilled trades; installing solar 


energy improvements to reduce environmental impacts; and constructing affordable teacher-


staff rental housing so that the District can attract and retain experienced, high-quality teachers 


and essential staff.  Addressing these needed facilities issues requires that the District ask its 


voters to approve a General Obligation Bond. 


 


The State of California requires a local match, funded primarily through local, general 


obligation bonds, for school districts wishing to pursue matching state funds for the upgrade or 


replacement of school buildings and facilities.  The millions of dollars potentially available 


through the State match allows local taxpayers to benefit from the tax dollars they already pay 


to Sacramento.   


 


It is imperative that our students are housed in educational environments consistent with the 


District’s priority to provide school facilities where every student is inspired and empowered in 


a safe, nurturing, and innovative environment to follow their passions as they discover, pursue, 


and realize their life goals.  We need to act locally to provide a school environment to ensure 


372/383







 


SC363798 A-2 


our students have the educational opportunities they deserve, and a school environment the 


community can take pride in. 


 


KEY FINDINGS 


 


The Santa Cruz City High School District is committed to continuing a strong, high-quality 


educational program for the students in all of its local public schools.  


 


The Santa Cruz City High School District, in partnership with parents and community, strives 


to provide a safe and supportive environment where students develop a solid foundation to 


become productive, responsible citizens, and lifelong learners. To meet these goals, the District 


must provide students with safe, secure, clean, and environmentally responsible facilities, and 


provide access to 21st century classrooms, technology and school facilities.  


 


Specifically, the Board of Education desires, among other projects, to:  


 


 Repair or replace deteriorating roofs, plumbing, heating, ventilation, and electrical 


systems where needed; 


 Remove hazardous materials like asbestos, lead pipes, and lead paint from older school 


sites; 


 Modernize classrooms, facilities, and technology to support high quality instruction in 


math, science, engineering, and technology; 


 Upgrade older classrooms so they meet current health codes, building safety codes, and 


provide proper access for students with disabilities. 


 


BONDS 


 


To repair/upgrade local middle and high school classrooms/facilities to support 


achievement in science, math, technology, arts, and skilled trades; build affordable teacher-


staff rental housing; install solar/reduce environmental impacts; fix deteriorating roofs, 


plumbing and electrical; remove asbestos/lead; shall Santa Cruz City High School District’s 


measure authorizing $249 million in bonds at legal rates be adopted, levying an estimated 


3¢ / $100 assessed value ($12 million annually) while bonds are outstanding, with citizen 


oversight and all money staying local? 


 


As required by the California Constitution, the proceeds from the sale of the bonds will be used 


only for the purposes authorized under Article XIIIA of the California Constitution, including 


construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, or replacement of school facilities, furnishing and 


equipping of school facilities, or the acquisition or lease of real property for school facilities, as 


specifically set forth in this Exhibit A, and costs incident thereto, and not for any other purpose, 


including salaries and other routine school operating expenses.   


 


The following list describes the specific projects the District proposes to finance with proceeds 


of the bonds.  The scope of specific projects, the order of construction, and their completion is 


contingent on final project costs and the availability of needed funds. Further, projects on the 


project list are of the type that issuing the authorized general obligation bonds as stated will not 


373/383







 


SC363798 A-3 


cause the State to reduce any financial hardship contribution that would otherwise be available 


to the District had these bonds not been authorized, issued, and or expended for their stated 


purpose.  


 


SCHOOL FACILITIES PROJECTS TO BE FUNDED FROM BOND PROCEEDS 


 


The following Bond Project List includes both projects that can be completed using the bond 


proceeds, along with State matching funds and other building funds the District is projected to 


receive and projects that are proposed and needed but whose construction is contingent on the 


amount of bond funds available, plus the amount of State matching and other building funds the 


District may receive in the future, which is a function of the State building program rules, 


passage of State bonds, and the growth rate of the District.  The completion of specific projects 


is also contingent on final project costs. 


 


Projects listed below may be completed at any and all schools, sites and facilities, including 


support facilities and other District-owned properties, where such project is determined 


necessary, including without limitation: 


 


 Harbor High School 


 Santa Cruz High School 


 Soquel High School 


 Branciforte Middle School 


 Mission Hill Middle School 


 LaFonda Campus 


 313 Swift Street Site 


 


The bond measure will fund renovations and repairs to keep facilities safe, clean and 


accessible; upgrade facilities to support 21st Century teaching and learning methods, as 


follows: 


 


 Remove hazardous materials like asbestos, lead pipes, and lead paint from older school 


sites. 


 Repair or replace deteriorating roofs, plumbing, heating, ventilation, and electrical 


systems where needed. 


 Upgrade older classrooms so they meet current health codes, building safety codes, and 


provide proper access for students with disabilities. 


 Upgrade classrooms and labs for career technical education courses so students are 


prepared for college and good paying jobs in fields like health sciences, engineering, 


and skilled trades. 


 Protect the environment by installing solar, improving energy and water conservation, 


and completing projects that reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 


 Modernize classrooms, facilities and technology to support high-quality instruction in 


reading, writing, math, science, engineering, and technology. 


374/383







 


SC363798 A-4 


 Create modern, multi-use classrooms to support hands-on science instruction and 


learning-by-doing. 


 Replace aging portable classrooms that are expensive to repair and maintain with safe, 


modern classrooms that meet today’s academic standards. 


 Modernize classrooms and facilities to support high quality instruction in music, visual, 


and performing arts. 


 Construct affordable rental housing for teachers and staff so they can afford to live in 


the community where they work. 


 Upgrade classrooms and computer systems to keep pace with technology. 


 Improve student safety and campus security systems, including security lighting, 


security cameras, emergency communications systems, smoke detectors, fire alarms, 


and sprinklers. 


 Upgrade outdoor learning, physical education, and athletic facilities to support student 


health, fitness, and safety. 


 Refinance or retire part or all debt on existing facilities and school sites, including but 


not limited to lease financing obligations secured by real property. 


 


Each of the bond projects described in this Bond Project List include the costs of furnishing and 


equipping such facilities, and all costs which are incidental but directly related to the types of 


projects described above. 


 


To the extent permitted by law examples of incidental costs include, but are not limited to: 


costs of design, engineering, architect and other professional services, facilities assessments, 


inspections, site preparation, utilities, landscaping, construction management and other 


planning and permitting, legal, accounting and similar costs; independent annual financial and 


performance audits; a customary construction contingency; demolition and disposal of existing 


structures; the costs of interim housing and storage during construction including relocation and 


construction costs incurred relating to interim facilities; rental or construction of storage 


facilities and other space on an interim basis for materials and other equipment and furnishings 


displaced during construction; costs of relocating facilities and equipment as needed in 


connection with the projects; interim classrooms and facilities for students, administrators, and 


school functions, including modular facilities; federal and state-mandated safety upgrades; 


addressing unforeseen conditions revealed by construction/modernization and other necessary 


improvements required to comply with existing building codes, including the Field Act; access 


requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act; costs of the election; project construction 


oversight, management and administration during the duration of such projects, including by 


District personnel, and bond issuance costs. 


 


In addition to the projects listed above, the repair and renovation of each of the existing school 


facilities may include, but not be limited to, some or all of the following: renovate student and 


staff restrooms; upgrade or install signage, clocks and fencing; upgrade of facilities for energy 


efficiency; repair and replace worn-out and deteriorated roofs, windows, walls, doors and 


drinking fountains; upgrade public address systems; install wiring and electrical systems to 


375/383







 


SC363798 A-5 


safely accommodate computers, technology and other electrical devices and needs; meet 


earthquake safety standards; improve water conservation; upgrade or construct support 


facilities, including administrative, physical education (including upgrading gyms, stadiums, 


athletic facilities, tracks, bleachers, lockers and equipment rooms), and classrooms, labs, and 


performing arts and music classrooms; repair and replace fire alarms, emergency 


communications and security systems; resurface or replace hard courts, turf; irrigation and 


drainage systems and campus landscaping; replace asphalt and broken pavement; expand or 


improve parking lots and drop-off areas; replace portable classrooms; interior and exterior 


painting, floor covering and tile replacement; upgrade or expand school cafeterias; construct 


various forms of storage and support spaces and classrooms; repair, upgrade and install interior 


and exterior lighting systems; improve athletic fields and shade structures; replace or upgrade 


outdated security fences, gates and security systems (including access control systems); and 


upgrade heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems.  The upgrading of technology 


infrastructure includes, but is not limited to, servers, switches, routers, modules, sound 


projection systems, call manager and network security/firewall, wireless technology systems, 


and other miscellaneous equipment.   


 


Unforeseen conditions may arise during the course of planning, design and construction 


resulting in the scope and nature of any of the specific projects described above being altered 


by the District.  In the event that the District determines that, with respect to a modernization or 


renovation project, it is more economical for the District or otherwise in the District’s best 


interests to be undertaken as new construction, this bond measure authorizes said new 


construction, including land acquisition, relocation, expansion and construction and/or 


reconstruction, and all costs relating thereto.  Conversely, if the District determines that it is 


more economical or otherwise in the best interests of the District to modernize or renovate 


District facilities instead of undertaking a new construction project, this bond measure 


authorizes such a project.  In addition, this measure authorizes the acquisition of real property, 


including necessary rights of ways or other real property interests, required to expand District 


facilities, to provide access to school or other District facilities, or to provide additional school 


or related facilities.  Further, authorized projects include reimbursements for project costs 


previously paid and paying and/or prepaying interim financing for the types of projects 


included on the project list, such as bond anticipation notes.  Finally, projects on this list may 


be undertaken and used as joint use projects with other public agencies. 


 


Approval of the District’s bond measure does not guarantee that all of the identified projects 


within this Bond Project List will be funded.  The District plans to pursue funds from the State 


of California, if available, to complete certain of the identified facilities projects.  The District 


is unable to anticipate all unforeseen circumstances which may prevent some of the projects 


listed above from being undertaken or completed. 


 


The order in which projects are listed in the foregoing Bond Project List does not suggest an 


order of priority.  Project prioritization is vested in and will be determined by the District Board 


of Education.  Bond proceeds shall only be expended for the specific purposes identified 


herein.  The District shall create an account into which proceeds of the bonds shall be deposited 


and comply with the reporting requirements of Government Code section 53410. 


 


376/383







 


SC363798 A-6 


These projects may include participation in the State Facility Program’s Joint-Use Program to 


gain matching funds for teacher education, multi-purpose rooms, gymnasiums, libraries, 


childcare, and other qualifying Joint-Use facilities.  With respect to such joint-use projects, the 


bond funds authorized by this Measure may be used to pay all of the local share needed to 


qualify the projects for special State matching funds under the State Facility Program’s Joint-


Use Program requirements. 


 


The Board of Education hereby certifies that it has evaluated the safety, class-size reduction, 


and information technology needs of the District in developing this list of school facilities 


projects. 


 
ACCOUNTABILITY MEASURES 


 


If the bonds are approved, the Board of Education will implement the following accountability 


measures in accordance with State law: 


 


 (a) Use the bond proceeds only for the purposes authorized under Article XIIIA of 


the California Constitution, including construction, reconstruction, 


rehabilitation, or replacement of school facilities, furnishing and equipping of 


school facilities, or the acquisition or lease of real property for school facilities 


and related uses, as specifically set forth in this Exhibit A, and costs incident 


thereto, and not for any other purpose, including salaries and other routine 


school operating expenses; 


 


(b) Conduct an annual, independent performance audit to ensure that the bond 


proceeds have been expended only on the projects and uses listed in this 


Exhibit A; 


 


(c) Conduct an annual, independent financial audit of the proceeds from the sale of 


the bonds until all of those proceeds have been expended for school facilities 


projects and uses listed in this Exhibit A; and 


 


(d) Establish and appoint members to an independent citizens’ oversight committee 


to ensure the bonds are used only for the projects and uses listed in this 


Exhibit A. 


 


STATE MATCHING FUNDS 


 


California Education Code section 15122.5 requires the following statement to be included in 


this sample ballot: 


 


“Approval of this bond measure does not guarantee that the proposed 


projects in the Santa Cruz City High School District that are the subject of 


bonds under this measure will be funded beyond the local revenues 


generated by this bond measure. The school district's proposal for certain 


of the projects assumes the receipt of matching state funds, which are 


377/383







 


SC363798 A-7 


subject to appropriation by the Legislature or approval of a statewide bond 


measure.” 


 


 


ANNUAL TAX AMOUNT, RATE, AND DURATION 


 


The bonds shall bear interest at an annual rate not exceeding the statutory maximum. The 


maturity of the bonds shall not exceed the maximum term allowed by law at the time of 


issuance (currently 25 years if issued under Education Code section 15140, or 40 years if issued 


under Government Code section 53508, so long as the bonds are not capital appreciation bonds 


(“CABs,” which CABs are limited to 25 years)).  Accordingly, as further set forth in the tax 


rate statement, the ad valorem tax will be levied at such rates and for so long as may be 


required to meet the debt service needs of the bonds proposed to be issued, including such 


bonds that may be issued to refund any approved bonds. 


 


 


              


378/383







 


SC073160 B-1 


EXHIBIT B 
 


BOND MEASURE 


for  


THE SANTA CRUZ CITY HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 


 


(Abbreviated Form)* 


        


 


 


 


 


 


 


“To repair/upgrade local middle and high school 


classrooms/facilities to support achievement in 


science, math, technology, arts, and skilled trades; 


build affordable teacher-staff rental housing; install 


solar/reduce environmental impacts; fix deteriorating 


roofs, plumbing and electrical; remove asbestos/lead; 


shall Santa Cruz City High School District’s measure 


authorizing $249 million in bonds at legal rates be 


adopted, levying an estimated 3¢ / $100 assessed value 


($12 million annually) while bonds are outstanding, 


with citizen oversight and all money staying local?” 


 


 


 


 


 


BONDS – YES 


 


 


 


 


 


BONDS – NO 


 


 
 


* Limited to 75 words pursuant to California Elections Code section 13247. 


 


379/383







 


SC363054 C-1 


EXHIBIT C 


FORMAL NOTICE OF SCHOOL BOND ELECTION 


 


NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN to the qualified electors of the Santa Cruz City High School 


District of Santa Cruz County, California, that in accordance with the provisions of the 


Education Code of the State of California, an election will be held on November 8, 2022, 


within the District, at which election the following measure shall be submitted to the qualified 


electors of the District and voted upon: 


 


“To repair/upgrade local middle and high school classrooms/facilities to support 


achievement in science, math, technology, arts, and skilled trades; build 


affordable teacher-staff rental housing; install solar/reduce environmental 


impacts; fix deteriorating roofs, plumbing and electrical; remove asbestos/lead; 


shall Santa Cruz City High School District’s measure authorizing $249 million 


in bonds at legal rates be adopted, levying an estimated 3¢ / $100 assessed value 


($12 million annually) while bonds are outstanding, with citizen oversight and 


all money staying local?” 


 


Bonds - Yes  Bonds– No” 


The bonds shall bear interest at an annual rate not exceeding the statutory maximum.  The 


maturity of the bonds shall not exceed the maximum term allowed by law at the time of 


issuance (currently 25 years if issued under Education Code section 15140, or 40 years if issued 


under Government Code section 53508, so long as the bonds are not capital appreciation bonds 


(“CABs,” which CABs are limited to 25 years)).  Accordingly, as further set forth in the tax 


rate statement, the ad valorem tax will be levied at such rates and for so long as may be 


required to meet the debt service needs of the bonds proposed to be issued, including such 


bonds that may be issued to refund any approved bonds. 


 


All of the purposes enumerated in the foregoing measure shall be united and voted upon as one 


single measure, with precincts, places of holding the elections and officers appointed to 


conduct the elections to be the same as those provided for the statewide gubernatorial general 


election to be held on November 8, 2022, under the Notice of Election published ________.   


 


This election has been called pursuant to a Resolution of the Board of Education of the Santa 


Cruz City High School District, adopted on June 22, 2022.  The Elections Official of the 


County of Santa Cruz hereby gives formal notice of the election in accordance with the 


provisions of Education Code section 15120. 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ____ day of ___________, 2022. 


 


             


Registrar of Voters 


Santa Cruz County, California 


380/383







AGENDA ITEM: 5.3.4.3. 


SANTA CRUZ CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 


 
AGENDA ITEM:  Resolution 44-21-22 Assembly Bill 361  
      
MEETING DATE:  June 22, 2022 
 
FROM:    Kris Munro, Superintendent 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the resolution in accordance with AB361, allowing the Board the option to implement 
remote meetings in the event it is necessary for health and safety. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Consistent with Government code section 54953, on September 22, 2021, Santa Cruz City 
Schools Board of Education took action to continue virtual meetings, finding that meeting in 
person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.  


At the June 22, 2022, meeting, the Board will discuss and consider adopting Resolution 44-21-
22, to make a finding after reconsidering the state of the pandemic, that the current 
circumstances meet the requirements of AB 361 and Government Code section 54953 for the 
Board to continue conducting meetings remotely. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
None 
 
This work is in direct support of the following District goals and their corresponding metrics: 
 
Goal #5:  SCCS will maintain a balanced budget and efficient and effective management. 
Goal #6: SCCS will maintain strong communication and partnership with its diverse community. 
 
 
 


 


381/383







SANTA CRUZ COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 


RESOLUTION NO. 44-21-22 AUTHORIZING USE OF REMOTE  


TELECONFERENCING PROVISIONS (AB 361) 


 


WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the Santa Cruz County Office of Education (“Board of 


Education”) is committed to open and transparent government, and full compliance with the 


Ralph M. Brown Act (“Brown Act”); and  


 


WHEREAS, the Brown Act generally requires that a public agency take certain actions in order 


to use teleconferencing to attend a public meeting virtually; and  


 


WHEREAS, the Board of Education recognizes that a local emergency persists due to the 


worldwide COVID-19 pandemic; and 


 


WHEREAS, the California Legislature has recognized the ongoing state of emergency due to 


the COVID-19 pandemic and has responded by creating an additional means for public meetings 


to be held via teleconference (inclusive of internet-based virtual meetings); and 


 


WHEREAS, on September 16, 2021, the California legislature passed Assembly Bill (“AB”) 


361, which amends Government Code, section 54953 and permits a local agency to use 


teleconferencing to conduct its meetings in any of the following circumstances: (A) the 


legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local 


officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; (B) the 


legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of 


determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would 


present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; or (C) the legislative body holds a 


meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant 


to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present 


imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; and 


 


WHEREAS, in order for the Board of Education to use teleconferencing as allowed by AB 361 


after October 1, 2021, it must first adopt findings in a resolution, allowing the Board of 


Education to conduct teleconferenced meetings for a period of thirty (30) says; and 


 


WHEREAS, Governor Gavin Newsom declared a state of emergency for the State of California 


due to the COVID-19 pandemic in his order entitled “Proclamation of a State of Emergency,” 


signed March 4, 2020; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Board of Education hereby finds that the state and local emergencies have 


caused and will continue to cause imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Board of Education is conducting its meetings through the use of telephonic 


and internet-based services so that members of the public may observe and participate in 


meetings and offer public comment.  


 


382/383







NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the recitals set forth above are true and correct 


and fully incorporated into this Resolution by reference.   


 


BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board of Education has determined that given the 


state of emergency, holding in-person meetings would present imminent risks to the health or 


safety of attendees.  


 


BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the actions taken by the Board of Education through this 


resolution apply to any and all District committees which are otherwise governed by the Brown 


Act.  


 


BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board of Education authorizes the County Superintendent 


of Schools or their designee(s) to take all actions necessary to conduct Board of Education 


meetings in accordance with Government Code section 54953(e) and all other applicable 


provisions of the Brown Act, using teleconferencing for a period of June 22, 2022 through July 


22, 2022, thirty (30) days from the adoption of this Resolution after which the Board of 


Education will reconsider the circumstances of the state of emergency. 


 


PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Santa Cruz County Board of Education on this 22nd day of 


June 2022, by the following vote: 


 


AYES          _____ 


 


NOES         _____ 


 


ABSENT     _____ 


 


ABSTAIN    _____    
 


 


____________________________ 


Signed, Board President 


383/383





		Agenda 06.22.22

		5.1.1.1. Nonpublic Agency-Balance Cover

		5.1.1.1. Balance Master Contract SY22-23

		5.1.1.2. Nonpublic Agency-Easter Seals Cover

		5.1.1.2. Easter Seals Master Contract SY22-23

		5.1.1.3. Nonpublic Agency-ABRITE Cover

		5.1.1.3. ABRITE Master Contract SY22-23

		5.1.1.5. Nonpublic Agency-Speechrighter Cover

		SpeechRighter Master Contract SY22-23

		5.1.1.5. Nonpublic School-Brite Horizons Cover

		5.1.1.5. Brite Horizons Master contract SY22-23

		5.1.1.6. Nonpublic School-Chartwell Cover (1)

		5.1.1.6 SCCS 2022-2023 Master Contract - CHARTWELL

		5.1.1.7. Nonpublic School-Solstice Cover

		5.1.1.7. SCCS 2022-2023 Master Contract - SOLSTICE

		5.1.1.8. Agreement for Professional Services-Margaret Barker Cover

		5.1.1.8. Barker PSA SY22_23

		5.1.1.9. Agreement for Professional Services-Maria Ballard Cover

		5.1.1.9 Ballard PSA SY22_23

		5.1.1.10. Catapult EMS - June 20, 2022 Board Cover

		5.1.1.10. CatapultEMS Contract

		5.1.2.1. COOPERATIVE NASPO CONTRACT MAILROOM EQUIPMENT 062222 Cover

		5.1.2.1. Executive_Summary_Award_Recommendation_for_Mailing_Equipment

		5.1.2.1_Mailroom Equipment-Pitney-AZ-2017-2022-PA-Executed-Amend-3 (1)

		Staff Report_ Facilities Master Plan Update

		5.3.4.1. Res. 42-21-22 Elementary Bond Measure Election

		5.3.4.1. ESD Bond Measure

		5.3.4.2. Res. 43-21-22 Secondary Bond Measure Election

		5.3.4.2. HSD Bond Measure

		5.3.4.3. Resolution 44-21-22 Cover AB 361

		5.3.4.3. Resolution 44-21-22 AB 361




